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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

Revenue WA

Gross profit E7

(Loss)/profit before BRETEE A (B18),/
income tax alped

(Loss)/profit for the year & (E18) /I8

(Loss)/profit attributable A2 R RELFE
to shareholders of the (E#8),/FH
Company for the year

Assets BE

Non-current assets ERBEE

Current assets MEBEE

Total assets BEE

Liabilities =N

Non-current liabilities EnEBERE

Current liabilities mEBaE

Total liabilities BEE

Equity E#

Total equity B

Equity attributable to AREIRER G 2
shareholders of the
Company

Total equity and BxkEBEHE

liabilities

2023 EHE FAEKARERAA

Unit: RMB’000 B ARETIT
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2022 2021 2020 2019
“E--F —“EZ-—-% —Z-"ZF —T-NF
3,000,292 BN KXY 2,346,543 1,898,109 1,428,854
JCRrRES 2347755 1,765,535 1,377,808 997,935
(247,211) 127,190 237,631 134,423 93,600
(265,786) 110,694 200,509 113,961 81,109
(265,786) 110,694 200,509 113,961 81,109
Unit: RMB’000 BN ARETFIT
As at 31 December
M12831H
2022 2021 2020 2019
“E--F —“Z--F —Z°FF —T-NF
54,336 107,205 64,865 43,176 48,220
SRl 1,253,503 954,810 599,336 426,675
CCREOGEY 1,360,708 1,019,675 642,512 474,895
10,376 43,662 25,635 8,381 13,374
399,292 529,725 621,064 461,664 396,765
409,668 573,387 646,699 470,045 410,139
483,738 787,321 372,976 172,467 64,756
483,738 787,321 372,976 172,467 64,756
SeREOGEY 1,360,708 1,019,675 642,512 474,895
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

Hello everyone!

First of all, on behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to
express my most sincere thanks and greetings to all
shareholders. Thank you for your continued trust and
support in Zibuyu. It is your companionship and
encouragement that allow us to forge ahead through
adversities and continue to achieve new accomplishments.

OUR MISSION AND VISION

It is a great honor and great responsibility for me to be here
today. Because we jointly shoulder a great mission — to
build Zibuyu into an internationally renowned fashion
apparel and footwear product operator, providing the
highest quality products and services to consumers around
the world in a timely and convenient manner. This is what we
have always insisted on and is also the goal we continue to
pursue.

CHALLENGES AND CHANGES IN 2023

Looking back on 2023, we have faced unprecedented
challenges and changes. As the global economy
transitioned into a phase of normalized development,
inflationary pressures persisted, disrupting the balance
between demand and supply. Coupled with a fragile
recovery in consumer spending in the overseas market, the
sales performance of our apparel and footwear segments
was under pressure. As for operation, we undertook
substantial inventory clearance of slow-moving stock with
long-shelf life, resulting in an increase in the provision for
write-down of inventories. While optimizing inventory
structure and improving operational efficiency, these
measures also impacted the Company’s results
performance for the year to a certain extent. However, it is in
this difficult situation that we show resilience and
determination.
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In 2023, we further expanded our talent structure by
continuously introducing middle and high-level management
personnel and information technology staff, promoting an
orderly replacement of the old management levels with the
new ones. We also transformed the organizational structure,
creating a more innovative organizational system and laying
a solid foundation for the orderly succession within the
organization.

In 2023, we restructured our supply chain, refined our
supply chain business processes, created a faster feedback
mechanism, and utilized intelligent algorithm systems to
improve inventory turnover efficiency. Through fostering
collaborative efforts among various stakeholders within the
supply chain, we significantly bolstered our capabilities in
product development and innovation.

Looking back to 2023, it was a year filled with nhumerous
obstacles. However, it was rewarding that through the
leadership of the Board of Directors, the analytical and
strategic decision-making of our management team and the
unified dedication of our entire staff, we navigated through the
myriad of challenges from both internal and external
environments. We embarked on a journey of transformation
and secured an annual revenue of RMB3,000.3 million, which
basically remained stable as compared with the previous
year. We have maintained stable revenue, optimized the
inventory structure, significantly reduced the proportion of
inventory, and made cash flow more stable, which has laid a
solid foundation for our future growth.
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2024 OUTLOOK

Having encountered the formidable challenges and reforms
of 2023, we believe that 2024 will mark our phoenix-like
resurgence, equipping us to embark on a fresh start and
initiate a new cycle of growth.

To this end, we have specifically formulated the following
core objectives for 2024:

—  Will continue to refine our brand globalization strategy,
integrate the Group’s brands and establish a brand
matrix, striving to create more differentiated and
recognizable global brands;

—  Will remain dedicated to expanding our talent base,
with a particular focus on attracting international talent.
By capitalizing on our extensive experience in
developing and innovating within China’s supply chain,
we plan to deploy a global supply chain system. This
approach aims to minimize costs and mitigate risks
associated with supply chain volatility risk, thereby
enhancing our operational efficiency.

—  Will continue our digital transformation and upgrade,
increase our research and development investment,
and further promote system optimization and iterative
upgrades to enhance the digital management
capabilities of the Company;

—  Will make continuous efforts to expand a diversified
sales channel system, including intensifying expansion
efforts in non-Amazon channels, offline channels, and
regions such as Europe and Asia.
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CONCLUSION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere
gratitude to our Shareholders, customers and business
partners for their trust and support. It is your trust and
support that allow us to persevere in the face of adversity
and achieve today’s results. | would also like to express my
sincere thanks to our management team and all of our staff
for their continuous and outstanding contribution to Zibuyu
Group.

Zibuyu is set to weather through the tough times, with a
future full of potential.

Hua Bingru
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

R R E SR

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group endeavors to become an internationally
renowned fashion apparel and footwear product operator,
providing the highest quality products and services to
consumers around the world in a timely and convenient
manner.

Our Group’s major business performance in 2023 is as
follows:

In 2023, our total revenue was approximately RMB3,000.3
million, which basically remained stable as compared to our
revenue in 2022.

In 2023, we further expanded and optimised our sales
channels, thereby broadening our market coverage. We
proactively enriched our presence on various emerging
e-commerce platforms, enabling us to effectively extend our
sales network and reach a diverse customer base. These
strategies have emerged as a new driving force for
sustained revenue growth.

In 2023, we completed a strategic review and optimization
of our key products, focusing our resources on hot-selling
items. We cleared out slower-moving inventory, optimized
our inventory structure, and accelerated the turnover rate of
our stock. This significantly enhanced our operation and
management of goods.

In 2023, we continued to increase our investment in digital
research and development, achieving new progress.
Through digitalization, we reshaped front-end consumer
trend insights, Al-assisted product design, intelligent
advertising, and product management, as well as back-end
supply chain collaboration management. This enabled
refined management and intelligent operations across all
business channels, greatly improving our operational
efficiency.

In 2023, we also increased our investment in branding to
build up our core brands. The sales income of our top ten
brands grew by over 15% year-on-year, and we have
developed multiple brands with annual sales income
exceeding RMB100 million. In addition, we continuously
enriched our product categories and built a diverse brand
matrix, laying a solid foundation for the sustainable growth
of the Group. Some of our best-selling brands are as
follows:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNWEDH

Hot-selling brand & 3 & k&
Cicy Bell

Product category E R EH
Women’s apparel %2 %

Sales platform $§&F &
Amazon o5 55 i

2\

Hot-selling brand /& 7 k& 4N

Fisoew

Product category E R EH
Women’s apparel 223

PR

Sales platform $HE&¥ &
Amazon Iz 55 iff

Hot-selling brand /& X & h&
Runcati

Product category E mEH

Men’s apparel 5 2

Sales platform 8§ & ¥ &
Amazon 5o 5%




Hot-selling brand & 3 & h#
Coutgo

Product category &= @ E &
Footwear &

Sales platform & ¥ &
Amazon 7 55 i

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue
was approximately RMB3,000.3 million. Gross profit was
approximately RMB1,955.3 million, representing a year-on-
year decrease of approximately 16.7%. Loss and total
comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the
shareholders of the Company was approximately RMB265.8
million, compared with approximately RMB110.7 million of
profit and total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to the shareholders of the Company in 2022.
Basic and diluted loss per share of the loss attributable to
the shareholders of the Company was approximately
RMBO0.53 (2022: RMBO0.24 of earnings).

Bt %5 [0 B8
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The loss for the year was mainly due to the impact of
inventory provision. During the Reporting Period, the Group
further implemented the brand building model to enhance
operational efficiency and optimize inventory structure.
During the year, the Company streamlined its strategy and
product, focused its resources on hot-selling products to
improve inventory turnover, and disposed certain inventories
with slow turnover, resulting in an increase in the provision
for write-down of inventories. Provision for write-down of
inventories during the reporting period amounted to
approximately RMB387.8 million, representing an increase
of RMB333.0 million as compared with the provision of
RMB54.8 million of the same period last year. From a long-
term perspective, focusing resources on hot-selling
products is conducive to brand building, enhancing core
competitiveness and promoting sustained sales growth,
thus the impact of the disposal of inventory was temporary
for the Company’s results performance. Moveover, the
increase in employee expenses also affected our
performance during the reporting period. Total staff cost for
the reporting period increased by RMB47.7 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 28.4%. The increase
was primarily due to the expansion in talent structure, the
introduction of middle and senior management and
information technology personnel and the enlargement of
talent reserve for the future development of the Group based
on the needs of its strageic developoment.

Although the results performance for the year was a net
loss, in terms of cash flow, despite a net loss of RMB265.8
million for the year, the Group’s cash flow from operating
activities remained favorable with a net inflow of RMB76.7
million, which is indicative of the healthy operating condition
of the Group’s business for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERE W R D

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue of the
Group amounted to approximately RMB3,000.3 million,
which remained basically stable when compared with
approximately RMB3,066.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Revenue by Sales Channel

The following table sets forth our revenue breakdown by
sales channel for the years indicated:

WA

HZE2023F12A31BILFE  AEER
WA A ARES,0003FE T BEE
2022F 12 A1 B IEFEMBRAHARKE
3,066.38 &AL - EXNRFEE ©

REEERBETHWERA

TREINRATREERHERES DN
Y A BRAR

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31HLFE

— Through third-party e-commerce

platforms Fa
— Through self-operated online stores — BB M
— Others — HAh

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of the
Group from third-party e-commerce platforms was
approximately RMB2,921.4 million, which remained basically
stable when compared with approximately RMB2,939.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

—BBRE=FEH

2023 2022
—EBEC-=F g
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE®T R ARBFT
2,921,398 2,939,005
37,435 116,156
41,459 11,170

3,000,292 3,066,331

REBENEZE2023F12A31B I FER
BEZFERAFENRAOBARKE
2,921.48&7T - BE#EE2022F12 A31H
IFFENHARYE2939.08 & THRAE
KIEE - RIEFET -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue by Geographical Location

The following table sets forth our revenue breakdown by
geographical location for the years indicated:

EEENWE DN

RMELEE D HERA

TREJINFARFERIIEMAE S D H
Y A BRAR

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

— North America — JEEM
— Asia — M
— Europe — BUM
— Others — HAfb

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of the
Group from North America was approximately RMB2,799.8
million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB149.5
million, or approximately 5.1%, when compared with
approximately RMB2,949.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. The decrease was primarily due to the
decrease in self-operated online stores of the Group in North
America of operation scale. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the revenue from Asia was approximately
RMB106.5 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB92.6 million or approximately 664.0%
when compared with approximately RMB13.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The increase in sales
revenue in Asia was mainly because the Group enhanced its
efforts in the marketing of whole consignment services in
response to the growth of the whole consignment business
model adopted by certain Asian based e-commerce
platforms.

2023 2022
—E=-= g
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFTT
2,799,813 2,949,292
106,503 13,941
64,046 91,331
29,930 11,767

3,000,292

3,066,331

REBNEZE2023F12A31BILFERE
IEEZEMBBALD B AREE2,799.88 &
TT o BEE2022F12 A31 B IEFE AL
FEMEOBRAL AR 294937 E TR
THARBE1495F B T BRI L
51% ' ZR AP EZHRAE B LI EM
BB EEKEERENRD o &
Z£2023F 12 A31H L FEETMAWA
HEAR®E106.58 & 7T @+ BE E£20224F
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DT

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales of the Group primarily consists of (i) cost of
inventories sold; (ii) provision for inventories; and (iii) freight
and insurance cost. The cost of sales of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
RMB1,045.0 million,
approximately RMB326.4 million, or a year-on-year increase
of approximately 45.4%, from approximately RMB718.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, which was
mainly due to the increase in provision for inventories by
RMB333.0 million over last year, as the Group streamlined
its strategic and competitive products, and disposed certain
loss-making products and inventories with slow turnover
during the Reporting Period, resulting in a significant
increase in the cost of sales for the year.

representing an increase of

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB1,955.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB392.5 million
compared with approximately RMB2,347.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022. Gross profit margin of the
Group was approximately 65.2% for the year ended 31
December 2023, with a decrease of 11.4% when compared
with approximately 76.6% for the year ended 31 December
2022. During the Reporting Period, the Group streamlined its
strategic and competitive products, focusing resources on
best-selling products and inventories with high turnover,
while disposing certain inventories with slow turnover,
resulting in an increase in the cost of sales and a decrease in
gross profit. Excluding the impact of inventory clearance, the
gross profit margin remained at a similar level and was
essentially stable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNWED

Other Income Haw A

Other income of the Group mainly includes interest income, AEBREMU A ETEBFEFR S A -
government grants and others. BT A B M B o

The following table sets forth a breakdown of other income T~ 2 & 71| X B /R &F /& E h Ug A BB 41 -
for the years indicated:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HALEE
2023 2022
—E-= - —
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETF T

Interest income F B YA 1,080
Government grants (a) AT B (a) 11,463
Others H 615

13,158

(@ Government grants provided to the Group mainly related to  (a) 7%= EEIR BT BHE B3 R AL

financial subsidies received from the local governments in the B 4 75 B U2 O B SRR B o SZ S BD
PRC. There are no unfulfilled conditions or other A R B Bk B F I8 o

contingencies relating to these grants.

Other income of the Group decreased by approximately N B &) E b Uk A & £20224 12 A 31
RMB5.0 million to approximately RMB8.2 million for the year H IFFE M ARE132HE TH D 4
ended 31 December 2023 from approximately RMB13.2 A R#5.08 & L £ & £2023412 A 31
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease H IFFEMH ARES2HE T ° :Zm
was primarily due to the combined effects of the decrease in & 22 F 7 BUT # B) 18 B R 2 & Fl| B Ik
government grants and the increase in interest income. MNIEMELEEFTE -




Other Gains, Net

Other gains, net of the Group mainly includes foreign

exchange gains, net.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of other gains,

net for the years indicated:

HREFE

SRR

AEBENEMBANSFEIEDREER W

TEESIR AR E R EA AN S F R -

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
—E—-= —E-=

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR®ETF T

Net foreign exchange gains BE U F 58 11,175 13,512
Net gains/(losses) on disposal of right- H&EFREEEM K

of-use assets (B18) F8 130 1)
Net losses on disposal of property, HEYE - BE REED

plant and equipment & 1855 (565) @7)

Others Hit (994) 22

9,746 13,486

We recorded other gains of approximately RMB9.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023, compared with the
other gains of approximately RMB13.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, primarily due to the decrease in
net foreign exchange gains and the increase in donations.

HZE2023F12 A31 B I FE B EMF
BHOBARBITEE L - MBEZE2022F
12A31HIEFERISESEMFELN A A
R¥135887L 22T EEHNIERL
W F R TP R IBRG  3n o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling Expenses and Distribution Costs

Selling expenses and distribution costs of the Group
primarily consist of (i) freight and insurance cost; (ii)
commission to e-commerce platforms; (iii) marketing and
advertising expenses; (iv) other platform charges; and (v)
employee benefits and others.

Selling expenses and distribution costs of the Group
decreased by approximately 1.6% to approximately
RMB2,052.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
from approximately RMB2,085.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2022. Such decrease was mainly due to (1) the
decrease in marketing expenses; and (2) the decrease in
freight and insurance costs.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses of the Group primarily
consist of (i) employee benefits; (ii) asset depreciation and
amortization; (iii) legal and professional fees; (iv) office
expenses; and (v) IT server expenses and others. General
and administrative expenses of the Group increased by
approximately RMB15.6 million to approximately RMB157.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from
approximately RMB142.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. Such increase was mainly due to (1) the
increase in employee benefits and labour outsourcing fees;
(2) the increase in asset depreciation and amortization;
(3) the increase in IT server expenses; and (4) the increase in
office and other administrative expenses in response to the
needs of corporate development of the Company.

EEENWRDN

SHERX R D #HMAR

AEBENHEERIEDEKAETERRE
(V& B RRBEA : ()VEEFAMEE (i)
EBHEMNEERY  (WEMFEE: UK
WEERNERHEMSE -

AEEMNHEERAI R HEKEABEE
2022F 12 AB1HIEFEMNH AR
2,085.98 & TR 2 £91.6% = & £2023
F12A31BEFENDHARK2,052.38
BT -ZRPEBEHRR)TSHEESE
FAHREE: k@) EERRBRKARRD o

— R R ATHEB X

REBN—RERITBHAZEIZEBE()EES
BAE (VEETELBEE (ipEEK
BEBR (WVHARSI 0 &) ITRERE
BRAREME - NEE® K RITEH
Y HEE2022F12A31BIEFEMLHA
R¥142188TEMTHARK1568
BILE2023F 12 A31BIEFEMNHAR
A7 7B BT c ZIENEZELAR(1)E
BREMNEREEINEEBIGI : QBEEN
EHBEE AL QITRERE AL
m: R@OEAREEMMABEN DA KRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERE W R D

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group mainly consist of (i) interest
expenses on bank borrowings; (ii) interest expenses for
lease liabilities; (iii) net foreign exchange losses on bank
borrowings; and (iv) others.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of finance costs
for the years indicated:

5 3% B AN
AN 10 B 5 R £ B B () RATIE 3R

MERXZ  (EEEEFEFAXE : (i)
RITERERERFE Riv)HEE -

TR AR R R B RARBRA -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE

2023
—— =

—_

RMB’000
ARET R

2022
N

— =

RMB’000
ARBEFT

RITEFOFEHX
MEBBEMHNERHX

Interest expenses on bank borrowings
Interest expenses for lease liabilities
Net foreign exchange losses on bank

borrowings
Others H
Finance costs B 75 R AN

For the year ended 31 December 2023, our finance costs
amounted to approximately RMB9.5 million, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB6.4 million when compared
with approximately RMB15.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2022, which was mainly due to the decrease in
interest expenses on bank borrowings.

RITIE R 2 [ 5 B 1R F R

11,135
3,011

1,522
203

15,871

HZE2023F12 A31 B L FE MR AR
HBAREISEET  EZE2022412
A3MBLEFEMNTBAAOARKE15.9
AELRIOARB6AEE L T2/
RBITERFERA IR -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Loss Before Income Tax

Loss before income tax of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB247.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 as compared with the profit before income
tax of approximately RMB127.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, primarily due to the loss before tax
resulting from the increase in the provision for inventories,
as the Group streamlined its strategic and competitive
products and disposed certain inventories with slow
turnover during the Reporting Period.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses of the Group consist of (i) current
income tax; and (ii) deferred income tax.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our income tax
expenses for the years indicated:

EEENWRDN

BRATE R A E R

NEBEEF E2023F12 A31 H IEFE AR
FIEMABIENAARK247258 T -
ma =2022%12 A31 8 I- FEHNKRFTE
RATREBINABARKEI127T2HE T - £
DEHRRRE M KEE TR B
MEDELOME SO FAERIEN
GFEETEE HmMBRGTERESE
ROIE AN - EAETATEE

FrEBiBx

AEBRFASHAX - TEBHRE0)AHM
B8 R(i)EEFSH -

TREIINFAREERPITEH
R AN

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE

Current income tax BIHAFR 1574
Deferred income tax EIEFTSR
Income tax expense FrEBiA X

Our income tax expense increased by approximately 12.7%
to approximately RMB18.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 from approximately RMB16.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022, primarily due to the reversal
of deferred income tax assets recognized in previous years
during the Reporting Period.

2023 2022
—=E-= —_E_—

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AREFIT
19,541

(3,045)

16,496

Fri8fi X ME £ 2022F12 A31H IFF
EMHARE16.5BBITIEMA12.7% =
BHZE2023F 12 A31H L FEMHARE
18.6 B &L * T EEHMNME AR AR
FEBRANELCHBREERNFD -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENMRDMN

Loss for the Year

As a result of the aforesaid, the Group recorded loss and
total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company of approximately RMB265.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, compared
with profit and total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to the shareholders of the Company of
approximately RMB110.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Inventory

The inventory balance at the end of 2023 significantly
decreased by RMB355.3 million as compared with the end
of 2022. The decrease was mainly due to the large-scale
disposal of inventories for 2023. In 2023, the Company
transitioned towards brand operation with an aim to improve
operational efficiency and optimize inventory structure. It
carried out refined inventory management, focusing on the
clearance of slower-moving stocks in order to enhance
inventory turnover and operational efficiency. In the future,
the Group will place greater emphasis on inventory
management and concentrate its resources on best-selling
products. It is expected that its inventory turnover will
improve in subsequent years.

Capital Expenditures

The capital expenditures of the Group primarily consist of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, capital expenditures of the
Group amounted to approximately RMB6.4 million (2022:
approximately RMB12.6 million), which was primarily due to
the increase in establishment and use of office equipment
and supply chain and warehouse equipment. The Group
funded its capital expenditures through the cash generated
from operations and the net proceeds from the Global
Offering.

Save as disclosed above, we did not have any significant
capital commitment as of 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Contingent Liabilities, Guarantees and
Litigations

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
significant unrecorded contingent liabilities, guarantees or
material litigations.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Our business operations and expansion plans require a
significant amount of capital, including cash and cash
equivalents as well as other working capital requirements.
Historically, we financed our capital expenditure and
working capital requirements mainly through cash generated
from operations, bank borrowings and net proceeds from
the Global Offering.

As of 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group
had cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB277.5
million and RMB294.5 million, respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, our Group’s indebtedness mainly
comprised borrowings and lease liabilities of approximately
RMB162.0 million and RMB31.4 million, respectively. Our
borrowings and lease liabilities were mainly denominated in
RMB. The Group’s borrowings bore interests both at
variable rates and fixed rates, and therefore exposing our
Group to both cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group did not use interest rate swap arrangement to
mitigate its exposure associated with fluctuations relating to
interest cash flows. However, our Group will closely monitor
the trend of interest rates and its impact on the Group’s
interest rate risk exposure to ensure it is within an
acceptable level. The Group will consider hedging interest
rate risk should the need arise.

To manage the liquidity risk, we will monitor and maintain a
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed appropriate by
the management to finance our operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

BEEENWR DT
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Gearing Ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio (total liabilities divided by total
assets and multiplied by 100%) increased to approximately
45.9% as of 31 December 2023 from approximately 42.1%
as of 31 December 2022, primarily due to the loss during the
year resulting from inventory clearance, which led to the
decrease in assets and equity simultaneously.

Significant Investments Held, Acquisitions and
Disposals

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no
significant investments held nor other material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries and associates.

Future Plans for Material Acquisition and Major
Investment

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus and in this annual
report, the Group did not have any other plans related to
major investment or acquisition of material capital assets.

Pledge of Assets

The Group does not have any pledged assets as at 31
December 2023.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures. The
Group incur most of the inventory purchase in respect of
their functional currencies. Foreign exchange risk arises
from various currency exposures primarily through proceeds
received from customers and shareholders, and payments
to the suppliers that are denominated in a currency other
than the Group’s functional currency. The currencies giving
rise to this risk are primarily USD and HKD.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not
experience any significant difficulties in or impacts on its
operations or liquidity due to fluctuations in currency
exchange rates. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the management of the
Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Transactions in Sanctioned Countries or with
Sanctioned Persons

During the Reporting Period, proper internal control and risk
management measures relating to sanction laws, as
disclosed in the Prospectus, had been implemented and the
Group did not have any transactions or activities in
comprehensively sanctioned countries or with sanctioned
persons.

Employees, Staff Cost and Remuneration Policy

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had 1,063 full-time
employees in total (31 December 2022: 1,233 full-time
employees in total), mainly based in the mainland China. For
the year ended 31 December 2023, total staff cost incurred
by the Group was approximately RMB215.5 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of RMB47.7 million, or
approximately 28.4%, when compared with approximately
RMB167.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Such increase was mainly because the Group further
expanded its talent reserves and introduced more mid-to-
high level management personnel and IT technicians during
the Reporting Period in response to its strategic
development needs.
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Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and
motivate qualified personnel. We use various methods for
our recruitment, including campus recruitment, internal and
external recommendation and recruiting through
headhunting firms or agents, to satisfy our demands for
different types of talents, and we adopt high standards and
stringent procedures in our recruitment to ensure the quality
of new hiring. Our employees typically enter into standard
labor contracts with us.

We provide competitive compensation packages.
Remuneration packages for our employees mainly comprise
basic salary and performance-based bonus. We set
performance targets for our employees primarily based on
their position and department and periodically review their
performance. The results of such reviews are used for their
salary determinations, bonus awards and promotion
appraisals. To maintain and enhance the knowledge and skill
levels of our workforce, we provide our employees with
internal training, including orientation programs for new
employees, technical training for existing employees and
management training for middle to senior management. We
also offer external training opportunities to our management
team and other staff.

In order to incentivize employees, the Group has also
adopted the Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) and the
Share Award Scheme (New Shares) on 15 September 2023
and 1 December 2023, respectively. Please refer to the
“Directors’ Report” section of this annual report for details.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

In 2023, economies around the world have yet to recover in
the post-pandemic era. As such, we anticipate that the 2024
fiscal year will continue to be filled with both challenges and
opportunities for the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In response to these challenges, we will leverage our core
strengths to establish Zibuyu as an internationally renowned
operator of fashionable apparel and footwear products,
providing apparel and footwear products of the highest
quality to consumers around the world on a timely and
seamless basis. To this end, the Board of Directors and the
management of the Group have carefully considered and
assessed the situation and formulated the following
strategies to address future challenges:

()  Continue to expand more sales channels, including
non-Amazon channels, offline channels, and regions
such as Europe and Asig;

() Continue to increase brand investment to create a
global brand and enhance the Company’s brand
competitiveness;

() Continue to invest in the supply chain and overseas
layout to enhance our product innovation capabilities
and operational efficiency;

(IV) Continue to increase investment in digital infrastructure
to improve the digital management capabilities of the
Company; and

(V) Further enrich the management talent structure in
various segments of the Group to improve the overall
management level of the Company.

The horizon of the future unfolds now, with 2024 brimming
with potential. Despite facing challenges, we remain
confident in the recovery and development of the global
economy. Our objectives for the 2024 fiscal year are to
realize enhancements in our performance, pursue growth,
uphold our commitment to excellence and deliver value to
our shareholders.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hua Bingru (Z£ A #1), aged 36, is the founder of the
Group, an executive Director, the chairman of the Board and
the co-chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Hua was
appointed as a Director of the Company on 6 August 2018
and was re-designated as our executive Director on 18 June
2021. He is primarily responsible for formulating the overall
corporate and business strategies and overseeing the
management and operation of the Group.

With over ten years of industry experience, Mr. Hua gained
in-depth understanding of the industry where the Group
operates and acquired rich management experience by
managing the Group and developing our business. Mr. Hua
registered an online store on Taobao in September 2008 and
started e-commerce business when he studied in the
university. He founded the Group in April 2011 and has been
the chairman of the board and the general manager of
Zhejiang Zibuyu since then, dedicating substantially all his
time in the daily operation and management of the Group.
He has also held positions in several subsidiaries of the
Company, including a director of Zibuyu HK since
September 2016, a director and the general manager of
Hangzhou Chengyusi and Hangzhou Junbugi from May
2018 to February 2019 and from August 2018 to February
2019, respectively, and a director and the general manager
of Hangzhou Shangzhi since November 2018. In addition, he
was elected as a committee member of the First Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Linping
District, Hangzhou (f A RBUAH B &% 5 — BN TER
FRZEEEZE)in June 2021.

He was awarded the Top 10 Pioneer Youth in Hangzhou in
2019 R019F MM + KT FEE AY) by the Hangzhou
Enterprise Brand Development Promotion Association (1)1
¥ REEZEREMRES) in 2019 and received the nomination of
the Ten Outstanding Entrepreneur in Hangzhou (1 A4 i #71
41538 A2 4) granted by the Hangzhou Municipal People’s
Government (L A RIEXT), Department of Commerce of
Zhejiang Province (#)1 & & 7% E2) and Zhejiang Daily Press
Group (#1)T B ¥} 3k % % E). Mr. Hua graduated with a
bachelor’s degree in electronic science and technology from

Chaohu University (58 2Fx) in July 2011.
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Mr. Wang Weiping (/T & ), aged 36, is an executive
Director and a vice president of the Company. Mr. Wang
was appointed as a Director of the Company on 3 January
2019 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 18
June 2021. He is primarily responsible for overseeing the
administrative management of the Group.

Mr. Wang has been with the Group for more than ten years,
during which time he has gained the industry knowledge and
experience to effectively manage the business of the Group.
He joined the Group in April 2013 and has been a vice
president and a director of Zhejiang Zibuyu since April 2013
and February 2018, respectively, and has been appointed as
the director and manager of Dongguan Zibuyu since 12 July
2023, the director and manager of Hangzhou Zibuyu since
14 July 2023, the director and manager of Guangzhou
Zibuyu since 18 July 2023 and the director and manager of
Huzhou Zibuyu since 26 July 2023. He has successively
supervised the supply chain management and administrative
management of the Group.

Mr. Wang graduated with a college degree in marketing and
planning from Anhui Wenda University of Information
Engineering (% ® X E 15 B T2 2 Fx) (formerly known as
Anhui Wenda Vocational College of Information Technology
(ZRSCEE BRI 26) in July 2009.

Mr. Dong Zhenguo (ZE #k &), aged 35, is an executive
Director and a vice president of the Company. Mr. Dong was
appointed as a Director of the Company on 7 June 2021 and
was re-designated as our executive Director on 18 June
2021. He is primarily responsible for overseeing the
management of self-operated online stores business of the
Group.
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Mr. Dong has more than ten years of experience in sales and
marketing and business management. Mr. Dong joined
Zhejiang Zibuyu in June 2013 and served as its sales
director until December 2018. He subsequently held
positions in certain subsidiaries of the Company, including
the general manager and a director of Hangzhou Xingzezhi
since November 2018 and May 2022, a director of Zhejiang
Zibuyu since May 2021, a director and the general manager
of Guangzhou Xingzezhi since July 2021, a director and the
general manager of Hangzhou Xingzezhi E-Commerce since
March 2022, a director and the general manager of
Hangzhou Junbugi and Hangzhou Chengyusi since June
2022, a director and the general manager of Shenzhen
Zibuyu since August 2022, and a director and the general
manager of Xiamen Zibuyu since September 2022,
respectively, primarily in charge of the self-operated online
stores business.

Mr. Dong graduated with a bachelor’s degree in bioscience
from Anhui University (2K 2) in July 2010 and graduated
with a master’s degree in phytology from the Institute of
Botany, Jiangsu Province and Chinese Academy of
Sciences (JL#& & F1 Bl B 2 e 8 ¥ # FT Fr) in July 2013.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Hua Hui (¥ £), aged 35, who was formerly known as
Hua Xiaohui (Z /) ) and is the sister of Mr. Hua, was
appointed as our non-executive Director on 7 June 2021.
She is primarily responsible for making recommendations on
the business development and management of the Group.

Ms. Hua has approximately eight years of working
experience in the Group. She served as the sales director of
Zhejiang Zibuyu from October 2013 to May 2020, primarily
in charge of the operation of online stores on third-party
platforms, including design and after-sales services. Ms.
Hua graduated with a bachelor’s degree in physics from
Anhui Normal University (% &1 &l &3 K 2) in July 2013.
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Ms. Hua was appointed as our Director with a view to
promoting the gender diversity at our Board level given its
composition of all-male Directors before the appointment of
Ms. Hua. Moreover, Ms. Hua is one of our Shareholders and
has worked in the Group for eight years. In her capacity as a
Shareholder and with her knowledge and experience about
our business operations and corporate governance, we
considered Ms. Hua as a suitable person to act as our non-
executive Director making recommendations on the
business development and management of the Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Kefei (71 7] /&), aged 45, who was formerly known as
Yu Kefei (81 % /¥) was effectively appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on the Listing Date. He
is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent opinion and judgement to the Group.

Mr. Yu has more than 20 years of working experience in
accounting and business management and accumulated
rich knowledge in financial management and risk control. He
served as the financial manager or financial director of
several private or listed companies, including the financial
director of Zhejiang Ming Jewelry Co., Ltd. (4771 FA k2 3k B8 %
DB BR A7) (stock code: 002574.S2) since March 2017, the
financial director of Zhuji Shangfeng Mining Co., Ltd. (&%
FIETE 2 AR A A]) from February 2016 to March 2017, the
financial director of Hangzhou Haide Garment Co., Ltd. (7
M| 51 AR £ 5 [R 2 7)) from February 2007 to January 2016
and the financial manager of Zhejiang Shangfeng Packaging
Co., Ltd. (4 /I I 1& 8% B R 2 &) from March 2004 to
February 2007.
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Mr. Yu obtained the certificate of secretary to the board
issued by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in December 2019.
He graduated from Shaoxing Secondary Technical School
(MR ELTTH AP ZE FH ZEEK) in July 1997 majoring in financial
accounting, and is currently studying by correspondence in
Class 2022 of Wenzhou University, majoring in
administrative management. Mr. Yu was admitted as the
intermediate accountant by the Ministry of Finance of the
PRC in May 2004. In addition, Mr. Yu passed the Certified
Public Accountants Examination of the PRC in December
2015 and was admitted as a non-practicing member by the
Zhejiang Institute of Certified Public Accountants in January
2018.

Mr. Shen Tianfeng (JL H £), aged 58, was effectively
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on the
Listing Date. He is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent opinion and judgement to the Group.

Mr. Shen has over 30 years of experience in legal practice.
He has been the managing partner of Grandall Law Firm
(Hangzhou) (B % &M (471N) F 7% F) from January 2001 to
April 2019. In addition, Mr. Shen has accumulated rich
experience in corporate management and governance by
acting as the independent director of several listed
companies, including Hangzhou Weiguang Electronic Co.,
Ltd. (F7n )M 5 Y % F 19 B FR A 7)) (stock code: 002801.S2)
from November 2012 to November 2018, Hangzhou Boiler
Group Co., Ltd. (71 5 /% & B I 5 B R A 7)) (stock code:
002534.SZ, now known as Xizi Clean Energy Equipment
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.) from October 2013 to January
2019, Shanghai Fullhan Microelectronics Co., Ltd. (_E/8 = #
TE FR% 1) ABR A 7)) (stock code: 300613.SZ) from January
2015 to January 2021 and Zheshang Securities Co., Ltd. (4T
5 A B D B BR A 7)) (stock code: 601878.SH) from January
2019 to September 2022. Mr. Shen has served as a part-
time external director of Zhejiang University Holding Group
Co., Ltd. (41T K2 =ik & B A R A 7]) since August 2022
and the president of the Lawyers Association of Zhejiang
since June 2023.
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Mr. Shen graduated with a bachelor’s degree of law from
Southwest University of Political Science & Law (78 & B A K
E) in July 1985 and completed the graduate course of
Accounting & Audit in Agriculture from Zhejiang Agriculture
University (/L 2 % KX 2) (subsequently merged into
Zhejiang University (47)L X)) in July 1998. He received his
PRC lawyer’s practicing license issued by the Zhejiang
Province Department of Justice ()T & 71)%AE2) in July 1989.
In addition, Mr. Shen was the president of Hangzhou
Lawyers Association (f1)1 12BN 1% &) from November 2014
to November 2022. He was honored as the National
Outstanding Lawyer of the Year 20082010 (2008-20104F /€
% B8 75 7280) by the All China Lawyers Association (FF ZE &
Bl {2AM172) in December 2011 and as Merit Citation Class Il
in Judicial Administration (F1)A7TI{ —%511]) and the Excellent
Lawyer by the Zhejiang Province Department of Justice (47
JT % B4 EE) in January 2010 and December 2011,
respectively.

Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles (2| X), aged 68, was
effectively appointed as our independent non-executive
Director on the Listing Date. He is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent opinion and
judgement to the Group.
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Dr. Lau has more than 20 years of experience in financial
and business management. He has been an independent
non-executive director of China Financial Leasing Group
Limited (stock code: 2312.HK) and an independent director
of Nature Wood Group Limited (stock code: NWGL.US)
since September 2023, an independent non-executive
director of LINGY!I iTECH (GUANGDONG) COMPANY (& &
B &R B R A 7)) (stock code: 002600.S2) since June
2021 and an independent non-executive director of KOS
International Holdings Limited (= 22 =+ B B8 #£ i% & R A &)
(stock code: 8042.HK) since February 2021. Dr. Lau
successively served as the chief financial officer, an
executive director and the company secretary of Sitoy
Group Holdings Limited (F5 1 & & % i B R A 7)) (stock
code: 1023.HK) from August 2015 to July 2021, and has
been its non-executive director since August 2021. From
December 2013 to August 2015, he served as the chief
operating officer of Imaginex Group (1& & % &), primarily
responsible for financial management and logistics services.
Dr. Lau also worked at China Public Procurement Limited
(R B~ LB A IR A 7)) (stock code: 1094.HK, now known
as Cherish Sunshine International Limited) from December
2012 to March 2014 as its executive director, chief
investment officer and company secretary. Prior to that, he
successively served as the chief financial officer and a joint
company secretary of Miramar Hotel and Investment
Company, Limited (B %) )5 (b % B R A 7)) (stock code:
71.HK) from March 2010 to August 2012. Before that, he
served as a vice president and the internal control director of
China Resources Enterprise Limited (ZEE Al ¥ B E A 7))
(stock code: 291.HK) (currently known as China Resources
Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (£ 8 I8 (3% %) B R A
Al)) from February 2000 to April 2010.
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Dr. Lau obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from
Curtin University of Technology (currently known as Curtin
University) in August 1993, a master of business
administration degree from the University of South Australia
in May 1998 and a doctor of business administration degree
from the University of Newcastle, Australia in July 2008. Dr.
Lau was admitted as a Certified Practising Accountant by
CPA Australia in March 2001 and a Certified Public
Accountant by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in July 2001. He also became a fellow of CPA
Australia in June 2001, a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom in
March 2003, and a fellow of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of British Columbia in Canada in June 2015. In
addition, Dr. Lau was honored as the Model Worker of China
Central Government Enterprises (1 & 1> % 25 8) 1£ #) by the
Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security (A 1 & &
Mt & (RFE ) and the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council (7B A
BEBREEIRZE9)in April 2009.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chen Caixiong (% 71 %), aged 43, appointed as the
co-chief executive officer of the Company on 27 March
2024. Mr. Chen will assist Mr. Hua, the founder of the
Group, an executive Director, the chairman of the Board and
the co-chief executive officer of the Company, in the overall
leading of the business development of the Group. He is
primarily responsible for overseeing the overall operation
and supply chain management of the Group.

Mr. Chen joined the Group in March 2023 and was
appointed as the vice president of the Group in May 2023.
Mr. Chen has extensive experience in supply chain
management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked
as a senior production director at Urban Revivo Fashion (G2)
Co., Ltd. (1R = B & (& MN) B R A 7l) (main brand “Urban
Revivo”) from April 2022 to November 2022. Before that, he
held positions in Decathlon Group, Guangzhou EPO Fashion
Co., Ltd. (B/M=E % k&1 AR 2 7)) (major brands “MO&Co.”
and “EDITION”), Anzheng Fashion Group Co., Ltd. (% 1E B
i#5 B % 15 B BR A 7)) (stock code: 603839.SH, major brands
“JZ Juzui”).

Mr. Chen graduated from Xiangtan University in June 2004
majoring in business English and from Sichuan University in
June 2018 majoring in law (online education).
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Ms. Yuan Ding (= I]), aged 42, is the vice president and
financial senior director of the Company. She is primarily
responsible for overseeing the operation and daily financial
management of the Group.

Ms. Yuan joined the Group in July 2023. Prior to joining the
Group, she was a senior financial manager (senior financial
expert) and financial director (senior financial expert) of
Alipay (Hangzhou) Information Technology Co., Ltd. (Ant
Group) (X8 (M) ERRMBR AT (HEEEHE)) from
September 2014 to May 2023, a senior financial manager in
Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd. (2 AT A R A7) from July
2013 to August 2014, a senior manager of the audit
department in the Guangzhou branch of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP (Z#FE kEH K
STEMERAT (KR E®A %)) from August 2006 to June
2013. In addition, she was engaged in GP Certified Public
Accountants LLP (E R IF R IR)I € 5180 F 4% A7 (k& iR
a#)).

Ms. Yuan graduated from the Department of Accounting of
the School of Management of Sun Yat-sen University with a
bachelor’s degree in management in 2003. She became a
member of Guangdong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in September 2005, and was recognized as a
non-practicing member by Guangdong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in September 2013.

Ms. Xie Xi (# %), aged 35, is the senior merchandise
operations director of the Company. She is primarily
responsible for merchandise planning and allocation
management, and coordinating the annual operational
circulation strategy for merchandise.

Ms. Xie joined the Group in December 2023. She has over
ten years of experience in supply chain and merchandise
management. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Xie worked as
a buyer manager at Decathlon Group, and subsequently
held positions in Shanghai Shading Technology Co., Ltd. (=
HE T = BERHE AR A Al) and Who Gives A Crap Group,
successively, where she was responsible for business and
supply chain management, from October 2013 to October
2018.

Ms. Xie graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong University with
a bachelor’s degree in environmental science and
engineering in July 2010. She completed an engineer
training program at Ecole Nationale Supérieure de
Techniques Industrielles et des Mines de Douai (ft12 &/ &
% T 3 F i B iE ¥ 22 42) with a qualification equivalent to a
master’s degree in engineering in September 2011. She
graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong University with a
master’s degree in environmental science and engineering in
March 2013.

RI L 425 RAREH
SRMGRE RIEARE
ERFHEEER -

RIZTHR2023F7 A NIAREER ° AL
S£E R/ HR2014F9 A £20234F5A8 -
EXAE (TUN) EERMBRA A (5%
S8 FEERVELRE (BRAVBEER)
MBI RE (B RMEER) - )R20134F
7THZE2014F8A ' EEAFKMAR QA
ELE R EKLIE - PR20065F8 7 &
2013F6 A L EEKEPREFTENIER
Fr(BRERER) BN EEETI
SRAEIE o AN HEEEREFRHKIE
FTRNERET (R REe %) T8 -

R THR2003F XN ILREEEE
Prert 2R BEEIREEL BT o HFRN
2005F9 A AR RATMETMpee
8 WHR2013F9 A ER LM estAD
HERBIENESE -

&Lt 355% A
BEEREE FTITEAEETFER
EIAREGRARER  SER
[EE L IR o

aF

mi B+

!

bl

b Zot
g
Bo Bo =
4 & B0

I

T ER2023F 12 AMARERE - B E
ETHFUENHERENERERLER
IIARSEER] - #HAZLTR2013F10H E
2018410 H B fEI £ i < /= (Decathlon) &
EETEFLE HExEELERT
= B R B R A A &Who Gives A Crap
SEERYEEmBNHEREIRE -

LT HR2010F7TAEXR EBRBX
B ESRBRISEHTEEL 8 o FR
20119 AR &% T ¥ T iifE
EEBREKT ITRRMREEN  BET
FEETEBETER - R2013F3 2%
REBRBARE BERERBETE
B o



2023FE¥HE FAREBERAFRAA

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Xu Shijian (#:£%%), aged 46, is a vice president and the
chief financial officer of the Company. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the financial strategic planning,
investment and financing, investor relations, legal affairs and
inspection of the Group.

Mr. Xu has more than twenty years of extensive experience
in finance and corporate management and capital
operations. He has joined the Group since November 2016
and served as the chief financial officer and a vice president
of the Group and a director of Zhejiang Zibuyu, while
concurrently serving as an executive director and authorized
representative of the Group from January 2019 to November
2023. Prior to joining the Group, he served as the financial
director of Lvcheng E-commerce Co., Ltd. (43 & FH 5 H
[} 22 7)), a company within the group of Greentown China
Holdings Limited (A& - BI3Z A% AR A &) (stock code: 3900.
HK), from February 2011 to May 2016. Mr. Xu was a
practicing certified public accountant of the PRC and served
as the project manager and the head of department of
Shaoxing Tianyuan Accountant Office (43 #1 X R & 516 = 7%
Ffr) from March 2006 to January 2011. He successively
served as an auditor, project manager and practicing
certified tax agent of Shaoxing Dongfang Tax Accountant
Firm (43 % 5 J5 B 7 B0 == 7% F7) and Shaoxing Yidi Tax
Accountant Firm (43 4 z5 tf 7 7% Bl 25 7% F7) form November
2003 to February 2006.

Mr. Xu holds the title of senior accountant, the qualifications
of certified public accountant, certified tax agent and
certified public valuer in the PRC, and the qualification of
secretary to the board of directors issued by the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He
graduated from Zhejiang University of Finance & Economics
(7T BF 48 K £2) (previously known as Zhejiang Institute of
Finance and Economics (47T 81 £ 2 Fx)) and obtained a
bachelor diploma in accounting in December 2006. He is
currently a student of the Executive Master of Business
Administration program for the class of 2023 at Fudan
University.
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Mr. Cheng Bing (£ fx), aged 35 and a cousin of Mr. Wang
Weiping, is a vice president of the Company. He is primarily
responsible for the management of new business of the
Group, including expansion into new channels and
development of new product offerings.

Mr. Cheng joined the Group in April 2015 and has been the
general manager of business department, sales director and
vice president of the Group successively, primarily
responsible for the management of sales and marketing
through third-party e-commerce platforms on Amazon,
Temu and TikTok. Prior to joining the Group, he served as a
product engineer of Atotech (China) Chemical Co., Ltd. (%
5 (R E) L2 AR A Al from May 2013 to March 2015.

Mr. Cheng graduated with a bachelor’s degree in chemistry
from Anging Normal Institute (% Bl €8 2F%) (subsequently
renamed as Anging Normal University (%  fif #3 X £)) in
July 2010. He graduated with a master’s degree in industrial
catalysis from East China University of Science and
Technology (25 3 T X &) in March 2013.
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Mr. Peng Yulong (¥ % %), aged 40, joined the Group and
was appointed as the chief technology officer of the
Company on 7 April 2022. He is primarily in charge of
formulating the overall technology strategies and overseeing
the design, development and operation of the information
products of the Group.

Mr. Peng has extensive experience in big data and internet
industries. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Peng served as the
head of data and algorithm product department of Ant
Financial (Hangzhou) Network Technology Co., Ltd. (#5% &
AR (AL ) 48 4%+ i1 5 PR /A |&]) from February 2018 to March
2022, primarily responsible for the development and
maintenance of data and algorithm products. Prior to that,
he worked as a senior specialist at the security department
of Taobao (China) Software Co., Ltd. (A Z (&) B+ B R
7~ 7)) from February 2016 to January 2018, focusing on the
development of security solutions and products. From April
2015 to January 2016, he served as the chief technology
officer of Zhejiang Tourongjie Internet Financial Service Co.,
Ltd. (T g A BB R 2 7)), in charge of the formulating
the overall technology strategies and the management of the
technical team.

Mr. Peng obtained a bachelor’s degree (correspondence
course) in computer science and technology from Hunan
University (# 5 X £) in February 2011 and a master of
business administration degree from Hunan University (45
A £ in June 2013.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Zheng Huanxin (&} &1 fiX), aged 35, was appointed as
one of the joint company secretaries of the Company on 18
June 2021.

Ms. Zheng joined the Group in September 2017 and is
acting as the manager of the legal department of the Group,
primarily responsible for legal compliance matters. Prior to
joining the Group, she was a lawyer of Zhejiang Haihao Law
Firm (4 )18 J& £ B = 7 FT) from October 2011 to March
2017. Ms. Zheng graduated with a bachelor’s degree in law
from Zhejiang Institute of Finance and Economics (7T B1 4%
Z[) (currently known as Zhejiang University of Finance &
Economics (1L 81 &£ K 2)) in June 2011.

Ms. Yu Anne (5% % #E) was appointed as one of the joint
company secretaries of the Company on 5 September 2022.

Ms. Yu is an assistant manager of SWCS Corporate
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and has over 20 years
of experience in the corporate secretarial field. Ms. Yu
obtained a bachelor’s degree from University of
Huddersfield in the United Kingdom and a Master of Law
degree from The University of Law in the United Kingdom.
Ms. Yu is an associate member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The
Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom
(formerly known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators).
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The Board is pleased to present this report of the Directors
together with the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is one of the largest cross-border
e-commerce companies in China focusing on the sale of
apparel and footwear products through third-party
e-commerce platforms and self-operated online stores. The
Company has been primarily focusing on the sale of a wide
range of self-designed apparel and footwear worldwide. We
design apparel and footwear, and procure products
manufactured in accordance with our design and on OEM
basis from selected OEM suppliers, and subsequently sell
such products to customers globally through a combination
of third-party e-commerce platforms and our self-operated
online stores. Products of the Company are delivered to
customers either by third-party logistics service providers or
through fulfillment services provided by third-party
e-commerce platforms.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview and Results for the Year

The business review, discussion and analysis of future
business development of the Group, and the key financial
and operational performance indicators used to assess the
business performance of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report
on pages 10 to 27.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is not exposed to any material health, safety and
environmental risks. It is committed to fulfilling its social
responsibilities, improving benefits of its employees,
promoting development, protecting the environment,
contributing to society and achieving sustainable growth.
For details, please refer to the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this
annual report.

Compliance with Applicable Laws and
Regulations

The Group is required to comply with certain laws and
regulations of China in its domestic business operations,
including but not limited to laws and regulations related to
import and export of goods, foreign investment, foreign
exchange, cybersecurity, intellectual property rights,
personal information and data protection.

To the best of the knowledge of the Board, the Group has
complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on its business and operations, and has
obtained all necessary licenses, approvals and permits from
the relevant regulatory authorities for its operations in China.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no
material breach of, or non-compliance with, applicable laws
and regulations on the part of the Group.

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers
and Suppliers

The Group has always placed great emphasis on
maintaining good business relationships with its product and
service suppliers, and providing high-quality, customer-
oriented services to its local markets and customers. These
suppliers and customers are all good business partners who
create value for the Group. The Group also values its
employees’ knowledge and skills and continues to provide
favorable career development opportunities for them.
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Major Risks and Uncertainties and Risk
Management

The Group’s business operations and performance may be
affected by various factors, some of which are external
factors, while others are inherent in its business. To the
knowledge of the Board, the Group is facing various risks.
Major risks and uncertainties are as follows:

o Disruption of our relationships and unfavorable
changes in terms of our arrangements with third-party
e-commerce platforms, in particular, Amazon and
Temu, could have a material adverse effect on our
business and results of operations;

o The success of our business is largely dependent on
our ability to predict future fashion trends, consumer
preferences and market demand so as to design and
launch new products that match the appetites of our
target customers and to address the evolving needs
and consumer preferences. Consumer preferences
differ within and across different countries and regions
and among different customer groups, thus are
influenced by factors such as changing esthetics and
evolving styles;

° Any material shortage or delay in supply by our OEM
suppliers or instability of their product quality, and any
difficulty in maintaining our current relationships with
our OEM suppliers or finding replacements for our
OEM suppliers in a timely manner, could materially and
adversely affect our business;

o We primarily engage in cross-border e-commerce
export B2C business and do not manufacture any
products. Although the environmental impact directly
caused by us is minimal, we still recognize our social
responsibilities in monitoring and reducing the
environmental risks associated with our operations;
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° Failure to maintain optimal inventory level could
increase our operating costs or lead to unfulfilled
customer demands, either of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects;

o Our business operations may be affected by risks
related to logistics services provided by third parties;

o We operate in the competitive cross-border
e-commerce export B2C apparel and footwear industry
in China. If we fail to compete effectively and
successfully, our customer base, market share and
profitability may be materially and adversely affected;

° Changes in international trade policies and the ongoing
conflict and emergence of a trade war between the
U.S. and China may have an adverse effect on our
business;

o Our business generates and possesses a large amount
of overseas customers’ shipment information, and the
improper collection, storage, use or disclosure of such
information could materially and adversely affect our
business and reputation; and

o We are subject to risks associated with foreign
exchange rate fluctuations.

The abovementioned major risks and uncertainties list is a
non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties further to the risks areas outlined above which
are not presently known to the Group, or the Group currently
deems to be immaterial but could turn out to be material in
the future.
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The Company believes that risk management is critical to
the efficient and effective operation of the Group. The
Company’s management assists the Board in evaluating the
significant internal and external risks associated with the
Group’s business, including operational risks, financial risks
and regulatory risks. It also actively establishes appropriate
risk management and internal control mechanisms, which
are integrated into daily operational management.

Subsequent Events

On 8 January 2024, Zhejiang Zibuyu entered into an
informatization construction and development contract with
Hangzhou Shuzhi, pursuant to which Zhejiang Zibuyu
engaged Hangzhou Shuzhi to provide intelligent
informatization construction, development and research
services for a term of one year from 8 January 2024 to 7
January 2025, with an aggregate development fee of
RMB12.0 million. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 8 January 2024.

On 27 March 2024, the Board proposes to amend the
existing memorandum and articles of association of the
Company to facilitate electronic dissemination of corporate
communications in accordance with the amended Listing
Rules in relation to the expanded paperless listing regime
which took effect on 31 December 2023, and to adopt the
second amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company in substitution for and to
exclusion of the existing memorandum and articles of
association. For details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 27 March 2024.

Save as set out above, there are no significant events that
may affect the Group subsequent to the financial year ended
31 December 2023 and as of date of this Directors’ Report.
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Outlook for 2024

In 2024, the Group will adhere to the development strategy
set out on pages 26 to 27 of this annual report in order to
further consolidate its leading position in the cross-border
e-commerce industry in China.

DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and as of the date of this
Directors’ Report, the Directors of the Company are as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hua Bingru

Mr. Wang Weiping

Mr. Dong Zhenguo

Mr. Wang Shijian (resigned on 3 November 2023)
Mr. Xu Shijian (resigned on 3 November 2023)
Non-executive Director

Ms. Hua Hui

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yu Kefei

Mr. Shen Tianfeng
Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles
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Biographies of the Directors and senior
management

For the biographical details of the Directors and senior
management of the Company, please refer to the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 28 to
40 in this annual report.

Particulars of Directors’ Service Contracts and
Letters of Appointment

Each of Mr. Hua Bingru, Mr. Wang Weiping and Mr. Dong
Zhenguo, being our executive Directors, has entered into a
service contract with the Company, under which they
agreed to act as executive Directors for an initial term
commencing from the Listing Date to the third annual
general meeting held after the Listing Date. The service
contracts may be renewed in accordance with Articles of
Association and the applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Ms. Hua Hui, being our non-executive Director, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company, under which
she agreed to act as non-executive Director for an initial
term commencing from the Listing Date to the third annual
general meeting held after the Listing Date. The letter of
appointment may be renewed in accordance with the
Articles of Association and the applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

Each of Mr. Yu Kefei, Mr. Shen Tianfeng and Dr. Lau Kin
Shing Charles, being our independent non-executive
Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company, under which they agreed to act as independent
non-executive Directors for an initial term commencing from
the Listing Date to the third annual general meeting held
after the Listing Date. The letters of appointment may be
renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and
the applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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Re-election of Directors

The Directors are elected for a term of three years and are
subject to re-election. Pursuant to Articles 109(a) and (b) of
the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if the number
is not a multiple of three or three, then the number nearest to
but not less than one-third of the total number of the
Directors, shall retire by rotation, but each Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The
retiring Directors are eligible for re-election. The Company
may fill any vacancy of such position at the Shareholders’
general meeting. The retiring Directors shall include any
Director who intends to retire and any Director who is not
willing to stand for re-election (as far as the required number
is concerned). Any Director who has not been subject to
retirement by rotation in the three years prior to the annual
general meeting shall retire by rotation at the relevant annual
general meeting. The Directors to retire shall be those who
have been in office for the longest period of time since their
last re-election or appointment but, as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day,
those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot. Accordingly, Mr. Wang
Weiping and Mr. Dong Zhenguo will retire as executive
Directors and Ms. Hua Hui will retire as non-executive
Director, and they are being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election at the 2024 Annual General
Meeting under Article 109(a) of the Articles of Association.
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Remuneration of Directors and the Five Highest
Paid Individuals

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in Notes 34
and 11 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

Changes in the Biographical Details of Directors
and Chief Executives Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules

Mr. Hua Bingru (Z£ § 1) was re-designated as a co-chief
executive officer of the Group on 27 March 2024. Save as
disclosed above and in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” in this report, there were no other
changes in the biographical details of Directors which shall
be disclosed under Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Changes of senior management of the Company since the
date of the 2023 interim report are as follows:

Mr. Chen Caixiong (Ff /4 %) was appointed as a co-chief
executive officer of the Group on 27 March 2024, assisting
Mr. Hua, the founder of the Group, the Chairman of the
Board and the co-chief executive officer of the Company in
the overall leading of the business development of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As of 31 December 2023, none of the Directors took part in,
or were interested in, any business which competes or is
likely to compete with the Group’s business.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

As at the end of the reporting year or at any time during the
reporting year of this annual report, there were no Directors
or connected persons of the Company who, directly or
indirectly, had material interests in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of
the Group, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, that subsisted as at the end of the reporting
year or had been entered into during the year.

There were no Directors or entities related to the Directors
who directly or indirectly held material interests in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
during, or as at the end of, the reporting period.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

There were no Controlling Shareholders of the Group who,
directly or indirectly, had material interests in any contracts
of significance to the business of the Group, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, that
subsisted as at the end of the reporting year or had been
entered into during the year.

There were no contracts of significance with any Controlling
Shareholders or their subsidiaries subsisting as at the end of
the reporting year or entered into during the year for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during
the reporting period are set out in Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report,
among which the compensation paid to the directors of the
Company constitutes connected transactions of the
Company which are fully exempt according to Rule 14A.95
of the Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
OUR DIRECTORS AND THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of 31 December 2023, the interest or short positions of
our Directors or chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which would be required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which would be recorded in
the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, are as follows:

Name of Director/Chief

executive Nature of interest

EE BETRABHEA

EEME
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Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares  shareholding™

BROBE BOKREILY

Mr. Hua Bingru®

ERIELD
Mr. Wang Weiping®

EHFEED
Mr. Dong Zhenguo®

ERE ST EY
Ms. Hua Hui®
L0

Interest in controlled corporations/
Founder of a discretionary trust
XEsERER ERIETNEIFA
Interest in controlled corporations/
Founder of a discretionary trust
REEERER RREGENAPA
Interest in controlled corporations/
Founder of a discretionary trust
REEERR RREETINARA
Interest in controlled corporations

REEEER

236,056,036(L) 47.21%
22,608,772(L) 4.52%
19,634,654(L) 3.93%
10,498,364(L) 2.10%
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Notes:

(1)

Save

The calculation is based on the total number of 500,000,000
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

Mr. Hua Bingru (“Mr. Hua”) is the settlor and appointer of
Hone Ru Trust, which is interested in all the issued shares of
Hone Ru. TMY ONE is wholly-owned by Gfxtmyun, a wholly
owned subsidiary of Hone Ru, which is in turn wholly-owned
by Hone Ru Trust. Therefore, Mr. Hua, Hone Ru and
Gfxtmyun are deemed to be interested in the shares directly
held by TMY ONE.

Mr. Wang Weiping is the settlor and appointor of WJunzhe
Trust, which is interested in all the issued shares of WJunzhe
Limited. Also Jun is wholly-owned by WJunzhe Limited,
which is in turn wholly-owned by WJunzhe Trust. As such,
Mr. Wang Weiping is deemed to be interested in the shares
directly held by Also Jun.

Mr. Dong Zhenguo is the settlor and appointor of Dotti Trust,
which is interested in all the issued shares of Dotti Enterprise
Limited. Alitti is wholly-owned by Dotti Enterprise Limited,
which is in turn wholly-owned by Dotti Trust. As such, Mr.
Dong Zhenguo is deemed to be interested in the shares
directly held by Alitti.

Virtual Particle is wholly-owned by Ms. Hua Hui. As such, Ms.
Hua Hui is deemed to be interested in the shares directly held
by Virtual Particle.

The letter “L” denotes a person’s long position (as defined
under part XV of the SFO) in the Shares.

as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2023, none of

our Directors or chief executives of the Company had
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares

and

debentures of the Company or its associated

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would be required to be recorded in the register kept

by th

e Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or

which would be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER INDIVIDUALS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As of 31 December 2023, so far as it was known to the
Directors, the following persons and entities (excluding the
Directors and chief executives of the Company) had
interests and/or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder

Nature of interest

2023F E &
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EEEHRE

TEEHAARDA

FTERRREMALRED K
HERDPNERE KX

R2023F12A31H ' BEEEFMFA '
IWATRER (RESHARAREITH
A BN R D S BRI D P B BB IR
”*%&Hﬂfﬂﬂﬁﬂ%XV*B%Z&%S"* 15
XHMg AR RPN SORE

&Apaﬁ-wﬁ%ﬁ &5 K B G (55 55 336 14k
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Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares  shareholding®

BRREE A8 BimiME BRO#E BOKFRE IO

Mr. Hua® Interest in controlled corporations/ 236,056,036(L) 47.21%
Founder of a discretionary trust

FER4EO LR REETN
=IE N

Hone Ru® Interest in controlled corporations 236,056,036(L) 47.21%

Hone Ru® XEEEER

Gfxtmyun® Interest in a controlled corporations 236,056,036(L) 47.21%

Gfxtmyun® XEEERER

TMY ONE® Beneficial interest 236,056,036(L) 47.21%

RlanES® EnEn

Ms. Yu® Interest in controlled corporations/ 25,088,421(L) 5.02%
Founder of a discretionary trust

REZLTO REEERER RREGENAPA

Wiloru Holding® Interest in a controlled corporations 25,088,421(L) 5.02%

Wiloru Holding® XELERER

Hyufeng® Beneficial interest 25,088,421(L) 5.02%

Hyufeng®
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Name of Shareholder

BRREE 8

Nature of interest

EEtE

Approximate

Number of percentage of
shares  shareholding"
ROHBE BOBREDLO

Mr. Wang Shijian®
Rl

Ms. Rao Xingxing®
FEEL L

Chichiboy Holdings Limited®
Chichiboy Holdings Limited®

Founder of a discretionary trust
RREETMEIRA

Founder of a discretionary trust
EREFENAIRA

Interest in a controlled corporations
REpLEER

Xringirl® Beneficial interest
Xringirl® EamfEa

TMY THREE® Beneficial interest
EERE=8 Eanfs

Notes:

(1)  The calculation is based on the total number of 500,000,000
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

(2)  Mr. Hua is the settlor and appointer of Hone Ru Trust, which
is interested in all the issued shares of Hone Ru. TMY ONE is
wholly-owned by Gfxtmyun, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Hone Ru, which is in turn wholly-owned by Hone Ru Trust.
Therefore, Mr. Hua, Hone Ru and Gfxtmyun are deemed to
be interested in the shares directly held by TMY ONE.

(8) Ms. Yu Feng (“Ms. Yu”) is the settlor and appointer of Wiloru
Trust, which is interested in all the issued shares of Wiloru
Holding. Hyufeng is wholly-owned by Wiloru Holding, which
is in turn wholly-owned by Wiloru Trust. Therefore, Ms. Yu
and Wiloru Holding are deemed to be interested in the shares
directly held by Hyufeng.

44,466,717(L) 8.89%
44,466,717(L) 8.89%
44,466,717(L) 8.89%
44,466,717(L) 8.89%
28,234,508(L) 5.65%
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Mr. Wang Shijian and Ms. Rao Xingxing are the settlors and
appointers of Chichiboy Trust, which is interested in all the
issued shares of Chichiboy Holdings Limited. Xringirl is
wholly-owned by Chichiboy Holdings Limited, which is in turn
wholly-owned by Chichiboy Trust. Therefore, Mr. Wang
Shijian, Ms. Rao Xingxing and Chichiboy Holdings Limited
are deemed to be interested in the shares directly held by
Xringirl.

TMY THREE is held by Mr. Cheng Bing (12.03%) who is a
member of our senior management and the cousin of Mr.
Wang Weiping, Mr. Yu Benhe (4.05%) who is the brother of
Ms. Yu, Mr. Fan Zugen (3.61%) who is our consultant, Mr.
Shi Weiwei (3.00%) who is the cousin of Mr. Hua, Mr. Cheng
Wu (0.80%) who is the cousin of Mr. Wang Weiping and
other 39 individual shareholders (76.51%) who are all our
employees and Independent Third Parties with each holding
below 9%.

The letter “L” denotes a person’s long position (as defined
under part XV of the SFO) in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2023, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons, who had an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which would be required to be recorded in the
register kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS
Major Customers

The customers of the Company are primarily retail
customers who purchased our products either through
major third-party e-commerce platforms, or our self-
operated online stores directly. To a much lesser extent, our
customers also include corporate customers such as third-
party e-commerce platforms and other third-party
merchants. For the Reporting Period, the Group had no
customer accounting for more than 30% of its total revenue
(2022: nil). The Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 3.80% (2022: 0.35%) of its total revenue.

For the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5.0% of the
number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in
the Group’s five largest customers.

Major Suppliers

Our suppliers primarily consist of third-party e-commerce
platform, third-party OEM suppliers and logistics service
providers, most of which are located in the PRC. During the
Reporting Period, the aggregate percentage of the Group’s
total purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers was 70.5% (2022: 66.2%). The Group’s largest
supplier accounted for approximately 65.4% (2022: 62.8%)
of the Group’s total purchases during the Reporting Period.

For the Reporting Period, none of our Directors, any of their
close associates or Shareholder(s) (who, to the knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5.0% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in any of the five
largest suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into with any individuals, companies
or entities during the Reporting Period.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Every Director or other senior management of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they may sustain or
incur during or for the purpose of the execution of their
duties or in relation thereto in accordance with the Articles of
Association. The Company has maintained appropriate
Directors’ liability insurance during the Reporting Period.

RESULTS OF OPERATION

The Group’s results of operation are set out in page 165 of
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of this
annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend (2022: HK$ 25.0 million) for the Reporting Period.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting is proposed to be held on
Monday, 13 May 2024. A notice convening the Annual
General Meeting will be published and dispatched to the
Shareholders of the Company in the manner required by the
Listing Rules in due course.

For the purpose of determination of eligibility to attend and
vote at the Annual General Meeting, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 8 May
2024 to Monday, 13 May 2024, both days inclusive. In order
to be entitled to attend the Annual General Meeting, all
transfers of shares of the Company accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4: 30
p.m. on Tuesday, 7 May 2024.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of issued Shares
was 500,000,000. Changes in the share capital of the
Company during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 23
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE
RESERVES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, details of the
reserves of the Group and the Company are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and Note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
As of 31 December 2023, the distributable reserves of the
Group was RMB281.7 million (as of 31 December 2022:
approximately RMB161.7 million).

SHARE SCHEMES
Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares)

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme (Existing
Shares) on 15 September 2023. The Share Award Scheme
(Existing Shares) is funded solely by the existing Shares
pursuant to Rule 17.01(1)(b) of the Listing Rules and does
not constitute a scheme involving the issue of new shares.
Therefore, Shareholders’ approval is not required for the
adoption of the Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares). The
following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Award Scheme (Existing Shares). For details of the Share
Award Scheme (Existing Shares), please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 15 September 2023.

1.  Purpose

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme (Existing
Shares) is to (1) recognise and reward certain eligible
participants for their performance and contribution to
the growth and development of the Group; (2) provide
such eligible participants with incentives in order to
encourage and retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group; and (3) attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.
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Administration

The Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) shall be
subject to the administration of the Board in
accordance with the scheme rules, whose decision
shall be final and binding on all parties.

The Company has appointed the trustee, THE CORE
TRUST COMPANY LIMITED (the “Core Trust”) or
Gongfenxiang One (“Gongfenxiang One”), a company
wholly-owned by Core Trust to act as the nominee of
the trust, to assist with the administration of the Share
Award Scheme (Existing Shares). Core Trust or
Gongfenxiang One shall, directly or indirectly, hold the
trust shares, the related income and residual cash in
accordance with the relevant scheme rules and the
trust deed.

The Board, may either before or after identification of
the selected participant(s), cause to be paid to Core
Trust or Gongfenxiang One such amount as may be
required for the purchase a certain number of existing
Shares on the Stock Exchange at the market trading
price as and when appropriate as the awards for the
Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) and other
purposes set out in the relevant scheme rules and the
trust deed.

Eligible participants

The following persons are eligible to participate in, and
be granted under the Share Award Scheme (Existing
Shares): (i) employees of the Group; and (ii) any
persons who have contributed to the Group in the past
and/or are in the interests of the long-term growth of
the Group.
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Duration

Subject to any termination as may be determined by
the Board pursuant to the scheme rules of the Share
Award Scheme (Existing Shares), the Share Award
Scheme (Existing Shares) shall be valid and effective
for the period commencing on the adoption date (i.e.
15 September 2023) of the Share Award Scheme
(Existing Shares) until the earlier of (i) the 10th
anniversary of the adoption date of the Share Award
Scheme (Existing Shares) (the “Scheme Period of the
Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares)”); or (ii) such
date that all outstanding awarded Shares have been
fully vested, settled, lapsed, forfeited or cancelled (as
the case may be), after which period no further awards
may be granted, but the scheme rules of the Share
Award Scheme (Existing Shares) shall remain in full
force and effect in all other respects. Accordingly, the
remaining life of the Share Award Scheme (Existing
Shares) is approximately 9 years and six months as at
the date of this annual report.

Maximum number of Shares

The aggregate number of Shares to be awarded by the
Board under the Share Award Scheme (Existing
Shares) shall not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the adoption date of
15 September 2023 (i.e. being no more than
50,000,000 Shares), representing 10% of the issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this annual
report.

As the Shares under the Share Award Scheme
(Existing Shares) are existing Shares, the total number
of Shares available for issue under the Share Award
Scheme (Existing Shares) is 0.
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Maximum entitlement for each participant

The maximum number of Shares that may be granted
to a selected participant under the Share Award
Scheme (Existing Shares) shall not exceed 1% of the
Company'’s total issued Shares during any 12-month
period.

Grant of awards

The Board may at any time on any business day during
the scheme period of the Share Award Scheme
(Existing Shares) grant an award to any eligible
participant of the Share Award Scheme (Existing
Shares), as the Board may in its absolute discretion
select. A grant of an award shall be made to an eligible
participant by a grant letter in such written form as the
Board may from time to time determine. The document
for granting the Award shall state and specify:

()  the name and address of the selected participant
and so far as the Board is aware, whether he/she/
it is connected person of the Company;

(i)  the number of awarded Shares for the selected
participant;

(i) the vesting dates and vesting conditions of the
awarded Shares;

(iv) any applicable lock-up on the awarded Shares;

(v) the date by which the selected participant must
accept the grant of the award, failing which the
award would forfeit; and

(vi) other relevant terms and conditions of the award
as the Board may in absolute discretion
determine in accordance with the rules relating to
the Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares).
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Awards granted are subject to the acceptance of the
grant by the selected participant in the time and
manner stipulated in the grant letter issued to the
selected participant. If the selected participant does
not accept the award in the time and manner stipulated
in the grant letter, the award shall be forfeited.

The amount, if any, payable on the acceptance of the
award and the period within which payments must or
may be made and the purchase price of each awarded
share (if any) shall be determined by the Board at the
time of grant of the share awards under the Share
Award Scheme (Existing Shares).

Vesting period

The vesting period and vesting schedule shall be
subject to the discretion of the Board. Subject to the
receipt by the trustee of the requisite information and
documents duly signed by the selected participant
within the period stipulated in the vesting notice and
the fulfillment of all vesting conditions as specified in
the relevant grant letter, the awarded Shares held by
the trustee on behalf of the selected participant shall
vest in such selected participant in accordance with
the applicable vesting schedule, and the trustee shall
transfer or procure nominee of the trust to transfer the
relevant awarded Shares to the relevant selected
participant in accordance with the scheme rules.

No awards have been granted, cancelled or lapsed
under the Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) since
its adoption and up to the date of this annual report.
The number of awards available for grant under the
Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) at the end of
2023 was 50,000,000 Shares. There is no service
provider sublimit under the Share Award Scheme
(Existing Shares).

As the Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) is
funded by exiting Shares only, the number of Shares
that may be issued in respect of the awards granted
under the Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares)
during the Reporting Period divided by the weighted
average number of Shares in issue for the Reporting
Period is not applicable.
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Share Award Scheme (New Shares)

The Share Award Scheme (New Shares) was approved by
the Shareholders and adopted on 1 December 2023. The
Share Award Scheme (New Shares) is to be funded solely by
new shares. The following is a summary of the principal
terms of the Share Award Scheme (New Shares). For details
of the Share Award Scheme (New Shares), please refer to
the circular of the Company dated 15 November 2023.

1.  Purpose

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme (New Shares)
is to provide the selected participants of Share Award
Scheme (New Shares) with an opportunity to obtain a
proprietary interest in the Company, to provide
incentives to selected participants to contribute to the
Company and to enable the Company to recruit
high-calibre employees and attract human resources
that are valuable to the Group.

2. Administration

The Board will administer the Share Award Scheme
(New Shares) in accordance with the scheme rules. In
addition, the Board may appoint a third-party
professional service providers as the administrator in
relation to the Share Award Scheme (New Shares) (or
certain aspects of it) on such terms as the Board may
determine.

3.  Eligible participants

Eligible participants of Share Award Scheme (New
Shares) refer to the directors and employees of any
member of the Group who in the absolute discretion of
the Board have contributed to the Group on the basis
of their contribution to the development and growth of
the Group.
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Duration

The Share Award Scheme (New Shares) will terminate
or expire (as the case may be) on the earlier of: (i) the
termination of the Share Award Scheme (New Shares)
pursuant to the termination clause of the Share Award
Scheme (New Shares); and (b) ten years from the
adoption date (i.e. 1 December 2023), after which no
further grant of the awards shall be made but the Share
Award Scheme (New Shares) will remain in full force
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the
acceptance of any granted awards, vesting of any
awarded shares or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the Share Award Scheme (New
Shares).

Accordingly, the remaining life of the Share Award
Scheme (New Shares) is approximately nine years and
eight months as at the date of this annual report.

Maximum number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued in respect of all awards to be granted under the
Share Award Scheme (New Shares) and any other
share schemes of the Company must not exceed 5%
(i.e. 25,000,000 Shares) of the Shares in issue as at the
adoption date (i.e. 1 December 2023) of the Share
Award Scheme (New Shares).

Since the adoption date of the Share Award Scheme
(New Shares) up to the date of this annual report, no
awards have been granted, cancelled or lapsed under
the Share Award Scheme (New Shares). Therefore, the
total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Award Scheme (New Shares) shall be
25,000,000 Shares, representing 5% of the issued
Shares as at the date of this annual report.
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Maximum entitlement for each participant

The Board shall not grant any award (the “Triggering
Award”) to any selected participant which, if vested,
would result in that selected participant becoming
entitled to subscribe for such number of Shares as,
when aggregated with the total number of Shares
already issued or to be issued in respect of all options
and awards granted to such person in the 12-month
period immediately preceding the grant date of the
Triggering Award to exceed 1% of the number of
Shares in issue as at that grant date.

Grant of awards

Subject to the requirements in the Share Award
Scheme (New Shares) and all applicable laws, rules
and regulations, the Board may, from time to time at its
absolute discretion, select any eligible participant
(other than any excluded participant as defined in the
Share Award Scheme (New Shares)) to be a selected
participant and to grant such awarded Shares to such
selected participant at nil consideration.

The Board will issue letter of grant to selected
participants to grant awards. The letter of grant will
specify: (a) the name of the selected participant; (b) the
date of the letter; (c) the acceptance period; (d) the
vesting conditions (if any); (e) the performance targets
and other eligibility criteria, if any, to be satisfied before
the vesting of the awarded Shares; (f) the number of
awarded Shares; and (g) such other terms and
conditions to which the award will be subject. The
letter of grant will contain provisions requiring the
selected participant to agree to be bound by the Share
Award Scheme (New Shares).
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Upon receipt of the letter of grant, the selected
participant shall accept an award by returning to the
Company a notice of acceptance (the “Acceptance
Notice”) within the acceptance period. If any selected
participant fails to return the Acceptance Notice before
the expiry of the acceptance period, the award will
automatically lapse forthwith and the relevant awarded
Shares shall not vest on the relevant vesting date.

As the awarded Shares will be granted to the selected
participants at nil consideration, the disclosure
requirements under Rule 17.09(7) and Rule 17.09(8) of
the Listing Rules are not applicable.

Vesting of awards and vesting period

Subject to the provisions of the Share Award Scheme
(New Shares), all applicable laws, rules and regulations
and with its terms and conditions, the respective
awarded Shares shall vest on the selected participant
on the date or dates when all the vesting conditions set
out in the letter of grant are met, and the Board shall
cause the Company to allot and issue to such selected
participant such number of new awarded Shares as set
out in the letter of grant and the Board shall cause to
be paid the subscription money for the new awarded
Shares, representing the nominal value of the new
awarded Shares multiplied by the number of new
awarded Shares to be issued, from the Company’s
resources.
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The minimum vesting period is 12 months. A shorter
vesting period may be granted to eligible participants
at the discretion of the Board (or the Remuneration
Committee where the arrangements relate to grants of
awards to the Directors and/or senior management of
the Company) in any of the following specific
circumstances:

(@

grants of “make-whole” awards to eligible
participants who newly joined the Group to
replace the share awards or options they forfeited
when leaving their previous employer;

grants of awards with specific and objective
performance-based vesting conditions in lieu of
time-based vesting criteria;

grants that are made in batches during a year for
administrative and compliance reasons, which
include awards that should have been granted
earlier if not for such administrative or compliance
reasons but had to wait for a subsequent batch.
In such case, the vesting period may be shorter to
reflect the time from which the awards would
have been granted;

grants of awards with a mixed or accelerated
vesting schedule such as where the awards may
vest evenly over a period of 12 months;

grants of awards with a total vesting and holding
period of more than 12 months; and
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()  the circumstances in relation to (i) general offer to
acquire Shares being made to the Shareholders
pursuant to the Takeovers Code; (ii) the
Company’s voluntary wind up; and (iii)
compromise or arrangement between the
Company and its members or creditors being
proposed in connection with a scheme for the
reconstruction of the Company or amalgamation
of the Company with another company or
companies, the details of which are set out in the
circular of the Company dated 15 November
2023.

No awards have been granted, cancelled or lapsed
under the Share Award Scheme (New Shares) since its
adoption and up to the date of this annual report. The
number of awards available for grant under the Share
Award Scheme (New Shares) at the end of 2023 was
25,000,000 Shares. There is no service provider
sublimit under the Share Award Scheme (New Shares).

As no awards have been granted during the Reporting
Period, the number of Shares that may be issued in
respect of the awards granted under the Share Award
Scheme (New Shares) during the Reporting Period
divided by the weighted average number of Shares in
issue for the Reporting Period is not applicable.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock
Exchange on 11 November 2022. The net proceeds from the
Global Offering amounted to approximately HK$216.4
million. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company applied the net proceeds from the Global Offering
in accordance with the intended use and expected timetable
disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The remaining proceeds from
the Global Offering will continue to be utilized in accordance
with the disclosure and proportion set out in the Prospectus.
Summary of the use of proceeds is as follows:
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Utilized
amount of net
Unutilized proceeds
amount of net during the Unutilized  Expected
proceeds  twelve months amount of net  timetable for the
as at ended proceeds as of use of the
31 December 31 December 31 December  unutilized
Estimate 2022 2023 2023  proceeds
R2022F  REZE2023F R2023%F
12A31A Lk 12A318 L 12A31A L
A8BA t=-EAEBA ABA AEARERE
BE  ABRERE  FENEFR FERERE RARER
1 To be used to enhance our sales HK$81.2 million ~ HK$67.5 million ~ HK$59.3 million HK$8.2 million By the end of
and branding capabilities, among 2025
which,
RITR P BE R e R e B12BEEL  675EEET  593AEAT B2EBBTL 20255 FR
Hr
. to be used to procure HK$65.2 million ~ HK$51.8 million ~ HK$51.8 million HK$0 million By the end of
Amazon advertising 2025
solution
 ARRBLSEESRRT 65288 S18EEET  518HEAER 0BEAT 202555K
ES
. to be used to procure HK$8.0 million HK$7.8 million HK$7.5 million HK$0.3 million By the end of
advertising services on 2025
other third-party
e-commerce platforms
o ARRBAMBE=EART BOEERT T8EEAT T5AERT 03BEBTL 2025545 RK
BMEERY
. to be used to place HK$8.0 million HK$7.9 million HK$0 million HK$7.9 million By the end of
advertisement on leading 2025
social media platforms and
procure other marketing
solutions
o FARERENHRERTAR 8OEEET T9EEETL 0B8R TOREAT 2025FFK

BRS RRB AL HE
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Utilized
amount of net
Unutilized proceeds
amount of net during the Unutilized  Expected
proceeds  twelve months amount of net  timetable for the
as at ended proceeds as of use of the
31 December 31 December 31 December  unutilized
Estimate 2022 2023 2023  proceeds
R2022F  REZ2023F 20235
12A318 L 12A318 L 12A31A L
X8R t=-EAEBA ABR  AKERFERE
BE  AEREEE FENERER FERERE RARER
2 Tobe used to enhance our supply ~ HK$61.9 million ~ HK$59.1 million ~ HK$23.4 million ~ HK$35.7 million By the end of
chain management system, 2025
among which,
ARTERMOREREERG 61.9REBET  59.1BEET  2B4BE#ET  SBIAEBET 205FFK
He
. to be used to establish our ~ HK$47.2 million ~ HK$44.7 million ~ HK$22.4 million ~ HK$22.3 million By the end of
own smart logistics and 2025
warehousing system
o FBRBURMBEEHME  47288RT  MIEEET  224BEET 23FEET  20255FFK
LERES
. to be used to upgrade our ~ HK$14.7 million ~ HK$14.4 million HK$1 million ~ HK$13.4 million By the end of
existing warehouses 2025
management
. ARTHEBPRANEEE WTEEAT UAREAET 1BEET 1BAAEET 2025FFK
i
3 To be used for the establishment HK$50.4 million ~ HK$50.2 million ~ HK$21.9 million ~ HK$28.3 million By the end of
of large-scale independent 2025
self-operated online stores on our
proprietary websites; among
which,
ARERMNEER LRTAR 504HEAT  502BEET  219AEET  283FEAT 2025FFK
BUBEML: Hh
o to be used to procure HK$48.9 million ~ HK$48.8 million ~ HK$21.5 million ~ HK$27.3 million By the end of
marketing solutions for 2025
large-scale independent
self-operated online stores
and place advertisement
on leading social media
platforms
. AR REARLIET B 24805 489BEET  488EEETL  25BEET  273EEAET 202BFFK
HEHER T RREREN
HRERT A LRIES
o to be used to procure HK$1.5 million HK$1.4 million HK$0.4 million HK$1 million By the end of
servers and other relevant 2025
equipment to support the
operation of the large-
scale independent
self-operated online stores
o ARRERBHEEHER 1588AT 1T4REAT 04BERT 1BEBTL 20265 4K
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Utilized
amount of net
Unutilized proceeds
amount of net during the Unutilized  Expected
proceeds  twelve months amount of net  timetable for the
as at ended proceeds asof use of the
31 December 31 December 31 December  unutilized
Estimate 2022 2023 2023  proceeds
R2022F  REBE2023F #2023
12A31H Lt 12A31H Lt 12A318 Lt
ABR t+=EAEHA ABR  AREAMERE
BE RENRERE RERERE FERERE HHREX
To be used to enhance our HK$11.4 million ~ HK$11.1 million HK$1.7 million HK$9.4 million By the end of
product research and 2025
development capabilities, among
which,
ARRARMOERREEH B 1MA4BERT 1MIBEET 17TBERT VAREBT 2025FFK
o
. to be used to establish and HK$6.5 million HK$6.4 million HK$1.3 million HK$5.1 million By the end of
upgrade our intelligent 2025
platforms
J AREY R RE AN SR 65EEET 6AREET 13BE8T S1AEBT 20254 K
. to be used to upgrade and HK$4.9 million HK$4.7 million HK$0.4 million HK$4.3 million By the end of
establish research and 2025
development center
. AR RRRIIFRES O 49BEHBT ATREAET 0AREHET A3AREBT  2025F 4K
To be used for the upgrade and HK$11.5 million ~ HK$11.1 million HK$6.3 million HK$4.8 million By the end of
procurement of our IT 2025
infrastructure in the next three
years
ARAR=EARREERMAIT 115888 1MIBEAT 6.3 &AL 48BEAET 2025FFK
AR
Total HK$216.4 million HK$199 million  HK$112.6 million ~ HK$86.4 million
Mt 2164 BB 19EEET  1126B8%T 864 EET
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

For the Reporting Period, except for an aggregate of
3,446,500 Shares purchased by the trustee under the Share
Award Scheme (Existing Shares) on the Stock Exchange at a
total amount of HK$17,448,685 in accordance with the rules
of the Share Award Scheme (Existing Shares) and the terms
of the trust deed, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
shares of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Award Scheme (New Shares), during the
Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the Reporting
Period, no equity-linked agreements, which will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or which require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares, were entered into by
the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principles of the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 74 to 99 of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules requires that at least 25%
of the total issued share capital of an issuer must be held by
the public at any time. Based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the Directors, the Company has, during the year and up to
the date of this annual report, maintained a public float of
not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the relevant laws of the Cayman
Islands where the Company is incorporated which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the Shares.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s charitable
donations amounted to RMB1.1 million (2022: nil).

AUDITOR

The Company has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as
the auditor of the Company for the Reporting Period. The
Company has not changed its auditor during the past three
financial years.

The other sections, reports or notes of this report mentioned
above form an integral part of this Directors’ Report.

By order of the Board
Hua Bingru
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices and business ethics, and
believes that they are essential to enhancing the efficiency
and performance of the Group and safeguarding the
interests of Shareholders. The Board reviews the Group’s
corporate governance practices from time to time to meet
the expectations of stakeholders, comply with regulatory
requirements, and fulfill its commitment to corporate
governance. The following sets out the corporate
governance principles adopted by the Company during the
Reporting Period.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard Shareholders’ rights,
enhance corporate value, develop business strategies and
policies, and improve transparency and accountability of the
Company.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the principles and provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code as amended from time to time, which are
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. During the
Reporting Period, the Company has complied with the
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, except for
the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code. Pursuant to such provision, the roles of
the chairman and the chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. Details
of this deviation are set out in the sub-section headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” below.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices
of the Company to comply with the Corporate Governance
Code and maintain high standards of corporate governance.
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CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

We focus on selling apparel and footwear products through
the third-party e-commerce platform and self-operated
online stores and endeavour to become a world renowned
e-commerce fashion brand to meet our global customers’
fashion needs on a timely and seamless basis.

The Group primarily focuses on its self-designed fashionable
apparel and footwear products. In the operation of
third-party platforms and self-operated online stores, we
realize one-stop commodity publishing, testing, precise
promotion, inventory allocation and intelligent customer
service through the self-developed digital operation system,
which maximizes customer satisfaction while improving
operational efficiency.

Adhering to the people-oriented management concept, the
Group acknowledges the importance of talents as its
primary productive force, and recruits talents based on
merits and capabilities without any restriction. An innovative
talent mechanism is adopted to stimulate their creativity. We
also emphasize and promote values of acting lawfully,
ethically and responsibly within the Group.

BOARD
() Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for overseeing the business,
strategic decision-making and performance of the
Group, and shall make decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board shall regularly review the contributions of
Directors in fulfilling their responsibilities to the
Company and whether they have devoted sufficient
time to perform their duties. The composition of the
Board reflects the necessary balance in the
Company’s ability to demonstrate effective leadership
and independent decision-making skills and
experience.
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The Board is responsible for fulfilling corporate
governance functions, including: (1) formulating and
reviewing the Company’s corporate governance
policies and procedures, and making
recommendations; (2) reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; (3) reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and procedures for
compliance with laws and regulatory requirements; (4)
formulating, reviewing and monitoring codes of
conduct and compliance manuals applicable to
employees and Directors; and (5) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with corporate governance
rules and disclosure in the corporate governance
report. During the Reporting Period, the Board has
actively fulfilled its corporate governance
responsibilities. For specific implementation, please
refer to the disclosure in this corporate governance

report.

(i) Composition of the Board

As of the end of the Reporting Period, the Board
consists of seven Directors, including three executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors
are elected for a term of three years and are subject to

re-election.

The biographical and relationship of the Directors are
set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report on pages 28 to 40.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management”, there are no other significant
financial, business, familial or other relevant

relationships between the Directors.
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(iii) Chairman and Chief Executive

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Currently, Mr. Hua
Bingru (“Mr. Hua”) serves as the chairman of the Board
and the co-chief executive officer of the Company.

Mr. Hua is the founder of the Group, the chairman of
the Board and the co-chief executive officer of the
Company. He has been primarily responsible for
formulating the overall corporate and business
strategies and overseeing the management and
operation of the Group. The Directors consider that
vesting the roles of both the chairman of the Board and
the co-chief executive officer of the Company in Mr.
Hua is beneficial to the business prospects of the
Group by ensuring consistent leadership to the Group
as well as prompt and effective decision making and
implementation. In addition, given that: (i) decisions to
be made by the Board require approval by at least a
majority of the Directors; (ii) Mr. Hua and the other
Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfil their
fiduciary duties as Directors, which require, among
other things, that he acts for the benefit and in the best
interests of the Company and will make decisions for
the Company accordingly; (iii) the balance of power
and authority is ensured by the operations of the
Board, which consists of three executive Directors
(including Mr. Hua), one non-executive Director and
three independent non-executive Directors, and has a
fairly strong independence element; and (iv) the overall
strategic and other key business, financial, and
operational policies of the Company are made after
thorough discussions at both Board and senior
management levels, the Directors believed that such
structure will not impair the balance and authority
between the Board and the management.
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(iv) Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board has complied
with the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules by appointing at least three
independent non-executive Directors, among whom at
least one possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or relevant financial

management expertise.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has also
complied with the requirement under Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules that at least one-third of the members of
the Board should be independent non-executive

Directors.

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, each
independent non-executive Director has made a
written confirmation of independence, and the
Company considers all independent non-executive

Directors to be independent persons.

(v) Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each Director has entered into a service contract (for
executive Director) or received a letter of appointment
(for non-executive Director/independent non-executive
Director) with a specific term of three years, which may
be renewed subject to mutual agreement and
compliance with the provisions of the Articles of

Association.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the
Company may from time to time, by ordinary resolution
at a general meeting, elect any person to be a Director
(including the managing Director or any other executive

Director).

In accordance with the Articles of Association, each
Director (including those appointed with a specific
term) must retire by rotation at least once every three
years. Retiring Directors are eligible for re-election. The
Company may fill any vacancy in such office resulting

from a Director’s retirement at a general meeting.
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(vi) Board Meetings and General Meetings

The Board will hold meetings from time to time as
necessary, including regular meetings defined by the
Corporate Governance Code and other board
meetings. Prior to the meetings, appropriate notice and
board documents have been sent to all Directors in
accordance with the Articles of Association and
Corporate Governance Code. To facilitate flexibility,
the Board holds meetings as needed. In addition to
board meetings, senior management of the Group
provides information on the Group’s business activities
and development to Directors from time to time, and
the Board passes written resolutions as needed.
Furthermore, the Board has established the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee to monitor specific affairs of the
Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, bring extensive and valuable business
experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board,
enabling it to operate efficiently and effectively.

On 20 December 2023, the Chairman of the Company
held a meeting with independent non-executive
Directors without the attendance of any other
Directors.

Notice of all regular board meetings must be given to
all Directors at least 14 days before the meeting, to
give all Directors an opportunity to attend regular
meetings and submit matters to be discussed on the
agenda. As for other ad hoc board and committee
meetings, reasonable notices are generally given to the
Directors by the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, each Director’s
attendance of Board meetings, meetings of

committees and general meetings is as follows:

BEHA SEFSHRESTSS
& ZEggRMERAESHER

WmTrk :

Number of meetings attended in person/required to attend

BILE/BELRERNY
Numberof ~ Number of meetings of committees attended
Board LEEZEEERNAY
General meetings Audit  Remuneration ~ Nomination
Meetings attended ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee
LEESE
REAE  E€RNRE  EHZEE  HMZEE  RezEg
Executive Directors y17gs
Mr. Hua Bingru ERMEE 2 55  NARER  NATER 1
Mr. Wang Weiping HETAE 202 55  NATEE  NATER  NATER
Mr. Dong Zhenguo ERELE 20 55  NATER  NATER  NATER
Mr. Wang Shijan (resignedon T 5815 £ (ER2023E
3 November 2023) 11 A3AER) i 55 NANER  NATER  NATER
Mr. Xu Shijian (resigned on XA (ER20235
3 November 2023) 11A3EEM) 17 505 NATER NATER NATER
Non-executive Director FUTES
Ms. Hua Hui 3 3 212 505 NATNER NATNER NATER
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Yu Kefei AnRLE 22 5/5 44 22 11
Mr. Shen Tianfeng TEE%E 112 5/ 4/4 20 1
Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles BEREL 22 5/5 4/4 22 1

Board documents and all appropriate, complete and
reliable information are usually provided to all Directors
at least three days before each regular board or
committee meeting, allowing them to keep abreast of
the latest developments and financial status of the
Company, and enabling them to make informed
decisions. In necessary cases, the Board and individual
Directors may also contact senior management
separately and independently.

The company secretary is responsible for keeping
records of all board and committee meetings. Draft
minutes of the meetings are usually circulated to the
Directors for comment within a reasonable time after
each meeting, and the final version of the minutes is
made available to the Directors for inspection.

D

i%AX#M&ﬁﬁﬁ - TE
ASEENRATENSERESEE®
m&éﬁaamﬁﬂﬁzm—%k
ERES  FESFTHARAIN
XATENRE R B SR - B 1R FF e
EHAIBERE - EVEBFRAT - &
EERBTESNA DR RE L EE
SRERE -

>>\¢i

NEMERER Tﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁ%‘\&é
EEeea3ngdntt RHE
“-ﬂﬁ@ﬁ(‘i/\f;%& BEER
FMAHEEER  EFFFELREMR
BR O MERTHENERITART
EXEM-



2023FE¥HE FAREBERAFRAA

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(vii) Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views of

Directors

To ensure that the Board can obtain independent
views and opinions, our Company has established
various formal and informal channels whereby
independent non-executive Directors can express their
opinions in an open and candid manner, and in a
confidential manner, should circumstances require.

Independent non-executive Directors provide
constructive suggestions to the Board based on
objective judgment through formal and informal
channels to improve the efficiency and
decision-making of the Board. According to the rules of
proceedings of the Board, the views of independent
non-executive Directors shall be recorded separately
for resolutions which require independent non-
executive Directors to express their special views. If
the views of independent non-executive Directors are
inconsistent, their views shall be recorded respectively.
For resolutions which are required to be disclosed, the
views of independent non-executive Directors shall be
disclosed separately.

The Remuneration Committee is authorised by the
Board, at the Company’s expense but subject to prior
discussion with the Board on costs, to obtain external
legal or other independent professional advice if it
considers necessary.

In addition, our Company implements an independent
non-executive Director system in accordance with the
rules of proceedings of the Board. Independent non-
executive Directors must be Directors who do not hold
any other positions within our Company and do not
have any relationships with our Company or its
substantial Shareholders that may hinder their
independence and objective judgment.
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The independence of the independent non-executive
Directors’ shall be assessed upon appointment,
annually and at any other time where the
circumstances warrant reconsideration. Our Company
reviews the independence of each independent
non-executive Director from time to time. If any
changes in personal information are found that may
affect their independence, the Stock Exchange shall be
notified as soon as possible. The Nomination
Committee is authorized to review the implementation
and effectiveness of the assessment system annually.

(viii) Board Diversity

We recognise that Board diversity is an essential
element contributing to the sustainable development of
the Company. The Company has adopted the board
diversity policy in October 2022, which emphasizes
and provides that the Board diversity should be
considered from various perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, and tenure, when determining the
composition of board members. All appointments to
the Board shall be based on the principle of
meritocracy, with objective criteria used to evaluate
candidates, fully taking into account the benefits of
board member diversity.
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In 2023 and as at the date of this annual report, Our
Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills,
including overall management and strategic
development, business operation, accounting and
financial management, legal compliance and sales and
marketing. They have obtained degrees in various
majors, including in electronic science, marketing and
planning, law and accounting. We have three
independent non-executive Directors with different
industry backgrounds, representing one-third of the
Board. In addition, our Board has a wide range of age,
ranging from 35 years old to 68 years old. For gender
diversity, our non-executive Director and both of the
joint company secretaries are female. Taking into
account our existing business mode and specific
needs as well as the different background of our
Directors, we are of the view that the composition of
our Board satisfies our board diversity policy. The
Board aims to maintain at least the current level of
female representation, with gender equality as the
ultimate goal. If suitable candidates are identified in the
future, the Board will continue to seek opportunities to
increase the proportion of female members.

The Board also recognizes the importance of diversity
at the workforce level. As at 31 December 2023, the
gender ratio in our workforce for male and female
employees were 34% and 66 %, respectively.

Further details in relation to the number of the
Company’s employees by gender as at 31 December
2023 is set out in the section headed “Summary of
Information on Sustainable Development” in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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(ix)

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure,
size and diversity of members of the Board, and the
criteria for selecting non-executive Director candidates
as well as the board diversity policy, to ensure that the
Board composition was in compliance with the Listing
Rules throughout the year of 2023. The Nomination
Committee will report on the diversity of the Board’s
composition in the corporate governance report
annually and oversee the implementation of the policy.
The Nomination Committee will review the policy as
appropriate to ensure its effectiveness and discuss any
necessary amendments, which will be proposed to the
Board for approval. The selection of candidates will be
based on various diversity criteria, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, and tenure. The final decision shall be
made based on the merits and contributions that the
candidate can bring to the Board.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Company has established policies and systems
that promote and support anti-corruption laws and
regulations, which contains internal rules and
guidelines regarding best commercial practice, work
ethics, fraud prevention mechanisms, anti-negligence
and anti-corruption. We also carry out regular
compliance training to our senior management and
employees to maintain a healthy corporate culture and
enhance their compliance perception and
responsibility. Our staff can anonymously report any
suspected corruption incident to the Company.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has also established a whistleblowing
policy and system for employees and those who deal
with the Company (e.g. customers or suppliers) to raise
concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit
Committee or the Board about possible improprieties
in any matter related to the Company.

(i)
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(xi) Remunerations of the Directors and Senior
Management

The Company has established a set of formal and
transparent procedures for formulating the
remuneration policy of the Directors and senior
management of the Group.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the Corporate
Governance Code, for the year ended 31 December
2023, details of the remuneration of senior
management (excluding Directors) are as follows:

TRERRSE

xi) EEREREEE 2 FHH

ARARERFIENREES MER
EEEFMBRREL -EEARE
BREIRFF o

BB FEEGTASFAMEXEEAS
&+ Bt E£2023F12H31H IEF
B SRhEEE(ESHKRIN HE
E3=g N

Number of
individuals
Range of remunerations FNEE A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/% 7T 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T 1

Details of the remunerations of the Directors are set out
in Note 34 of the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

(xii) Continuous Professional Development of the
Directors

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the Directors shall participate in
continuous professional development and enhance
their knowledge and skills. The Company provides
comprehensive induction materials, including an
overview of the duties of a director of a Hong Kong
listed company, the Articles of Association and the
Director’s responsibilities guidance issued by the
Companies Registry, to ensure that new Directors are
well aware of their duties under the Listing Rules and
other regulatory requirements.
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The company secretary periodically provides written
updates to the Directors on the latest changes and
updates to the Listing Rules, corporate governance
practices and other regulatory requirements, and
arranges seminars to explain the latest professional
knowledge and regulatory requirements related to

duties of the Directors.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the requirements for continuous professional
development in 2023. Details of the training that the
Directors have received during the Reporting Period

are listed below:

REMETKAESTEmMER LT
RA BRERERLEMEE
BZ&mMEBBNER > WLHEHR
CRBAMEERECERANE N
EERENRHER

BERANEN2023F 2 BTHE
HEERET - UTHINESHE
BN I 2 5515

Monthly Law and

Regulation
Updates and
Regulatory Professional
Dynamics trainingh°t
BREEER
Name of Director EEnA BEHREERE HEFIE
Mr. Hua Bingru ERMELE v/ v/
Mr. Wang Weiping TR EE v v
Mr. Dong Zhenguo EIREE £ v/ v
Ms. Hua Hui EZu+ v/ v
Mr. Yu Kefei Al AR A v v
Mr. Shen Tianfeng o A v v
Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles ZIfEpiE+ v v/
Mr. Wang Shijian THRlLE
(resigned on 3 November 2023) (7A2023%
11 A3H &) v
Mr. Xu Shijian ®mAREE
(resigned on 3 November 2023) (7420234
11 A3B &) v v

Note: On 14 December 2023, all Directors of the Company
attended a training session on “Updates on the
Amendments to the Listing Rules in 2023” provided

by the Company’s Hong Kong legal adviser.
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(xiii) Securities Transactions Made by the
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct for securities transactions made by the
Directors. After making specific inquiries to all
Directors, they confirmed that they complied with the
provisions of the Model Code during the Reporting
Period.

Due to the fact that designated employees (including
senior management) may from time to time be privy to
inside information, the Company has extended the
scope of the securities code of conduct to include
such employees.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee (collectively referred to as the
“Board Committees”), each of which has been authorized
by and reports to the Board. The roles and functions of
these committees are set out in their respective terms of
reference. The terms of reference of each committee will be
reviewed from time to time to ensure that they continue to
meet the Company’s needs and comply with the Corporate
Governance Code as appropriate. The terms of reference of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee in
compliance with the Listing Rules and Corporate
Governance Code. The Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. Yu Kefei,
Mr. Shen Tianfeng and Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles. The
chairperson of the Audit Committee is Mr. Yu Kefei, who is
an independent non-executive Director, has appropriate
accounting and relevant financial management expertise
and is appropriately qualified as required under Rule 3.10(2)
and Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the Corporate
Governance Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting procedures, risk management and internal control
system of the Group, assist the Board to fulfill its
responsibility over the audit, and to advise the Board.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year, or at
such frequency as required under the Listing Rules or other
regulatory requirements applicable to the Company from
time to time.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 4
meetings and considered the following resolutions
(including, without limitation): to consider and propose to the
Board of the Company for approval of the consolidated
financial report, results announcement and annual report of
the Group for the year 2022; to consider and propose to the
Board of the Company for approval of the unaudited
financial statements, interim results announcement and
interim report of the Group for the six months ended 30
June 2023; and to review the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control. In addition, the Audit
Committee also conducted audit planning meetings with the
auditors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee
in compliance with the Listing Rules and Corporate
Governance Code. Remuneration Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. Shen
Tianfeng, Mr. Yu Kefei and Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles. The
chairperson of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Shen
Tianfeng.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach
under code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the Corporate
Governance Code to make recommendations to the Board
on remuneration packages of the Directors and the
members of senior management.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendations to the Board on
our policy and structure concerning remuneration of our
Directors and members of the senior management; (ii)
making recommendations to the Board on the specific
remuneration package of each Director and members of the
senior management; (iii) reviewing and approving
compensations payable to executive Directors and members
of senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual
terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; (iv) reviewing
and approving compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of any Director for his or her
misconduct to ensure that such arrangements are consistent
with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate; (v) other responsibilities as authorized by our
Board; and (vi) reviewing and/or approving matters related to
share schemes as described in Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the
existing remuneration policies and structures, and evaluated
the performance of each Director during the Reporting
Period.
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The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once
annually or at such frequency as required under the Listing
Rules or other regulatory requirements applicable to the
Company from time to time.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
held 2 meetings and considered the following resolutions
(including, without limitation): to review the remuneration
policies and structures; to review the remuneration
packages of Directors and members of senior management,
and to review and adopt the Share Award Scheme (Existing
Shares) and the Share Award Scheme (New Shares).

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination Committee in
compliance with the Listing Rules and Corporate
Governance Code. The Nomination Committee consists of
four Directors, being Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles, Mr. Yu Kefei
and Mr. Shen Tianfeng, all being independent non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Hua Bingru, an executive Director. The
chairperson of the Nomination Committee is Dr. Lau Kin
Shing Charles.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include,
among others, reviewing the structure, size and composition
of the Board annually, and advising on any changes of the
Board proposed in accordance with the strategies of the
Company; identifying, selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships; making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment and re-appointment of our Directors;
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and other responsibilities as authorized by the
Board. The Nomination Committee shall hold at least one
meeting a year to discuss matters such as the structure, size
and composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee
believed that an appropriate balance has been maintained in
terms of the diversity of the Board.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
held 1 meeting and considered the following resolutions
(including, without limitation): to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board; to review the Director
nomination policy; to assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors; to assess time
commitments of Directors; and to make recommendations
to the shareholders’ meeting on the re-election of Directors.

On 21 March 2024, the Nomination Committee has held a
meeting to consider the proposed nomination of Mr. Chen
as a co-chief executive officer of the Company and
recommended to the Board in regard of his appointment.
The nomination committee also recommended to the Board
the re-designation of Mr. Hua as co-chief executive officer.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for supervising the overall
management, overseeing our strategic planning and
monitoring business and performance, as well as exercising
other powers, functions and duties as conferred by the
Articles of Association.

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
day-to-day operation of our Group to the executive Directors
and senior management of the Company. The functions and
power that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to
ensure that they remain appropriate.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and
is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of such
systems. The risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of not
achieving business objectives and can only provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that there are no
material misstatements or losses. The Board, with the
assistance of the Audit Committee and the Company’s
management, monitors the degree of such risks.
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The Company has adopted a series of risk management
policies, measures and procedures designated to provide
the management and staff of the Group to identify, assess,
handle, monitor and communicate on key risks including
strategic, financial, operational and compliance risks as well
as those relating to environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting. The Board shall be responsible
for assessing and determining the nature and scope of risks
that the Company is willing to assume in pursuit of its
strategic objectives. The Board should oversee the
management’s design, implementation, and monitoring of
risk management and internal control systems, and ensure
that the Company has put in place and maintained
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems.

The Board shall monitor risk management and internal
control systems of the Company from time to time, and
ensure to review the effectiveness of the Company and its
subsidiaries’ risk management and internal control systems
at least once a year, and the results of which shall be
reported to the Shareholders in the corporate governance
report. The review shall cover all significant aspects of
control, including financial, operational, and compliance
controls. When conducting the annual review, the Board
shall ensure that the Company has adequate resources,
qualifications, and experience in accounting, internal audit,
and financial reporting functions, as well as sufficient
training programs for its staff. The Board has conducted a
review of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group during the Reporting Period through the Audit
Committee, and is of the opinion that the systems are
adequate and effective.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company has established
an internal audit department to carry out its internal audit
functions by assisting the Board to implement the Group’s
risk management framework. The internal audit department
is also required to review the continued connected
transactions periodically (if any) and perform sampling
inspections to ensure the internal control procedures were
followed. The work of the internal audit department will be
reviewed by the Audit Committee and the Board annually.

The risk assessment process of the Company consists of
five essential steps, mainly including establishing the risk
management philosophy and risk tolerance levels, setting
objectives, identifying risks, conducting risk analysis, and
evaluating risks. The Company shall consider the results of
the risk analysis in conjunction with its risk tolerance, so as
to maintain a balance between risk and return. By making
use of risk management strategies including risk avoidance,
risk mitigation, risk sharing, and risk acceptance, the
Company has achieved effective risk control.

In accordance with the applicable PRC and Hong Kong laws
and regulations, we have implemented measures with a view
to establishing and maintaining our internal control system,
including monitoring of operational processes, the
establishment of risk management policies and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. In particular:

o our Directors have attended trainings conducted by our
Hong Kong legal adviser on the ongoing obligations,
duties and responsibilities of directors of publicly listed
companies under the Companies Ordinance, the SFO
and the Listing Rules and the Directors are fully aware
of their duties and responsibilities as directors of a
listed company in Hong Kong; and

o we have appointed a compliance adviser pursuant to
Rule 3A.19 of the Listing Rules to ensure that we are
properly guided and advised as to compliance with the
Listing Rules and all other applicable laws, rules, codes
and guidelines.
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The Board has received confirmation from management for
the Reporting Period that:

o The financial records have been properly maintained
and the financial statements provide a true and fair
view of the operations and financial condition of the
Group; and

° The risk management and internal control systems of
the Group are effective and adequate.

DISCLOSURE PROCEDURES OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company understands and strictly adheres to the
current applicable laws, regulations and guidelines,
including complying with requirements for disclosure of
inside information under the SFO and the Listing Rules when
conducting relevant transactions, as well as adhering to the
Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission. The Group has adopted
the inside information and insider management system,
established an authorization and accountability system in
respect of inside information as well as the handling and
publication procedures, and has communicated and
provided specialized training on the implementation of
continuous disclosure policies to all relevant personnel. The
Board is of the opinion that handling and publication
procedures and measures in respect of inside information of
the Company are effective.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors confirm their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities for the financial
statements is included in the independent auditor’s report
on pages 156 to 164 of this annual report.

DIVIDENDS POLICY

Subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association and
without prejudice to any special rights or restrictions for the
time being attached to any shares or any class of shares
(including preference shares), any share may be issued with
or have attached to it such preferential, deferred or other
qualified or special rights, or such restrictions, whether with
regard to dividend, voting, return of capital or otherwise, as
the Company may by ordinary resolution determine (or, in
the absence of any such determination or so far as the same
may not make specific provision, as the Board may
determine). Any share may be issued on terms that, upon
the happening of a specified event or upon a given date and
either at the option of the Company or the holder of the
share, it is liable to be redeemed. The shares issued must
not be issued in bearer form.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the
recommendation of the Board and is determined and
restricted by various factors, including our business and
financial performance, capital and regulatory requirements
and general business conditions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid/payable
to the independent auditor of the Company,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, for the provision of audit service
and non-audit services are as below:

BY R

R|EMA KRR EZBKBERT
Bif 5765 BT (781X B B0 38 37 12 80Rm ) 1R (1 4%
B BRI B BB & a0
AR

Fee paid/payable

B,/ ENEA
Services RMB'000
PR 7% ARET T
Audit service ZH RS 3,141
Non-audit services® IEZ B ARTFO 543
Total KEt 3,684

(1) Including tax advice of annual transfer pricing strategies on
cross-border intra-Group transactions and other tax advices.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

We have appointed Ms. Zheng Huanxin (“Ms. Zheng”) as
one of the joint company secretaries. Ms. Zheng joined the
Group in September 2017 and has served as the legal
counsel of the Group since then. Ms. Zheng has extensive
knowledge about our business operations and corporate
culture and has extensive experience in matters concerning
the Board and our corporate governance. However, Ms.
Zheng does not possess the specified qualifications strictly
required by Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. Therefore, we
have also appointed Ms. Yu Anne (“Ms. Yu”), who meets the
requirements under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, to act as
the other joint company secretary. For more details of Ms.
Zheng’s and Ms. Yu’s biographies, see the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

Ms. Zheng Huanxin is the primary point of contact of the
Company for Ms. Yu.

During the Reporting Period, each of Ms. Zheng and Ms. Yu
has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of an Extraordinary General Meeting
by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may convene an extraordinary general meeting as
necessary. One or more Shareholders who together hold not
less than one-tenth of the voting rights of the Company
(based on one vote per share) may also request the
convening of an extraordinary general meeting and/or add
any resolution(s) to the agenda of such a meeting. Such a
request must be made in writing to the Board or the
company secretary to request the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting to deal with any matter
specified in the request. The meeting shall be held within
two months after the request is made. If the Board fails to
convene such a meeting within 21 days after the request is
made, the requesting Shareholder(s) may convene the
meeting in the same manner, and the Company shall
reimburse the requesting Shareholder(s) for all reasonable
expenses incurred as a result of the Board’s failure to
convene the meeting.

Procedure for Shareholders to Propose
Resolutions at General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 65 of the Articles of Association, the
notice of the annual general meeting of the Company must
be issued in writing at least 21 days in advance, while the
notice of any other general meeting of the Company must be
issued in writing at least 14 days in advance. The notice
period does not include the day of delivery or deemed
delivery or the day of issue of the notice, and must specify
the location, date, time and agenda of the meeting, as well
as details of the matters to be decided upon. If there are any
special items (as defined in Article 67), the general nature of
such items must also be specified.
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Procedure for Shareholders to Forward
Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders and investors who wish to make inquiries to
the Board regarding the Company may send such inquiries
to the headquarters of the Company at the following
address:

Address: No. 108, Xincheng Road, Nanyuan Street, Linping
District, Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC

Contact Person and Telephone: Ms. Xie Lili, +86571—
86166396

Email Address: ir@zbycorp.com

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company is committed to safeguarding the interests of
our Shareholders and believes that effective communication
with Shareholders and other stakeholders is crucial to
strengthening investor relations and promoting understanding
of our business performance and strategies.

The Board has adopted a shareholder communication policy
with an aim to ensure that Shareholders and potential
investors of the Company have timely access to
comprehensive, consistent and easily understandable
information about the Company. This enables the
Shareholders to exercise their rights with knowledge, and
also allows them and potential investors to engage actively
with the Company. The Company has a dedicated team
responsible for the management of investor relations. The
Company places great emphasis on website development
and adheres to the information disclosure requirements of
the Stock Exchange, ensuring timely and accurate
information disclosure and the release of various business
updates and data. The Company continuously improves its
website pages in accordance with the latest regulations of
the Listing Rules, enabling investors to keep abreast of the
Company’s latest developments. Detailed information on
various business operations of the Group as well as
announcements on interim and annual results can be
downloaded from the company website. The Company has
also set up an official WeChat account to facilitate easy
access to the latest update of the Company for investors.
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The Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of its shareholder communication policy during
the Reporting Period, and has established the investor
relations website, ir.zbycorp.com, as the communication
platform between the Company and its shareholders and
investors. The Company believes that its shareholder
communication policy has been effectively implemented.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON THE
COMPANY’S WEBSITE

To facilitate effective communication, the Company
maintains the website, https://www.zbycorp.com, which
provides information about our business development,
product center, investor relations and other information for
public reference.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not made
any changes to its Articles of Association. The latest version of
the Articles of Association is available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.zbycorp.com), respectively.

On 27 March 2024, the Board proposed to update the
Articles of Association. For details, please refer to the
section headed “Subsequent Events” of this report.
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1.

ABOUT THE REPORT

Introduction

Zibuyu Group Limited (“Zibuyu” or the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are pleased to publish the
second Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(the “Report”). The Report discloses the strategies,
measures and achievements of the Group in respect of
sustainable development, enabling us to report our
performance in terms of environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) aspects to stakeholders.

This Report is prepared in accordance with the
mandatory disclosure requirements and “comply or
explain” provisions set out in Appendix C2
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” (the “Guide”) to the Listing Rules issued by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), and based on the reporting principles
under the Guide.

Materiality:

BARA®E
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This Report has disclosed the process for identifying material ESG issues and the

standards for selecting these factors as well as the communication channels with
major stakeholders and the process of identifying material issues.
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Quantitative:

The statistical standards, methods, assumptions and/or calculation tools used for

ESG key performance indicators (“KPIs”) and related data in this Report, as well
as the sources of conversion factors, are described in the definitions of this

Report.
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Balance: This Report presents the performance of the Group during the Reporting Period
impartially. It aims to avoid choice, omission, or presentation formats that may
influence readers’ decisions making and judgments.

1 RENMr MR EERE AN FTIERER - &

ERRIHEHEE  ERIEZREA -

Consistency:

The statistical methods used for the data disclosed in the Report remain

consistent with last year. Any changes will be clearly explained in the Report.

— I BEBRBRIBEAERNRT DZGEREFRE - - MEEE - HRRETBR

B o
Reporting period and scope

This Report covers the ESG works and various KPls
during the disclosure period from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2023 (the “Year” or “Reporting Period”). The
disclosure scope of the social aspect in this Report is
the same as that in the annual report, while the
disclosure scope of the environment aspect includes
our office areas and warehouses (if any) in Hangzhou in
Zhejiang, Huzhou in Zhejiang, Guangzhou in
Guangdong, Shenzhen in Guangdong, Dongguan in
Guangdong, Qianshan in Anhui, Xiamen in Fujian and
Hong Kong.

Reporting languages

This Report is prepared in traditional Chinese and
English. In case of any discrepancies between the
Chinese and the English versions, the traditional
Chinese version shall prevail.
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Approval and confirmation

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Group
assumes full responsibility for the contents of this
Report, and confirmed and approved the contents of
this Report on 27 March 2024.

Publication

Electronic version of this Report is published on
the websites of the Group and the Stock
Exchange, and readers could view or download the
Report on the website of the Stock Exchange
(https://www.hkexnews.hk/).

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

Zibuyu believes that promoting the long-term and
stable development of the Company requires
establishing a comprehensive ESG management
system. We are committed to environmental protection
and taking measures to support corporate social
responsibility. We have formulated and continuously
optimize our ESG policies and governance structure to
achieve sustainable development, fulfill our corporate
citizenship duties, and create shared value for
stakeholders in respect of ESG.
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2.1 Statement of the Board 21 EEEEH

The Board is responsible for identifying,
assessing, and managing ESG and
climate-related risks within the Group. The Board
assumes full responsibility for ESG efforts,
overseeing the direction and strategies of ESG
development. In addition, the Board or the Audit
Committee is also responsible for reviewing,
prioritizing, and approving significant ESG
matters, risks, and opportunities. The Board
regularly reviews and supervises the performance
and progress of ESG and climate-related issues
and objectives. With ESG objectives set by the
Group last year, we also reviewed the progress of
the relevant objectives during the Year to improve
our work on sustainable development.

To further ensure the implementation of the ESG
strategies, the Board has specially established a
dedicated ESG working group which is
authorized by the Board and is responsible for
developing management policies, strategies,
objectives, and tasks of ESG and climate-related
issues. The establishment of this structure is
aimed at enhancing professional management of
ESG matters, ensuring that the Group makes
substantial progress in terms of sustainable
operation and social responsibility.
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2.2 Sustainability management system

The ESG management structure of the Group
consists of the decision-making level,
organizational level and executive level. The
Board functions as the decision-making level that
oversees the management policies, strategies,
objectives and the works of ESG and climate-
related issues of the Group. The ESG working
group is comprised of the senior management
and is responsible for formulating, promoting, and
supervising the implementation of ESG-related
policies and work in various departments. The
following is the ESG governance structure and
responsibilities of the Group.

22 AREAREEERAR

REBAHESGE IR HAR
R E RBITREAN  E
EERAKE  EEAKEN
ESGHRIFZERENEIE R
B KBS BIRNRERBIIE
ESGI{E/MARIBIESRER
BEE  ESITE #HIHRE
RE BB FINITESGIR R
BRIE AT ARERD
ESGEAZREMEBE -

Decision-making level
REE

The Board
=g

Organizational level
(ESG working group)
#4888 (ESG T/ 4l)

The office of the secretary

to the Board, human resources center,

administrative management center,
financial capital center

EWH - ADERP -
THREEHL  BHEEEHL

Executive level

BTE

Merchandise center,
sales center, product center,
human resources center,
administrative management
center, financial capital center,
information technology center
Bmhd -~ HEPL - EREBD
AADERHRO -~ THEBEHRS
BHEEHL - FEEMHRL

establishing and overseeing the ESG risk management and internal control
systems;

RN EE ESG R B3 R AP EIE R4

regularly reviewing and supervising the performance and progress of ESG and
climate-related issues and objectives; and

TEHRR AT I BE B ESC MR RN R R B IRERGER

delegating authority to ESG working group.

A ESG T{E/MAHIRES °

reviewing and monitoring the ESG and climate-related policies and practices of
the Group;

Bt REERE B ESG MERAEMNBUR R EH

coordinating, promoting and supervising the implementation of various ESG and
climate-related policies in different departments; and

AT R HEE), I ERER EBPI BT IH ESC AR RARRIBUR + &

regularly reviewing and supervising the performance and

progress of ESG and climate-related issues and objectives.

SEHR AT I Ba B ESC MRR BB BN RBE R B IRERERE

organizing, promoting and implementing various ESG and climate-related works
according to the ESG and climate-related management policies of the Group;
RBREEESG MRIFEMEIE A - A5 - ## RINFTEIEESG MRIZAEH
T

collecting and reporting the ESG and climate-related internal policies and
systems as well as the ESG-related performance indicators; and

g Ko ¥ ESG AR IRARBIRI M ERER ~ 6= & ESG AERIMARIETR + &
reporting to the ESG working group regularly.

TEHAA ESG T1E/MAER ©
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2.3 Participation of stakeholders

The Group understands the concerns of
stakeholders through regular communication. In
addition, based on the expectations of different
we select appropriate
communication and response methods with

stakeholders,

BB -
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various stakeholders to maintain dialogue with all EEE%¢E@1§. £ - HAIRTFER
sectors of society. Capitalizing on these R o
initiatives, we aim to enhance mutual
understanding and trust with stakeholders as we
work together to create a sustainable future.
Major Communication
stakeholders Expectations and demands  Major form of engagement frequency
TERNE HEEER FTEZEAA BEAXR
Customers . Quality of products and ~ © Complaints and feedbacks on  Regular
EF services services
o EmkBBEE o RERFEEE i
] Visits by customer relationship  Regular
. Health and safety of manager
products and servioes o EPBREBRD EHA
o EXMREOEREELZS o Daily operation/interaction  Regular
« HEEE/R E 5
U Protection of customer e Email Regular
privacy o B EH
o  EZFRMLKE
Shareholders/ . Business ethics . Annual general meetings and ~ Annually
investors o  HRBEE other general meetings
BRR/REE o KRRAFAgHE £E
*  Impact of business EttlRRAE
activities on the J Interim reports and annual Regular
environment reports
o EBEBURBERNY o  THRSHEFR EH
g . Company announcements Irregular
o  RARE NEH
. Employment compliance Shareholder/investor visits/ Irregular
o ARAI reverse roadshows/investor
meetings/site visits
o  BRER/BREELBEY/ N EH
RmBEE/ REEGH
EER
J Results announcements/ Regular
results presentations
o KB/ RERME i
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Major Communication
stakeholders Expectations and demands  Major form of engagement frequency
TERGE HMEEER TEZELA BERAR
Employees o Employment relations o Employee opinion surveys/ Regular
BT and communication with channels for employees to
employees express their opinions (such
o ERBEREIER as forms and suggestion
boxes)
o Rights and interests of o BIERAL/ TH
employees BIXRESRNES
o BIMx (R1%3 - BRAF)
G Performance assessment and  Regular
o Employment compliance interviews
o ARRI o TERBAGREHR i
G Seminars/workshops/forums/  Regular
° Comprehensive training group discussions
and development o WHE/ TN/ EE/)ME TS
system I
o TEEIEFEEZR e Staff communication Irregular
meetings/staff activities
*  Employeeheathand o BTEBAS/EIEH NEH
safety

o EIRFEZ?

o Remuneration and
benefits
o HHEA
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Major Communication
stakeholders Expectations and demands  Major form of engagement frequency
TERGE HEEER FTEZEAA BERAXR
Governments/ . Rights and interests of Regular submissions of Regular
regulatory employees information
authorities o BIRm o  THEEmZ E 5
B/ EERE ¢  Meetings Irregular
¢ Employmentcompliance * € AEH
¢ BHAT J Inspections and supervisions/  Irregular
site visits
o  Employeehealthand o  REEL /EHHEE TEH
safety
e BIRREZ2
. Development of green
community
o  EEFEHE
] Engagement in public
welfare and volunteer
activities
o  BENGEERTRLY
. Health and safety of
products and services
o  EnNBRENRREZ2
Community/ . Development of green Meetings Irregular
non- community . B A EH
governmental o  EBREEHR *  Engagement in community Irregular
organizations activities
HE/FBFEE ¢  Engagementinpublic ¢ ZEHEEH TEH
welfare and volunteer ] Company website/company  Regular
activities announcements/social media
o BHAREKEHIREED platforms
o AR/ RARE/ i
HRERT A
. Seminars/workshops/forums  Irregular
o e/ IHY/ERE N iEH
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Major Communication
stakeholders Expectations and demands  Major form of engagement frequency
TERGE HMEEER TEZELA BERAR
Suppliers o Supply chain o Supplier management Frequent
1335 management procedures
o R o  HEBEEEFR SR
o Meetings/site visits Regular
o Preventionof coruption * &% /EHEE T
and violation risks o Assessment systems for Annually
o MEERERARR suppliers/contractors
o R/ ABEITELE FE
G Health and safety of G Face-to-face communications  Frequent
products and services ¢ AHERRER SR

o EMRBMREREZE

2.4 Material Issues

Based on our understanding of stakeholders’ BFER R D EREB T M

expectations and visions for ESG through our
communication with them and with reference to
the disclosure obligations under the Guide, the
materiality matrix of the Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board (the “SASB”) and approaches
adopted by our peers, we have summarized 24
material issues applicable to the Group’s
business, including 6 issues of significant
materiality, 14 issues of moderate materiality and
4 issues of general materiality. The Board has
reviewed and confirmed the results of the
materiality assessment.

fib PIETESGEAEFFE R « WL
ZGESDFTRENBREREERT
ERKBEEGFENEZEES
(Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board ' [SASB )
WEZMREE  WBERTT
A ZIREAHBARAKE
XS24 BEZHZEE B
HeEmEEZEE - 14[EF
EEZZBARME—REEHR
B oEFEORRITBRAEE

VB DT 4



2023 FEeE FAERARRDA

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Materiality assessment

RE -HEREBRSE

EEMBELN

Significant materiality Moderate materiality General materiality
BEEE HEEE —-REE

o Protection of customer privacy o Waste discharge management . Climate change

and data security

o RERPEANEEZZ

o Product design and lifecycle
management
. EmRt REGERER

o Anti-corruption and integrity
building
. REBHNRZER

o Packaging material management
. BEMHER

. Employee training and
development
o BIRJIEER

o Sustainability management of
supply chain
. HERNAHELRER

o EERMUNER

o Energy consumption
management
«  ERERER

o Rights and benefits of employees
. BTRzZEER

. Occupational health and safety
. BRBREZZD

o Employment compliance
o BRER
. Employee diversity and inclusivity

. BIZnitRhesH

o Product quality and safety
o  EmBEELE

. Intellectual property protection
. HEXBER

o Responsible marketing and
promotion
. BEMLEHEER

. Safeguarding consumer rights

¢ EFPEZRE

o Operation compliance
. AREE
. Risk management

. Rk EE

o Product research, development
and innovation
. B Eal

o Consumer relations

o HBERA

O 1

. Greenhouse gas emission
J BE RN

o Water resources use
management

o KEREREE

° Community and public welfare
. HRERNR
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BUSINESS PRACTICES

Zibuyu specializes in the sale of self-designed fashion
apparel and footwear worldwide. We are committed to
providing a timely and convenient shopping experience
to global users through third-party e-commerce
platforms and our websites. Zibuyu’s mission is to
enable global users to gain access to fashionably
designed apparel and footwear products. In our sales
operations, we leverage digital operating systems to
offer one-stop product services, aiming to enhance
operational efficiency and maximize customer
satisfaction.

3.1 Product quality assurance

With a continuous emphasis on and commitment
to optimizing its product quality, the Group
adopts an omni-channel e-commerce sales
model to strengthen product management.
Through major third-party e-commerce platforms
and our website, we offer products to countries
and regions worldwide, including but not limited
to the United States, Germany and France. In
order to enhance management quality, we strictly
abide by the relevant laws and regulation of the
sales destinations, including but not limited to the
Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of
China (R EARELME EMmE £)%)), the
Product Liability Law ({Z & & £ %)) of the
United States, the German Law on Product
Safety ({Z= @ % & /%)) and the German Product
Liability Law ({#2 B & an & £)%)). As part of our
efforts to step up inventory management and
control, ensure safety and integrity, and improve
operational efficiency, we have the Inventory
Management System ({17 & & 2 #I/€)) in place
to specify the processes for product collection
management and inventory.
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We adopt a set of quality control standards and
inspection criteria throughout the stages of
supplier selection, product production and
delivery. Committed to providing high-quality
goods, we have established a quality control
system. The Inventory Management System ({1F
EE I H| E)) of the Group sets out procedures
for the collection of products, such as
scheduling, unloading and tallying, confirmation
of the acceptance slip and acceptance. During
the acceptance phase, the products received are
checked against the acceptance slips to inspect
the product quality. We have established the
warehouse acceptance standards to check
whether the products comply with the model,
specifications, color, packaging, physical
condition, validity period, and other requirements
specified in the acceptance slips, ensuring that
the products meet relevant requirements before
they are stored. Furthermore, our packing
procedure incorporates a re-check step, where
inspectors are required to individually scan
product codes to ensure that the products
correspond to the orders, and avoid selection
errors and other irregularities. This step is crucial
for safeguarding the accuracy and quality of our
product packing.

To ensure that the Group’s apparel and
accessory products comply with the relevant
laws, regulations and consumer requirements of
the target sales countries or regions, we have
established strict internal quality standard
documents. For products of our premium lines,
according to the Brand Line Apparel and
Accessories Physicochemical Quality Manual
(IR R 2 iR e IR0 E 2 F11)), suppliers must
provide a complete and qualified inspection
report issued by a designated inspection agency
before shipping bulk orders. Any reports that are
non-compliant or involve omissions during
inspection are considered unacceptable.

RE - HERERHRSE
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We meticulously control the materials in our
domestic warehouses, standardizing the
management and inventory of various materials to
ensure the accuracy of accounts and cost
control. We have set up a multi-level
management system, with the warehouse
manager serving as the primary person
responsible for the control of materials, fully in
charge of their management. We require that all
material management responsibilities are clearly
defined and subject to supervision and inspection
by higher-level management personnel. Daily
operations of materials must allow for immediate
verification and mobilization to ensure product
safety, reduce losses, or prevent damage due to
human error. The Group has formulated inventory
regulations, including material classification
tables, inventory accuracy targets, inventory
report requirements, and regular spot checks.

To improve the speed of goods dispatch, we
have established the Express Order Warehouse
Operational Requirements ({15 R & &2 & & IR 1R (E
£ 3k)), optimizing processing procedures to
minimize the processing time of sales orders and
ensure that goods are shipped on time. We place
a strong emphasis on the critical steps after the
express orders arrive at the warehouse, including
quality inspection, collection and storage, and
require that these are completed within 24 hours.
The Group strives to enhance the efficiency of
processing express orders to ensure their timely
and accurate shipment.
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We have developed the Production Requirements
and Testing Standards for Footwear Orders (&
B E] B e 25k LB R 4E)), which sets out
details of the production requirements and quality
testing standards for footwear products. Firstly,
regarding production requirements, factories are
required to conduct a full set of pattern cutting
trials before production and notify relevant
personnel to inspect on-site. Requirements on
materials, midsoles, trial wear samples and other
aspects are emphasized to ensure product
quality. Secondly, we have provided a detailed
guide on product testing standards, including
material thickness, sole abrasion resistance, heel
quality, and requirements for waterproof
platforms, strictly demanding that products meet
relevant standards. Lastly, the Group adopts a
stringent approach for product quality control and
reserves the right to reject products that do not
meet the standards, with factories bearing the
corresponding responsibilities and losses. In
summary, our rigorous management of product
quality provides a reliable guarantee for ensuring
product quality and user experience.

During the Year, the Group did not recall any
products due to safety and health reasons.
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3.2 Customer service

We strictly comply with the laws and regulations
related to consumers in all regions where we
operate, including the German Civil Code (&
A H#)), the Consumer Protection Act (CE & &
{R#& %)) of France, and the Consumer Protection
Regulations (B &{RIEA#)) of Japan, with an
aim to provide a high level of customer service to
ensure the best experience for our customers
throughout the entire process. We utilize the
consumer complaint channels featured on
individual platforms, on which complaints are
initially handled by relevant customer service
teams before being passed to the seller’s
customer service team for follow-up. For our
self-operated online stores, we have developed
and operated an independent email management
system to receive customer complaints, which
allows us to respond to customer inquiries and
complaints as soon as possible. We also have a
customer service hotline in place. To ensure that
customer complaints are handled in a timely and
proper manner, and that relevant problems are
addressed quickly during the service process, we
have established internal procedures that all
employees must follow. When we receive
customer complaints, we will promptly contact
the customer to understand the relevant issues
and propose solutions wherever possible.
Complaints regarding logistics, product size,
color, product quality and other issues will be
reviewed individually based on the reason for the
complaints as well as other factors, with
appropriate solutions for refund or compensation
devised. To prevent similar issues from recurring,
we hold regular internal discussions to review
complaints and take necessary improvement
measures, and continue to optimize our user
complaint handling process. We place an
emphasis on the performance of customer
service on the e-commerce platform backend,
and encourage customers to provide feedback in
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the comment section so as to monitor and
continuously improve the quality of our customer
service. Through our digitized system, we use
keyword searches and monitor customer
feedback, such as comments on our fabric and
accessories and styles, to generate reports for
our design team to upgrade and improve our
products.

During the Reporting Period, we did not receive
any significant complaints regarding our products
or services.

Protecting consumers
Data and privacy protection

We strictly comply with relevant laws and
regulations including Personal Information
Protection Law ({{f] A {5 2 R # /%)) and Data
Security Law (& #& % & %)) of China, the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance ({ & A & #} (FL,
B2) 15 1)) of Hong Kong, the EU General Data
Protection Regulation ({[&% B2 38 Fi 2B (R E 15 151)),
German Federal Data Protection Act ({1 B B
HIE R X)), and the Act on the Protection of
Personal Information ({{El A & ¥ {R & %)) of
Japan. Efforts have been made to enhance data
security management measures and fully
implement information security protection. The
Data Security Procedures and Standards (&%
Z 2 i i2 R #)) of the Company emphasizes
protecting the Group’s hardware, software and
data from malicious activities. In addition to
complying with data security laws in China and
other relevant countries, and meeting GDPR
compliance requirements, the Groups upholds
the principles of lawful, fair and transparent
processing of personal data. For special
categories of personal data, employees are
prohibited from processing.
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The Group considers proper data handling to be
the key of data security management. This policy
covers all aspects of data security management,
including the security management of backup
media, data confidentiality management and data
recovery management, ensuring the secured
storage of backup media. We mandate the
encryption of data backup and the management
of recovery processes by media that handle
sensitive information to guarantee the integrity
and security of data. We require our employees to
adhere to every detail and requirement of the
entire policy, ensuring that the Group follows the
highest standards in data processing and security
management.

To establish a robust network and information
security incident emergency response
mechanism, we have formulated the Emergency
Management Measures for Network and
Information Security ((#EEEEL 2 REZER
#% %)), enhancing our emergency handling
capabilities to ensure the safety of information
systems. We have detailed classifications and
gradings for network security incidents, including
harmful program incidents, network attacks,
information destruction, equipment malfunctions
and more. We emphasize principles of unified
leadership, tiered responsibility, standardized
command, close coordination, rapid response
and prevention-focused approach, ensuring that
we can handle network and information security
incidents in an orderly, swift and efficient manner
during emergencies.
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During the Year, we did not have any significant
incidents of information leakage, theft, or loss of
customer data.

Responsible marketing

The Group strictly follows the French Consumer
Code (CCEBJE & & )X #)), the Act against
Unjustifiable Premiums and Misleading
Representations ({1~ & B & & &R 1EE))
and the Act on Specified Commercial
Transactions ({#5 7 B % X % %)) of Japan, and
other marketing-related regulations. Our sales
department has formulated the Standards of
Product Descriptions and Advertisements (= i
RN JE 45 S {E R #1)) to ensure transparency in
marketing and promotional activities. In
advertising campaigns, the use of deceptive
language or exaggerated claims must be avoided,
requiring the use of original, non-plagiarized
image materials to avoid copyright infringement.
We prohibit attempts to circumvent the
advertising review process. The Group is
dedicated to building trust and integrity in
marketing practices.
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3.4 Integrity and anti-corruption

The Group is committed to creating an operating
environment characterized by integrity and
anti-corruption, strictly adhering to regulations
such as the Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({/ # A R H£AE A 71)%)) and
Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({# #E A R £ F1B = L 85%)).
We have established the Anti-Fraud Management
System (/= % ¥ & ¥2 # E )) and the Audit and
Supervision System ((F:TE X &l E)) to
strengthen internal governance and risk control,
and established effective communication
mechanisms to prevent any misconduct. We
prohibit any fraudulent activities, including
bribery, illegal use of company assets and
transaction diversion. The audit department,
acting as the anti-fraud management body, is
responsible for receiving reports. We encourage
employees to report fraudulent activities to the
audit department through proper channels. Upon
receipt of the reports, the audit department will
submit the same to the Audit Committee
according the relevant requirement for
processing, investigation, handling, tracking and
disclosure under the guidance of the Audit
Committee. The outcomes of fraud cases are
reported to the Audit Committee, with
appropriate remedial actions and penalties taken.
If the internal investigation proves that the report
is true, the whistleblower will receive a reward as
commendation. We will strictly maintain the
confidentiality of the whistleblower and the report
and respond in a timely manner. We continuously
keep abreast of anti-corruption legislation
relevant to the Group’s domicile and product
release regions, and actively identify legal and
regulatory changes related to our business
operations across different locations.
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We have formulated the Anti-money Laundering
and Counter-Terrorist Financing Internal Control
System ({52 7t #2 M k2 R4 7t B A 2B 4% &1 1l 2 ),
detailing specific operational steps for customer
identity verification, transaction monitoring and
reporting of suspicious transactions to ensure
that our business activities are not used for illegal
funds or supporting terrorist activities. The Group
actively implements due diligence, establishes
suspicious transaction reporting mechanisms to
better understand our customers, monitor
transaction activities, and promptly identify
potential money laundering or terrorist financing
anomalies, effectively reducing potential legal and
financial risks.

To further encourage employee participation in
integrity-building, the Group organizes integrity
training sessions for its Directors, management
and general staff with themes such as
anti-corruption and anti-money laundering.
During the Year, we conducted an integrity event
titled “With Respect for Law and Integrity With Me
(Aak R)£ 42 ~ BR IE A %)”, aiming to foster a
culture of integrity among Directors and staff
through in-depth integrity education, thereby
constructing a comprehensive compliance and
integrity corporate atmosphere. During the Year,
the attendance rate of Directors in anti-corruption
training was 67%, while the participation rate of
employees in anti-corruption training was 32%,
with a total of 170 training hours.

During the Year, there was not any litigation or
cases of corruption and fraud against the Group
or our employees.
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Risk management

We continuously refine our risk identification and
assessment processes. Based on the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, laws, regulations,
company statutes, and institutional requirements
and combined with actual circumstances, the
Group has formulated the Risk Management
Policy (/@[ & ¥ #/Z )). Our objective is to keep
risks within a tolerable range, ensure compliance
with laws and regulations, enhance operational
effectiveness and efficiency, and prevent
significant losses.

We continually gather initial internal and external
information related to the Group’s risks and
conduct comprehensive identification and
analysis of strategic, market, operational, financial
and legal risks. We dynamically manage risk
information, and conduct regular or irregular risk
assessments to re-evaluate new and existing
risks. The Group promptly adjusts its risk
management strategies to ensure stable
operation and sustainable development. We have
established risk management communication
channels to ensure timely, accurate and complete
information sharing. Relevant departments and
business units regularly self-inspect their risk
management efforts and report to the audit
department. The audit department supervises
and evaluates each department and business
unit, with evaluation reports submitted to the
Audit Committee. We have clearly formulated and
implemented risk management strategies to
ensure business activities are conducted within
controllable risk boundaries.
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3.5 Intellectual property protection

The Group considers intellectual property as the
cornerstone of our business and strictly adheres
to the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of
China ({#1 £ A R H F1 Bl Z {E# X)), the Patent
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({# ZF A
R F1 B & %)), the Trademark Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({1 % A & X i
12 7%)), and the intellectual property protection
laws and regulations of the United States, the
European Union and other countries. We
continuously engage in standardized
management of intellectual property and have
established a comprehensive anti-infringement
management mechanism, including the
establishment of a product compliance
department focusing on identifying potential
infringement risks. Through adjusting product
designs or promptly delisting potential infringing
products, we swiftly address potential
infringements. We urge our operations teams and
designers to strengthen training in infringement
prevention and brand value protection. We have
also engaged professional intellectual property
legal advisers to assist us in handling disputes
and litigations related to intellectual property
rights at any time. We have entered into
confidential agreements with our OEM suppliers,
which stipulated that they are not allowed to
keep, use or leak our designs to third parties.
These measures aim to safeguard the Group’s
intellectual property rights, ensuring the
long-term value and reputation of our brand, and
avoiding intellectual property disputes.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, we had
more than 350 registered trademarks.

REERMNBER/EBE
A BRES(hEARKM
BIZVERIE) ~ (P E AR
BEFE)  (PEARLTE
ERA). FE KRB EE A
BERRERARER - B
SERRMBEERDBE
B ERBERRE TJEL_L
Tiﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁfﬁT’?éEf§7fn\%%lJ :
PR TEmEHRERFT -
REIRBEMNEERER - @B
FEEMRATI LT TNENS
- BARER B R IR
Emn o HFIBRE S B K MR
ST R 0o 7 &5 1% 4 AN R 7% on bR
BENEI - BHMAREETE
EMMBERAEER - BER
107 B 3 A1 B 32 B 0 58 72 HE AL
AL AR A o ELOEM BT
ﬂ%T%M%~*%ﬁﬁ$ﬂ
RE - EAKAE=FHER
IR » ELLBIEE HEEE
REBHRBERE - RERE
WRAEEMNZE  BRHHE
ERREEUD -

ARIFEHR - RAESEMAE
1Z BB 3501E o



122

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2023

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERBRE

3.6 Supplier management

The Group is of the view that a stable and
sustainable supply chain is the foundation for
delivering quality products and services, and we
continuously improve our supply chain
management. In line with national legal standards
and our operation performance, we have
established a comprehensive set of supplier
management systems to ensure that suppliers
provide products and services that meet our
standards. These systems cover supplier
selection, audit, registration, maintenance,
modification, evaluation and elimination,
emphasizing legal and compliant operations and
clarifying the responsibilities of various
departments. To mitigate risks, we perform audits
based on a series of standards including legal
licensing, production capacity, quality assurance
systems and environmental and social risks. We
regularly assess and screen suppliers, and take
appropriate actions based on assessment
outcomes. By investigating and evaluating
suppliers’ defect rates, delay rates and other
performance indicators, we are able to promptly
identify issues and communicate with suppliers,
ensuring the stability and efficiency of our supply
chain. In addition, the system sets out specific
management requirements for advertising
suppliers, including qualification documentation
and semi-annual service efficiency assessments,
to ensure the quality and effectiveness of
advertising. Through comprehensive supplier
management processes, the Group can better
control potential risks, ensure supplier
compliance, and achieve quality and efficient
business operations.

3.6 HEBERE
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To facilitate a thorough assessment of our
suppliers, we have developed the Innovation
Business Line Supplier Evaluation Form ({£ll ¥ %
S E ST 4 KR )), ensuring the selected
suppliers meet our quality, management and
regulatory standards. By inspecting every aspect,
we gain a comprehensive understanding of
suppliers’ operations, including adherence to
quality management and process control
standards during manufacturing, which helps
ensure supply chain transparency and enhances
overall efficiency. We strictly enforce product
production standards and have formulated the
Zibuyu Group Brand Line Apparel and
Accessories Physicochemical Quality Manual
(F MBS mERIRE RS IZ\CEEF M),
detailing inspection requirements and specifying
tests to be conducted by designated institutions,
random sampling, and testing for various
parameters such as fiber content, colorfastness
and chemical properties. We ensure product
quality through strict testing and adherence to
specified standards.
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To manage suppliers’ social and environmental
risks, the Supplier Management System ({1 /& &
‘& 12 %] E )) specifies that we should assess
whether suppliers are committed to protecting
the environment and minimizing the impact of
their business on the environment based on their
consumption on energy, water resource and
natural resources, waste management and
practices in other aspects. We prioritize the
development and engagement of suppliers who
can offer environmentally friendly products and
services, such as products made from recycled
materials, products suitable for recycling and
products that are more durable. In addition, the
Group remain vigilant against risks such as child
labor and forced labor among suppliers to ensure
the legality and compliance of our supply chain.
Finally, we are concerned over supplier’s
employee welfare, including providing a healthy
and safe work environment, fair compensation,
reasonable working hours and holidays, which are
crucial for protecting employee rights. These
inspections and management practices can
effectively reduce social and environmental risks
in our supply chain, promoting sustainable supply
chain management.
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During the Year, the Group had a total of 584
suppliers, including OEM suppliers, IT service
providers, logistics service providers, payment
service providers and advertising agencies. The
distribution of our suppliers by region is as

RE -HEREBRSE

REE  NEBEMHEER LT
584% © B FEOEML FERE. IT
RIS, WRREE. R
%E., BERGE  HERH
BT :

follows:
Number of
suppliers
Region ith & HEBHE
Northern China region iR 25
Eastern China region ZE D[R 136
Southern China region ErEihm 393
Central China region ZE D[R 9
Southwestern region Para b = 4
Overseas BN 17

EMPLOYEE MANAGEMENT 4. BETITEE

Employees are a crucial driving force behind the
Group’s ability to achieve sustainable development.
We adhere to a people-first, talent-based philosophy,
committed to creating an equal, inclusive and
harmoniously integrated workplace. By practicing
lawful and fair employment principles, optimizing
compensation and benefits, enriching communication
channels for employees, and refining our training
system, we aim to build a happy workplace.
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4.1 Employment rules

We strictly comply with the Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({7 A & H F1E 45
&) ’%)), the Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({F#E A R £ FMBE L& FE))
and other laws and regulations, and formulated
the Employee Handbook ((& T Ffft)) to
implement various employee welfare policies. We
emphasize principles of open recruitment, equal
competition, merit-based hiring and internal
priority. All recruitment activities are centrally
managed by the Human Resources Center, with
departments submitting annual and ad hoc
recruitment plans for approval. Upon approval,
the Human Resources Center is responsible for
the unified management of recruitment, allocation
and hiring. Human resources specialists are
responsible for written review and verification of
applicants’ materials to avoid child labor and
ensure fairness in employment.

Based on job categories, we implement standard
working hours and, if overtime is necessary due
to work requirements, it shall be subject to the
employee overtime procedures. Overtime must be
reasonably arranged by department managers
based on work progress, and overtime without
approval or incomplete approval procedures is
not allowed. Probation period management
ensures fair evaluation and timely transition of
outstanding performers to formal employees.

The Employee Handbook (& T F 1)) regulates
the employee placement management process,
providing clear standards for promotion,
demotion and internal transfers to ensure fairness
and transparency within the Company.
Resignation management specifies the process
for advance notice and handover by employees,
including job handover and approval by our
related centers, followed by processing
resignation procedures at the Human Resources
Center.

4.1 EERA
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As at the end of 2023, we had a total of 1,063 BZE20235F K - HMABET
employees, with the distribution structure as 1,063% + ETDMHEBIT -
follows:
Number of employees by gender Number of employees by age group

REBIE D NESSH REREZNBDNESH

(0.1%)

(24.5%)
(66%)
. Total number of Total number of Total number of
employees aged employees aged employees

® Total number of Total number of below 30 between 30 - 50 aged above 50

male employees female employees 305 T 30—505% 505504 £

BHEBHY TR 8 B e e e

Number of employees by geographical region Number of employees by rank
RitEESHNEESH REIEBRESWESH

967
(91.0%)

(0.2%)

(0.4%)

(28.1%)

0.8%)/
(7.8%)
. Total number of Total number of Total number of e lﬁ;ﬂ::xz;g;act / o Eltjlin::r;:f:ﬁgrm

employees employees in employees in other regions part-time employees employees

in eastern China southern China (including Hong Kong, IEERAY), 2 RIRIE B BB

ERMR R Macau and Taiwan) HRER @B

EEBE EEEH Hith 48 2x

(PIESRA) Total number of Total number of full-time

full-time middle senior management
management S REIRE R
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Remuneration and benefits

The Group offers competitive remuneration
packages to our employees. Based on the
principles of evaluation on ability, contribution
and responsibility, and in line with market trends,
we have formulated a reward system to motivate
employees to excel in their work. Bonuses
include management performance-based awards,
performance awards, innovation awards and
excellent suggestion awards, with the amount
determined by the contribution to the project.
This provides a comprehensive incentive and
security for our employees, ensuring that their
work in the Company is duly rewarded. The
Group actively implement various employee
welfare policies, offering additional benefits
beyond statutory holidays, including marriage
leave, maternity leave, compassionate leave,
paternity leave, attendance awards, service
length awards, social insurance, health check-
ups and festival gifts, supporting employees’
work and life.

Our performance assessment determines
employee promotion, elimination and reward
mechanisms based on monthly, quarterly
assessment results and annual comprehensive
evaluations. We recognize employees’ work
performance and contributions in various ways to
motivate long-term retention and enhance work
enthusiasm.
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During the Year, we organized a Christmas event,
providing employees with joyful and blissful
moments. During the event, we prepared a variety
of foods, allowing employees to fully enjoy the joy
of Christmas amidst their busy schedules.
Furthermore, our Christmas activities such as
writing Christmas wishes gave employees the
opportunity to express their hopes for the future.
Through these activities, the Group has created a
warm and festive work environment, making
employees feel being cared for and enhancing
team cohesion.

Christmas wishes writing activity
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4.2 Employee training

Retention and development of talent are
cornerstones of the Group’s long-term growth. To
enhance the competitiveness of Zibuyu Group’s
talents and promote the construction of a talent
pool in support of our strategic goals, we place
great emphasis on continuous growth and
improvement of talent cultivation, providing a
quality professional development environment.
We are committed to enhancing the
competitiveness of our talent. Through the
establishment of the Human Resources Training
and Development Center (A 77 & R £ 3l 2 & &
1), we have developed various courses covering
topics such as management sequence,
professional skills, general capabilities and the
construction of a learning organization. We have
conducted capability enhancement training for
senior, middle and junior staff with the objective
of “managing oneself, managing others,
managing teams”, aiming to improve the
leadership skills of the management, promote
cross-departmental collaboration, and enhance
the advertising capabilities of our specialists. The
Group will also invest more and better resources
to provide a fertile ground for talent development,
enhancing the core competitiveness of our talent.

4.2
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Details regarding the training for employees of the
Group during the Year are as follows™:

RE - #HEREBRS

RER - AEE B THEI80E
e

Average

Percentage of training hours

employees per employee
Category trained (hours)
7 R 3 FIAY
ZilEE TG REE
5l Bk ("EF)
Male 41.42% 3.75
S
Female 58.58% 2.43
g
Full-time junior employees 80.75% 1.40
2HYRET
Full-time middle management 17.36% 13.67
TRPREIRE
Full-time senior management 1.88% 10.28
EREREEE

Employees’ health and safety

The Group integrates health and safety into our
operations with the objective of providing a safe
and healthy work environment for our employees
while also raising their awareness of occupational
health. We strictly comply with relevant laws and
regulations such as the Fire Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({1 # A & H F1E 54
B/7,%)), the National Security Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({1 AR £ ME % 2)%)) and
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases
(KR AR AMBERZERDR)E)). We have
implemented corresponding protective measures,
formulated occupational health and safety
management policies, and established
regulations for occupational health and safety
matters in office premises.
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Percentage of employees trained in this category = Number of employees trained in this category = Total
number of employees trained X 100%.
ZEAMBEIRIBOL = ZRRINEIXIAS + XFIETHEAZ X 100% °
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The Group has established the Safety
Management System ((&Z & & 12 #l| € )) that
includes a series of safety regulations that
employees must follow during the production
process in warehouses, including assigning
full-time or part-time safety personnel, requiring
new employees working at plants shall attend
safety courses or pass an examination before
participating in production, providing training and
assessment for special operation personnel, and
ensuring equipment maintenance, signal and
safety devices are complete. We also emphasize
safety measures for working at heights and
dangerous locations, and the proper
management of flammable and explosive
materials to ensure the safety of employees and
equipment during production.

We have formulated the Emergency Evacuation
Drill Instructions ((Z £ ¥t 8% & #638)), which
provides guidelines for the evacuation actions of
employees in emergency situations in order to
ensure the safety of our personnel. Employees
evacuate to assembly points via designated
routes, and department managers conduct
personnel counts, and ensure the safe evacuation
of related parties. Moreover, to strengthen and
standardize the fire safety management of the
Company, prevent fires and minimize fire
hazards, we have formulated the Warehouse Fire
Emergency Plan ((&EE 5 E2TEZ)) to provide
guidelines on commanding employees to
promptly integrate workforce, materials and
information resources for organized control and
firefighting efforts to prevent delays and loss of
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control, minimizing casualties and property
damage to the greatest extent. In addition to
emergency measures, we have also provided
training and practical drills for firefighting
personnel to ensure employees understand the
operation of fire extinguishers and self-rescue
equipment. Furthermore, we have established
post-fire accident management and investigation
procedures to comprehensively ensure employee
safety and normal operations.

In the past three years (inclusive of the reporting
year), the number of people who died from work-
related incidents per year and the rate of work-
related fatalities per year were zero. In 2023, the
number of days lost due to work-related injuries
was zero.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group has strictly complied with the laws and
regulations such as the Environmental Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China ({1 # A R £ B R
IR 7 %)) and the Law on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste (£ [& 8 £ #)
ESARIRIE R A)). We actively assume our
responsibility for environmental protection and strive to
advance our environmental management efforts. Last
year, we established environmental targets aimed at
reducing energy consumption and carbon emissions,
contributing to the global response to climate change.
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RE -#HEREBHRSE

Scope

Col

Target

BE

Energy use efficiency and
greenhouse gas emissions
BEIR(E A et KR = R EBSHE IR

Water efficiency

FR7K R a3

Waste generation

BEERWMEL

striving to reduce the electricity consumption per revenue
generated by us by 5% by 2023 compared to 2022
h 5512023 5 T AP 4 B B8 AL & R E 82022 F T 5%

striving to reach approximately 50% of installment of LED
lighting system in our warehouses and offices in the following
five years
NFERREFRARMOBERPAELEDRARGLEEE
2 4750%

striving to reduce the water consumption per revenue
generated by us by 5% by 2023 compared to 2022
N5 212023 F AP E £ 1 B AL WK E 820225 T [£5%

striving to reach approximately 20% of our OEM suppliers
using environmental-friendly packaging materials in the
following five years

74 5K 5 2 PO H920% ) OEME 6 7 8 FR SRR .56 41 1)

striving to reach approximately 80% of all products sold by us
packaged in recyclable packaging materials in the following
five years
NBERKRAFRERPIHENIHEEmRTH80% KA A E
WERMEBE
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As a key player in the cross-border e-commerce
industry, the Group’s direct environmental impact from
operational activities is limited. Nonetheless, we are
committed to implementing various resource
conservation and emission reduction measures to
minimize our operational environmental footprint. Due
to ongoing business expansion, we did not meet our
environmental targets regarding energy use efficiency,
greenhouse gas emissions, and water use efficiency
during the Year. We will continue to take steps to
balance our business growth with environmental
protection and aim to achieve our environmental
targets as soon as possible.

5.1 Resource conservation

The Group actively assumes responsibility for
environmental protection, strictly complied with
the environmental laws and regulations such as
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China ((F# A R XM BIRFREE))
and the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({7 & A & £ A B & 4 88 )R
7%)). We have implemented several resource
conservation management practices to reduce
our resource consumption in office operations
while advocating for green office practices. The
Group continues to implement energy and
resource conservation measures, such as dividing
the office into multiple lighting zones with
independently controllable switches, and
maintaining clean lighting fixtures and lamps to
maximize energy efficiency. We actively improve
energy utilization to reduce pollutant emissions by
promoting low-carbon technologies, such as
purchasing new energy vehicles, using
centralized control and monitoring systems for

RE - HERERHRSE

HRAERENEEXHRBERER
TX28E  ARRFANEEEE
EREKNREZEAR - AW -
BB EEZRERIMA MRS
B ARD R EREAWERER
B ARNEBINABES  KAFE
BMERIRER R - REREH
MMAKRE T EAREXRRSER
B BRARBEES HRIER  F
B RFIE R ERBRE - EARRE
REZEIRRAR -

51 BREHH

AEEEBRAERFERESR
T BHABRBET(PEAR
HMBERFEFREE) (PEA
RAMBEEHOETRE) FRIR
EERERBER - HIFPEEZ R
BREFOEREER - REHRQ
BENBIRBERKT - RS
B ehn o AEBRERR
RETRELEIREN AT I - ANTEM
NREZDR/ZEAERAR
B - AR IR AR R 13 AR 3 AT
71 B0 AREAGARE - (REFIRAA
KENERBER BERSKE
IR o FAIEIRDE BEIR A
FA AT DARL A5 R RO BE IR - L
AN AR AR - AnRE B RTRE
JREE - BRAR R R ER R
mEOSRZEFHRS  EHRE
K EIEEAEk  emBIER S

135



136

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2023

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERBRE

2

2

heating and cooling systems, regularly inspecting
and replacing pressure gauges to reduce the
likelihood of refrigerant leakage, and adopting
cleaner energy sources. Due to business
expansion, the Group’s electricity consumption
has slightly increased. We will continue to review
our business chain, striving to improve electricity
use efficiency and reduce consumption in the
coming year.

Water resources management

The Group primarily sources its water from
municipal supply networks, and there was no
problem in obtaining water suitable for our daily
operations. We actively adopt water conservation
measures and encourage our employees to start
with their daily habits, such as posting
water-saving reminders in washrooms and using
faucets with water-saving labels to enhance their
awareness of water conservation. Due to
business expansion, the Group’s water
consumption has slightly increased. We will
continue to review our business operations to
reduce water consumption and conserve
resources in the coming year?.

Bt RE AT Re 1t - RAAITERER
REBZER - HRERE
B AEBEHNREERS L
Tt RERMISHEERES
¥ BMOORITRENE  BE

MEE -

KEFEE

REBAHKEREZRBRT
BEAAX - AN EBETEERE
AHERENAKIERBE
EAIERE - KRPIEREEAELY
FRKEEE - MERKEIHR
HEAEEME  NESEFHE
RSRBL BT 40 7K IR BEAZEE ~
REAEKIZERAKEESE - A
REBIE/KEH - ARER
BR  ~EENRAKERAEL
o RERMSIFEERER
8 RRFEKE - SIEIR2 -

In 2022, the methodology for calculating the total water consumption was revised. After updating the data, the
water consumption for the previous year was 17,432.39 cubic meters.
2022 BB EETAARE  EFRBREFRA/KER17,432.3937 75K o
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Waste management

The Group believes that effective waste
management is crucial for environmental
protection. To reduce waste generation, we
collaborate with third-party companies to
efficiently recycle old computers and other
electronic waste, facilitating resource recycling.
We minimize the use of disposable and
non-recyclable products, and through proper
waste sorting, we enhance the efficiency of
resource recycling and reuse, thereby alleviating
environmental impact. We also advocate for
paperless green office practices, introducing
electronic office systems to replace traditional
paper records, thus reducing paper demand.
When printing is necessary, employees are
encouraged to print double-sided and to reuse
paper. During the Year, we reviewed our waste
reduction targets. Due to business expansion, our
use of packaging materials has increased. We will
continue to monitor the progress of our targets in
the coming year.

Resources usage management

Our production uses packaging materials such as
cardboard boxes and plastic bags. We have also
implemented environmental policies, such as
increasing the use of paper packaging bags that
meet transportation standards instead of woven
bags when collecting and recycling packaging. In
order to minimize the use of non-biodegradable
packaging materials, we have started to use
biodegradable cardboard boxes. We have
introduced the delivery mode of “full container
shipments” to avoid over packaging in the
delivery mode of “less container load” and waste
of packaging materials.

RE - #HEREBRS

BEYEE

REERRERRITHIEEY
ERHIRERBIEFTEE - B
5)@29@%@?% - BB
FRBIEE - AILABRE
HQ%’%E’JJ AN H Ath T8 R
V) BIRERNBEIIRBA -
IR A F — IR M & A A] Bl
REm  BBEEY BN
Al AR BRI EF A E
IR OB EIRBEHRE o T
FERREERLEZEHR « 3
AEBFRRRGUAERESD
%&@E%ﬁﬁ‘% R AR Y
ﬁ?x BT HEEITHTED
: ifEDLTT £ §T E A 4K 5k
E@_/A*‘JFH o RFE - B
BRETIHRADEEDER - &
MeREMEERAERERER
fIga - RER IS EEER
BIZHER o

BEREHEE

BZPEEPRBEMENE
B OBRERRE - BREREM
B BMPITEBIRIREUR - 1K
Efﬂ@ﬂ&a LR - SN A AT

BRIZEMNREBERER
iﬁiﬁtz\z RS RE AT EY
PREREVARAE - B AR ERT
Al YRR B MR o RIRFEK
M AT [BfEEE BN - #
T [ BHHEER | BEXWRER
K OBEREBEME -
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5.2 Mitigating climate change

The Group is acutely aware of the importance of
climate action. We proactively identify potential
risks associated with climate change, closely
monitor the issuance of policies and dynamic
trends in national responses to climate change,
and implement corresponding climate change
mitigation and adaptation measures.

5.2 BESR

fR& 1t

AEBFRARBRITHNHER
- BAPIRER SR IR
KeyBERR - ZIBEER
R SRR E L )7 m R B R 7R
o R EhREEE R B S - WHERENAR
HEMRIRE(C R RITENE
fte

Risk Potential outcome Response measure

[ B BEARR FE % 1 i

Acute physical risk J As electricity is the main J holding emergency drills and
SHEER source of energy for training regularly;

operation, it may be affected
by extreme weather
disasters, which in turn may
affect the places of our
operation;
%ﬁ%ﬁi“%IE%ﬁ'ﬂ
reRiEnRIk{ELE
My ELERMERE:

o

Extreme weather conditions
may lead to supply chain
instability or even
disruptions;

iR RRAIE RS
ST EEPE

B EE T

Extreme weather conditions
may have an impact on
maritime and air shipping,
which may in turn affect the
timeliness and safety of our
international freight transport.
ﬁ%%ﬁT%%E/@§@'
FTERFINBRREMERNE

BUAREYMHZZM -

TEHRPESEB IR
formulating contingency
plans for service instability/
interruptions and enhancing
the ability to recover swiftly
after disasters;

& AR 7S I8 T e A2
FFo WANRKEEIREVAE S ¢

maintaining electronic
versions of relevant
documents as backups, and
backup data storage centers
should be located in
separation places;
REBEXHONEFHRAE
i BRBEBEERTORE
Eih

introducing suppliers from
multiple channels and
regions to mitigate the risk of
disruption from reliance on a
single channel or regional
supplier.

SIEZRE - TREEHHE
B AR E-RESE—R
i 44 e 72 ) AR 7% Y o I
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Risk Potential outcome Response measure
2 B 4t BEER FE¥tfE i
Chronic physical risk o Consistently high J formulating extreme weather

BEEER

Policy and regulatory risk

BRKERRER

temperatures may have an
impact on the indoor
environment and workplace
conditions (such as
warehouses), which may in
turn affect the health of
employees who work in these
environments. Heatstroke
among outdoor working
employees increases the risk
of workplace injuries, raises
employee turnover and
decreases productivity.
HENRRETEZNIREN
TEGMIGH (MEE) @ #
mEETIESMAE TR

FRe ESNTIEMBETHEZE - 18
MIGRER BIRAXE

T EENTR -

Compliance costs may
increase.

=R DN : ORI

emergency plan, for example,
arrange outdoor working
employees to rest in a
suitable place under
consistently high
temperatures;
HEHimARESTESR - fl1n
HESBRART Eﬁi%
{ER B THRABHIHIKE

implementing effective
on-site safety management
and monitoring weather
conditions in a timely manner
to promptly transfer relevant
personnel and equipment to
safe locations if necessary.
RS T2 ERE - REWET
ﬁﬁm KEZILEEER
HEEBRIZ2HTE -

tracking the latest legal and
regulatory developments
regarding climate change and
integrating them into our
management strategies;
BB ABRIEE(LEE
BER - URAIERRR
==l

strictly adhering to
environmental laws,
regulations, and industry
standards in the location of
operation.
BIRETEZAEMNRRE
BERRITERE -

139



140

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2023

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RRE -#HERE

Risk
B

8

Potential outcome
BEAR

Response measure

EHERE

Reputational risk
ZEE R

Existing cooperative
arrangements may be
damaged or the ability to
attract new partners may be
diminished;

BRI A S ERBEHEISENRA]
AR R T

Competitive advantage may
be lost compared to
competitors with better
sustainability performance.
EARERE ERHRFYHTF
MR R EHRFED -

disclosing the Company’s
greenhouse gas emissions
data and efforts in low-
carbon operations in the ESG
report to actively maintain the
corporate image.

HERE HA&%ﬁﬁ¢¢“
H#REARREREHNEUR
M&EﬁMLMMﬁEWWﬁ
Bh BHREELETR -
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COMMUNITY CARE

The Group and its employees are committed to being
socially responsible and contributing to society, with a
long-term vision of establishing stable and enduring
relationships with various stakeholders in the
community. We actively fulfill our social
responsibilities, caring deeply for the communities we
serve. The Group has actively participated in the
post-earthquake reconstruction efforts in Jishishan,
Gansu Province, following the magnitude 6.2
earthquake, and donated RMB300,000 to assist
residents in the affected area to swiftly return to their
normal production and living routines. Through this
donation, we have provided valuable assistance to our
fellow citizens affected by the disaster, working
together to overcome difficulties.

During the Year, we donated a total of RMB800,000 to
Zhejiang University Education Foundation in support of
the educational endeavors of Zhejiang University.

RE -HEREBRSE

6. BAEHE

AREBMEETNNHHEBE RE
HEBABE  WELRHTERE
mEEIEERRBERAERS
BMERAETCSRE  LEBE
HE AEEBRR2EHBEEEAR
W62t B ERETIE - BT
300,000t ARBEE K EERER
MEESEERMEERT - HAM
BmBEBE A UMRBRME
EEMEE  BFHLIEEHE -

AFEE  HAOHIKRSBHERES
2RETAFOBTARKE - AR
SEMIRBHEERER -

PWiFFELETNASREF TN LR, XL
AHEAR 38 49 B3 Ao B A0 0 1 R A

We donated RMB300,000 to aid our fellow citizens affected
by the magnitude 6.2 earthquake in Jishishan
BMERAL6.24% B 18 L #9300,000 T A R M Z KW E MM EE
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APPENDIX I: SUMMARY OF INFORMATION ffi#— A ERXEHIEHE

ON SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

The following is the summary of information on sustainable N NERAFENRBEHEAFELREE

development of the Group in environmental aspect during £HEZ :

the Year:

Environmental aspect® Unit 2023

RIREIR B 2023FE

Air emissions

ZERBERY

Nitrogen oxides (NO ) kg 8.9

AELINO,) F

Sulphur oxides (SO ) kg 0.02

ﬁﬁﬁft%(sox) T

Particulate matter (PM) kg 0.9

RERLY) (PM) T

Greenhouse gas emissions

BEREBHHE

Greenhouse gas emissions

BERBHERK

Scope 1 Tons of CO, equivalent 3.5

#EN AW R i E £

Scope 2 Tons of CO, equivalent 941.0

#[E2 AW St E S

Total greenhouse gas emission (Scope 1 and Tons of CO, equivalent 944.5
scope 2)

mERBHENEE (FHE1F2) N kR =}

Greenhouse gas emission per square meter Tons of CO, equivalent/square 0.008
(Scope 1 and 2) meter

BEFAKRERBENE (BE172) AE_AmEETFHK

Greenhouse gas emission per person Tons of CO, equivalent/person 0.9
(Scope 1 and 2)

AREREBHHE (BE1F012) AE—EftmREE BT

Greenhouse gas emission intensity (Scope 1 and 2) Tons of CO, equivalent/ million 0.3
(per million of RMB of operating income) of RMB

BERBHNEE (HE17502) AW _S(HE S
(BREBTARBZEEKA) BETARK

< Reference is made to “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on Environmental

KPIs” of the Stock Exchange for the calculation of air pollutant and greenhouse gas emissions of the Group.
s HA2ZBIAINAGRERE H8RERRSE — WE - REBUREARERERES IFEAEENE
RSB FOR E REBHER °
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Environmental aspect® Unit 2023

RIRERS B 2023F E

Use of resources

BERER

Energy consumption

BE R OH 3%

Total energy consumption kWh 1,662,049.5

BERERERE T R

Purchased electricity consumption kWh 1,649,968.9

INEENFERE TR

Purchased electricity intensity (per square meter)  kWh/square meter 14.2

SMNEB BB EE (FF77XK) FRETFHK

Purchased electricity intensity (per employee) kWh/employee 1,552.2

INEBEHRBTE(BRETI) TRE BT

Purchased electricity intensity per million operating kWh/million of RMB 549.9
income (RMB)

INEBENRETE (BESTAREEEKA) TERE BETARE

Gasoline consumption Litre 1,312

URFERE NF

Use of resources

BERER

Total water consumption cubic meters 27,096.6

FKEE AV

Water consumption intensity (per square meter) cubic meters/square meter 0.2

FREE (8177 K) MR F T K

Water consumption intensity (per employee) cubic meters/employee 25.5

MKEE (BEEI) MFKBL

Water consumption intensity (per million of RMB of cubic meters/million of RMB 9.0
operating income)

RRKEE(BAETARBERXEA) NAKR/BETARE

Waste

BEZEY

Non-hazardous waste produced Ton 341

BEREVELS AWE

Non-hazardous waste intensity (per million of RMB Ton/ million of RMB 0.1
of operating income)

BREEZEVTE (BEETAREERKA) AW/ BABTARE

Non-hazardous waste recycled Ton 175.3

BEZEEYEWE N
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Environmental aspect® Unit 2023
RIGE RS By 2023F F

Hazardous waste produced*

EERERYELS"

Laptop computers Unit 23
EFAVIN a

Monitors Unit 625
YN a

Hazardous waste recycled

EEERYEKRE

Laptop computers Unit 23
EFAVAN a

Monitors Unit 625
YN a

Paper usage

HMERERE

Total paper usage kg 3,655.8
RREE Fr

Paper usage (per employee) kg/employee 3.4
REE(EREI) Fr/BT

Total amount of packaging materials used for
finished products®

HAmrAREMRNEES

Total amount of packaging materials used for kg 566,485
finished products

K mTABREMENES T

Packaging materials intensity (per million of RMB  kg/ million of RMB 188.8
of operating income)

BEMHEZE (BRETARBEERA) Tr/BETARKE

= The hazardous waste listed herein only includes office waste.

4 R HE A EEEMERR M AEREREY) -

S The total amount of packaging materials used for finished products includes cardboard boxes, packaging

plastic bags, label paper, carbon tape, bubble bags, courier bags and woven bags.
S HEmAALEMENEAERREEMN BRBR S8EK BT REAR REXKREHLE-
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The following is the summary of information on sustainable M TEAFEAEENT SHE ] FE
development of the Group in social aspect during the Year: R &ELHEE :

Social aspect Unit 2023
HEHE B 20235 E
Number of employees®

ETABC

Total number of employees Person 1,063
BTHEEH AEL

Number of employees by gender

RUEBESNET AR

Female Person 363
peg i AEL

Male Person 700
S AEL

Number of employees by employee category

REIERESTHEIAR

Short-term contract/part-time employees Person 4
REER,/ FBES AEL

Full-time junior employees Person 967
TRBIRER AEL

Full-time middle management Person 83
PRAREEE AEL

Full-time senior management Person 9
THREREERE AEL

Number of employees by geographical region

REEESTHETIAH

Eastern China Person 762
ERE AEL

Southern China Person 299
EEiE AEL

Other regions Person 2
E b= AEL

c It represents the number of employees as at 31 December of the reporting year.

6 AR EEZEHIF12A31AMNE T AR -
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Social aspect Unit 2023
HEHE By 2023F &
Number of employees by age group

REREMNEINETAH

Below 30 Person 802
305 A T A

30-50 Person 260
30-505% AH

Over 50 Person 1
505% A £ A

Employee turnover rate’

BT RKZT

Total turnover rate % 27.8
k= %

Employee turnover rate by gender

RUERSSHWE I RALRE

Male % 30.5
S %

Female % 26.2
7 %

Employee turnover rate by age group

REREMNEINETIRKLER

Below 30 % 26.8
30BR A T %

30-50 % 49.7
30-505% %

Over 50 % 40.0
508% A £ %

Employee turnover rate by geographical region

RGBS SHWE I RKLE

Eastern China % 26.2
FERM R %

Southern China % 26.7
FEEE %

Other regions % 0
H 3 [@ %

1A The formula for calculating the employee turnover rate: Number of employees resigned — (Number of

employees at the beginning of the period + Number of employees recruited during that year) X 100%.
u BIRAEADLAEERS  REAEEAE - (HVEEAB+EFEMAES AZ) X100% °
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Social aspect Unit 2023
HEEHE By 2023F &
Occupational health and safety

BERRERS

Number of work-related fatalities Persons 0

(2021, 2022 and 2023)

EIXT AB(2021FF 20226 [ k2023F[E) A

Rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of % 0
the past three years including the reporting Year

BE=F (BRERFE)BFEAITHNLE %

Number of lost days due to work injury Day 0

HITEERITIERE X

Development and training?®

R BIE

Percentage of employees trained by gender

BHREsNZIEET DL

Female % 58.58
g %
Male % 41.42
S %
Percentage of employees trained by employee

category
REEEMNESNZIEET DL
Full-time junior employees % 80.75
ZRYVREES %
Full-time middle management % 17.36
EHPRERE %
Full-time senior management % 1.88
THERERE %

Average training hours completed per
employee by gender

iR BEEETKZINFHEER

Male Hours 3.75
B N

Female Hours 2.43
ﬁ /HE /J \ E%

g The percentage of employees trained in this category = Number of employees trained in this category = Total

number of employees trained X 100%.
8 ZEANNEIRIB DL = ZHARHNE IXIAB-XIETHEAZX100% °
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Social aspect Unit 2023
HEHEE B 2023F &

Average training hours completed per
employee by employee category

ZEERR  SEREETHZIN TR

Full-time junior employees Hours 1.40
EROAIEE /N
Full-time middle management Hours 13.67
ERTPREERE /N
Full-time senior management Hours 10.28

REREEE N
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APPENDIX Il: CONTENT INDEX OF sk — : FRACRE - HERE
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND BHREESDABES
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE
KPI Content Corresponding chapters
KBRS EBED
A. ENVIRONMENTAL
A RGEE
A1: Emissions General Disclosure  Information on: 5.1 Resource conservation
Al B —RBERE BRERLAEREHN  MARIHHOES  BEREZEY 518REH
MEEZH:
(@  the policies; and
@ BE: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous

waste.
b) BTHETAREATENEBEZRADNOEH -
Al The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Appendix I: Summary of
PERmE A RS EUE - Information on Sustainable
Development
Wik —: AIREERABHE
Al1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas  Appendix I: Summary of
emissions (in tons) and intensity. Information on Sustainable

ER(BE1) ReRREZ (BE2) RERBLHNRERTE - Development
Ms—: IREERABHE

A13 Total hazardous waste produced (in tons) and intensity. Given our business nature, we
MELREEENEERKE do not directly discharge any

hazardous waste water or solid
waste during our daily
operations.
BREMOEBEE - &HR
AREERERL A ERER
EREZTKABEEEEEERE

#) o
Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tons) and intensity. Appendix I: Summary of
MEAREEENEERFE Information on Sustainable
Development
Misk— AIREEREBHEZR
A15 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 5.1 Resource conservation
them. 518 R4
BT UNHERERRRAEIELARMRROTR -
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are 5.1 Resource conservation

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps 5.1 5 &14]
taken to achieve them.

HWORBEEEREZEENN L - REAPFI A RER

RAZEEEL BRI SR o
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Corresponding chapters

RREH

KPI Content
EBRA
A2: Use of Resources  General Disclosure
A2 : BR{EF —RRE
A2.1
A2.2
A2.3
A2.4
A2.5

A3: The Environment  General Disclosure
and Natural — B E

Resources
A3 RERKAER A3

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

BHERER(BIEER  KREMRME) SRR -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total and intensity.
RELESNERER /XBEER(WE R0k ERERE
=R

Water consumption in total and intensity.

BRKEBREE -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

R VMR RER MR BB RAEIEL B RAMRRNS
B

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

I SKEUGE R KR E R B EERE - ARATET LM ARk E
BRAEHELEBARRO SR -

Total packaging material used for finished products and with
reference to per unit produced.

U mMRBEMHNRERGEEEMGE -

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.
BEETAHRERAREREXNERY BHTE -
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.
BHEBTHHRERAABRNEAYERDRNEREH
FENTH o

5. Environmental protection
5. 7% R

Appendix I: Summary of
Information on Sustainable
Development
figg—: AR EEREBHE
Appendix I: Summary of
Information on Sustainable
Development

Migg—: AREEREBHE
5.1 Resource conservation

51BREDH)

5.1 Resource conservation

5AEREN

Appendix I: Summary of
Information on Sustainable
Development

Mig—: IREERABRE

5. Environmental protection
5.RERE

5.1 Resource conservation

5AERED
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BRR -#HE8RE

AR S

Corresponding chapters

HREH

A4: Climate Change
A4 RIRE L

B1: Employment
B1: (EfE

General Disclosure  Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may

—RBE

AdA

General Disclosure

—RBE

B1.1

B1.2

impact, the issuer.
R R R B A R ATH
BB

Description of the significant c!

EEHETAELRENEARKARS

limate-related issues which have

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the

actions taken to manage them.

HECERTREGHETAE

JES1TE) -

Information on:
BHEFMREE  BERE
it REGAREMEER
(@  thepolicies; and

@ BE: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on

EYENEARERESE &

CTREE R FERE
EREOR

the issuer relating to

compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other

benefits and welfare.

b) BTHETAFEARER

VENEREE R PIMER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and

geographical region.
RILR - ERER

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical

region.

BRI FRARREESD

FRERIRMEEIDH

E’”EE mﬁift% °

5.1 Resource conservation

518 RE4

5.2 Mitigating climate change
S2MERERL

4. Employee management
4EIER

4.1 Employment rules
41ERRE

Appendix |: Summary of
Information on Sustainable
Development

M— IRERRIERE

Appendix I: Summary of
Information on Sustainable
Development

M—: IRERRIBRE
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Corresponding chapters

RREH

KPI Content

RERA

B2: Health and Safety ~ General Disclosure  Information on:

B2 BEELZE —RRE AAREZZTERERRERESREBEM AN -
(@  thepolicies; and
@ Bk

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
b)) BEFTHETAREAZENERERRANNER -
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of
the past three years including the reporting year.

BEZF(BRESRFR) BFATIUHNARRLE -

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
RIBEAIERS
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures

adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HRPARANBRREEL 28 - ARBBRTREREE -
B3: Developmentand ~ General Disclosure  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
Training —RRE discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
B3 : BE R BURMESRTIERENMABRLRENEE « il BIE
g o
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee

category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
RURIREEERN (NBREEE PREEES) BHOZI
EEBOL -

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

BRI REEERE D  BLREEEKZINFHEH -

4.3 Employees’ health and
safety
43BTREELS

4.3 Employees’ health and
safety

43BTRFEEL S

Appendix |: Summary of

Information on Sustainable

Development

Wik —: AIREERABHE

4.3 Employees’ health and
safety

43BTREER S

Appendix |: Summary of

Information on Sustainable

Development

Mgk —: AIREERABHE

4.3 Employees’ health and
safety

43BTREEL S

4.2 Employee training
4281353

4.2 Employee training
4281389

Appendix |: Summary of
Information on Sustainable
Development

Mgk —: AIREEREBHE
4.2 Employee training
4281389

Appendix I: Summary of
Information on Sustainable
Development

Misk—: AR EERABRE
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Corresponding chapters

HREH

B4: Labor Standards
B4 : 4T %8|

B5: Supply Chain
Management
B5 : fE#E R

General Disclosure
— M=

B4.1

B4.2

General Disclosure

—MRBE

B5.1

B5.2

B5.3

B5.4

Information on:

BEMIEET B2 TIH :
(@  the policies; and
@ BRI R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing

child and forced labor.
b) BETHETABEAZENRBZZRAONER -
Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labor.
iR BRI NERAR P ET RS T
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.
HIAZHERBERR ERARERARRNSR -

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.

ERHERNRERGRABEE

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
EwRADNHRERHAE o

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number

of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

HnAEEREEENED  MERTERBHNHERHE

AREBEDNNRTRERTE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental and
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

WA BRANRERSERDORE A @RROER - UK

HBRRTRERTE -
Description of practices used to promote environmentally

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and

how they are implemented and monitored.

HREREREARRESARRERLREHED  LARA

BRTRERNE -

4.1 Employment rules

4AERERA

4.1 Employment rules

4AERERA

4.1 Employment rules

41ERRR

3.6 Supplier management
36t ER

3.6 Supplier management
3.6t ERERE
3.6 Supplier management
SOHEREER

3.6 Supplier management
SOHEREER

3.6 Supplier management
SEMHERER

153



154

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2023

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -#HEREBHRSE

KPI Content Corresponding chapters
EBRAE HEREL
B6: Product General Disclosure  Information on: 3. Business practices

Responsibility
B6: EmAfE

—HRBE

B6.1

B6.2

B6.3

B6.4

B6.5

BRMRHERNRENRERELRS  BS  RERILBEEMN
BRI ER -

(@  thepolicies; and

@ BE R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of
redress.

) BEBTHETABEAZENRBZERAONER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls

for safety and health reasons.

EERCERERARTRZ 2 BEFIEMMANKNESLL -

Number of products and service related complaints received

and how they are dealt with.

BEAREDRBRBORFHEURELE L% -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting

intellectual property rights.

Mg R RRENSEREBOED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HERESBRTARKERBYER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,

and how they are implemented and monitored.

HURBEBERERLBEE - ARBBRTREERE -

STEFEH

3.1 Product quality assurance
IEREERE

3.2 Customer service

328 PR

3.5 Intellectual property
protection

SSHBERERE

3.1 Product quality assurance

IEREERE

3.2 Customer service

328 PR



KPI Content
EERA
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - HEREAERE

Corresponding chapters

HREH

B7: Anti-corruption
B7: RBIE

B8: Community
Investment

B8 : HRIEE

General Disclosure
— M=

B7.1

B7.2

B7.3

General Disclosure
—RBEE

B8.1

B8.2

Information on:

BRI 9% REERAREN

(@  the policies; and

@ BE: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

b) BETHETABEAZENRBZZRAONER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting

period and the outcomes of the cases.

REGBNHETARAEERETEEENE)THARNEH

YHRFRER -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing

procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HApHERRERER  AREBRTRERSE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and

staff.

MtmEERE TRENRETE -

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
BUNHER2ERTREEMEHERENRREXKEDE
ZRMBMRAOIE -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
EIERER(NHE REEE 4IF% BR X8
B)e

Resources contributed to the focus area.

EZIERABHAER -

3.4 Integrity and anti-
corruption

SAHERE

3.4 Integrity and anti-
corruption

3ABIERZ

3.4 Integrity and anti-
corruption

BAHEREZ

3.4 Integrity and anti-
corruption

BABIERZ

6. Community Care
6.AEHE

6. Community Care

6. E

6. Community Care
6.FEHE
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18 M % BLAT R

To the Shareholders of Zibuyu Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Zibuyu Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 165 to 280, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BFTEEHAERAFARRK
(RFEEHSTMA L FRLA])

=

EMEBETHARRE
FTHREEHABRARUATEHBIER
ADERHEMBATI (A TH#BE EER])
FIE N E165E 280 H A FFEI ISR K -
(2R

o R2023F12A31H A GBI # Ak
TR

s  HE%ZHA

IEFENAHFERRER

o  EHEZRULFENAHEREEDE

s HERALFEWMAHREZAE
=&

s AHMBHmERNE BREANGE
BRMEMBEREES -

EMAWER

BPIRR  ZFEEHVBREERE(E

BB RE S ER) EE T 5 R

T E5£EMN2023F12 831 BRI A G
BRAREEHZZAIEFENAHYB
KENAHRERE  WEEBREB(A
FUEBI BB TR IR T & AR o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
(“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

18 3% BUE R

EROER

ZAIERB(ERFES ERDETERT -
BPEZFEATARENEED EARR
T2 BEM AT BB RMRAENE
TIEB Dy R — PRt -

?‘/iﬁ*ﬁ% BAMERNERFRIER
EEHRBRMINES B RIREER -
By

RIEERE
I (EER g

FHEME R B EERIE =R
AR EERTR (BEHE
BB MR AE) ) LATF‘?%M%E‘%#E'JJ)
BB E5E - YEETERSTH
P EMBRBEEE -

FARESTEE

AR EFHEERBERFINF R HE -
REHAHMEHPBRRNBIRA/E
EMNEH GELEEHISAERMBTER
BHP BRI LD EEREEITRIEN -
BT ey ELeERREEEFNER -
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38 3 1% BUEN R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

AREETEE @

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to K fIEBA P BRI N EREFEEZH

provision for write-down of inventories.

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

REFERERBHEHE -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMHEFNAEEEARETSE

Provision for write-down of inventories

FE B ER B 12

Refer to Note 4(a) and Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

2B TS MR 4 MM EE19

As at 31 December 2023, the gross carrying value
of inventories amounted to RMB512,427,000, with
a provision for write-down of RMB112,979,000.
720235128310 - EXEGFEREMRE KT
REOFERERED IR ARE512,427,0007T K&
112,979,0007T °

Our audit procedures performed on provision for
write-down of inventories included:

B FERERENETIEFEE

— Obtaining an understanding of the

management internal controls and assessment
process of provision for write-down of
inventories and assessing the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and
subjectivity and level of other inherent risk
factors such as complexity and susceptibility
to management bias or fraud;
B i B T [ 1T SR (B B s B0 TR BD AR 1R AN R A
B WERBERMAEFT T REENETEMRE
MEMESRBEZRAKE  MEMEREE
B E R A & SR BURNE - AT E R ER R
EA EkE

— Evaluating and validating the key controls on a
sample basis over the assessment of provision
for write-down of inventories;

AHE B AN ERERET R AR
Pl

— Evaluating the outcome of prior year’s
assessment of provision for write-down of
inventories to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process;

AR FEREHFERERBRNER - A
AEEREET HBENERIL
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Key Audit Matter
BRETSEE

2023FE¥HE FAREBERAFRAA

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2B &

FAREETEE @

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETUNEEREETSE

Provision for write-down of inventories (continued)

FEBEREN R ()

The Group’s inventories are stated at the lower of
cost and net realizable value (“NRV”) which
requires management’s significant estimation of
the NRV of the inventories based on consideration
of the key assumptions including future sales
quantities, estimated future selling prices and
selling expenses of the respective inventories.
SEEEYNTERRAER SR FENRAE B
FEAERFESNERERHAE ZFHEHT
ERMEFENRRIEEHREEA  BERKRE
BUAKHER X SHARERE -

We focused on this area due to the significant
balance of inventories, high degree of estimation
uncertainties associated with the estimated selling
price and related selling expenses and subjectivity
of management estimation of the future sales
quantities which are used in the assessment of
NRV of the inventories.

BPEINLER RASE EXEEFESHE
N Hpﬁéﬂ_f—]Hfﬁ@@%ﬁﬁ%fﬁf&fﬁ’%E'ﬂ
XHREBARRETHEMN RKHEHRETANA
B RERENETEMEE -

— Assessing the reasonableness of key
assumptions applied to the NRV by
challenging management’s projections of
future sales quantities, estimated future selling
prices and selling expenses, with reference to
the following factors, including historical sales
data, historical trend of sales quantities and
selling prices, product life cycle, pricing
strategy, budgeted selling and promotion
expenses, as well as actual selling prices and
sales quantities subsequent to the year end;
BAEREEENAKEERR  BERKE
BHRHERX  W2ERELIHEEE ELH
EHENEEBEDBYE EmLaBH BB
RES - HENEHAXBARFROEREE
FIHERE - SHE A 2 I FEMEAARRE
B IR

— Observing the physical conditions of the
Group’s inventories during attendance of
physical inventory count to identify any
damaged or obsolete inventories and following
up if those identified items were included in the
management assessment; and
Eﬁf%ﬁﬁ BREPER EEEEENEYR

CARERIRENTE - WIREEIEEN
ﬁﬂh% T BELARFS

— Checking the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of the NRV and provision for write-
down of inventories.

BRFER #IHE SR EREFT BRI -

Based on the above procedures performed, we
considered that the estimates used by management
in determining the provision for write-down of
inventories were supported by the available
evidence.

ER iR BFARA BEEERETFERIE
BRI E A A RER P A M AL 1S O BB S 45 -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in Zibuyu Group Limited 2023 Annual
Report (the “annual report”) other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

HifE 8

BERAREFAHHEMESRR - HME
BEETFNEKE AR A F2023F F
(FHHDANABREE  BETREEH
R IR M PR AZBEI RS

BMYEHUBERRNBERALNRER
iER  RATAHZSEMEEER
EAEANEZ S o

BERMBAFMBHRERNETS - M
MAETSHEEMBER  FltgiEd &
BHMESRG RS HYHHRRLHM
EEBRETAEENBRFEENE
B EUFFEERBERRANER -

EREMEHNITHIE  UREMARAE
HiERFEERERRL  HMFR
BEXFE-HEEIE BAREEM

s o

EEREREESNSHUME
WREAARENERE

BERAREZRAAERB(BRMERES
FHERI) BB SR RHEDI) B4R 58 37 7 #
BEEMHRENAHUBRER  AHEH
RER/EAHTBRERNEE N FHER
R FREF Sk 5 AR T 28 B RY BE K 86 SR BRI AT
FORRZEFAS -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

18 3% BUE R
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

18 3% BUE R
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lo Kai Leung, Thomas.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SEfEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F 12 A31H IEF &

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling expenses and distribution
costs

General and administrative
expenses

Net impairment losses on financial
assets

Other income

Other gains, net

Operating (loss)/profit

Finance costs
Fair value changes of redeemable
convertible preferred shares

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Income tax expense

(Loss)/profit and total
comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year, all attributable to
shareholders of the Company

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings
per share for (loss)/profit
attributable to shareholders of
the Company (express in RMB
per share)

The notes on pages 171 to 280 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Note

Lhgzd
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SHE AR 8
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SHER S ko A

8
— R ERITHAX
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TRIEERERERFR
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NAEEE 23

BRATSBLAT (B518),
b

PSR X 10

RRTFRREEFE
(B#8)FEK
2H (BR),

W 25 48 5R

ZAN/NCTE) &g At
(B#8)/FEN
BREARNKEE
(E518), /& F| (LA
ERAR®BITETR) 13

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE

2023

20234
RMB’000
AR¥ T

3,000,292

(1,045,019)

1,955,273

(2,052,254)
(157,742)
(901)

8,152
9,746

(237,726)

(9,485)

(247,211)

(18,575)

(265,786)

BHRRH—LD -

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARET T

3,066,331

(718,576)

2,347,755

(2,085,891)
(142,060)

(4,272)
13,158

13,486

142,176
(15,871)

885

127,190

(16,496)

110,694

0.24
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SO B AR R

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 72023412 A31H

Note
B 7

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Prepayments and other receivables

Deferred income tax assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments and other receivables

Restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

&E

FRBEE

ME - BB kRE
EREEE
BIVEE

TR AR N At PR IR
IR
BRI EE
B EAREN
TREE

FRBEELE

hRBEE

78

B 5 WA

TEA R M B At R IR
/S
XRHRD
RAelhReEHED

RBEERME

HEE

&fE&
FRBEE
HER®E

FRBEERE

14
15
16

17
27

3.3

19
20

21

22
22

15

As at 31 December
M12A31H

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARETR

10,759
33,050
2,283

3,286

4,958

54,336

399,448
139,159

20,572
2,416

277,475

839,070

893,406

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARETTT

13,595
71,304
2,789

5,021
14,496

107,205

754,669
175,908

20,014
8,373

294,539
1,253,503

1,360,708

43,662

43,662
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B Ot AR R &

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 7202312 A31H

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B ARE TR ARETT

Current liabilities

Lease liabilities

Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities

Current income tax liabilities
Borrowings

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

EQUITY

Equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company

Share capital

Share premium

Shares held for employee share
scheme

Other reserves

Retained earnings

Total equity

Total equity and liabilities

The notes on pages 171 to 280 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements on page 165 to 280
were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on

REBRE

HE&E

B 5 MEAMENTRIA
BHEE

B EHAE

f& 3K

REBEEAE

mEE

R
RRFRREMEER

(LN

et i (B

BB EIRA
F LA

HAbf#

RE &7

ERAHE

EEREERAE

27 March 2024 and were signed on its behalf by:

Hua Bingru
ERW
Director

EF

15 21,010 28,136
28 206,339 298,653
5 7,803 9,928

2,150 25,211
29 161,990 167,797

399,292 529,725

409,668 573,387

23 174 174
23 1,581,592 1,603,477
24 (15,912) -
25 (1,267,815) (1,268,012)
26 185,699 451,682

483,738 787,321

893,406 1,360,708

FAT1E280 B FTH T B XS A MY

BHRO—FLD -

F£165£ 2805 WA (I 1E &K 122024 F
3A27THERARRESESIE - WHIA

TATHRZRE

Wang Weiping
TR
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
EEREBR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Balance at 1 January 2023

Loss for the year

Dividends distribution to
shareholders

Appropriation to statutory
reserves

Acquisition of shares under
employee share scheme

Balance at 31 December 2023

Balance at 1 January 2022

Profit for the year

Issuance of shares by initial
public offering, net of
attributable transaction costs

Conversion of convertible
redeemable preferred shares
to ordinary shares

Capitalisation issuance

Appropriation to statutory
reserves

Balance at 31 December 2022

The notes on pages 171 to 280 are an integral part of these

120231 A1EMES

EEBR
RBERAOBE DR

BREATHE

RERERMHEUERY

2023 E12 A31 BRY & 84

20221 A1EMER

FENE

BBBERLAREERIRG
(NBREERFKAE)

FAgRTRRELRES
REBR

EMeEfT
BREAEHE

2022 E12 A31 BEV &84

consolidated financial statements.

KRR RRER
Shares held
for
employee
Share Share share Other  Retained
capital  premium scheme reserves  earnings Total
BESRHR
SEEEN
RA  RHEE Rt EftRE  REEN st
Note RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ME  ARBTT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
1,603,477 (1,268,012) 451,682 787,321
(265,786)  (265,786)
12 (21,885) (21,885)
25
24 (15,912) (15,912)
1,581,592 (15,912)  (1,267,815) 483,738
138 1,299,862 - (1,269,519 342,495 372,976
- - - - 110,694 110,694
23 10 198,435 - - - 198,445
23 5 105,201 - - - 105,206
23 21 1) - - - -
25 - - - 1,507 (1,507) -
174 1,603,477 - (1,268,012 451,682 787,321
FAT1E280H FTE M BN 25 & 6181

BHR—F7D -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EHRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F 12 A31H IEF &

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR¥ T AR®ETF T
Cash flows from operating RETHNRERE
activities
Cash generated from operations & & FT{5HE & 30 100,015 115,000
Interest received B U F B 5,276 1,080
Income taxes paid ERFTEH (28,561) (23,996)
Net cash generated from EEBMERSEE
operating activities 92,084
Cash flows from investing RETHNEESRE
activities
Payments for property, plantand ~ EEE¥% - WE MR &
equipment X THRE (4,972) (9,249)
Payments for intangible assets BEREEESNHN
"e (1,379) (3,368)
Purchases of financial assets at BERANBEGAER
fair value through profit or loss WEREE (4,958) —
Proceeds from disposals of HEYE - Jﬁﬁb;% e
property, plant and equipment Fr 13 3% 1,251 16

Net cash used in investing
activities

REFHFAREFE

(10,058)

(12,601)



170

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EHRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

Note
MIaE

Cash flows from financing
activities

Proceeds from share issuance
upon listing

Proceeds from bank borrowings

Repayment of bank borrowings

Principal elements of lease
payments

Dividend paid to shareholders

Share repurchase

Payments of listing expenses

Decrease in restricted cash
pledged for bank borrowings

Interest paid

Net cash (used in)/generated
from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash

and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year
Effects of exchange rate
changes on cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the

end of the year

The notes on pages 171 to 280 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

MEZTBNRERE

EHEBIDEITHE
RIA
RITHEFKPTISRIA
EEBITER
HENRKOAEE D

I7) % 3RS A5F A A B
Petn i =

S EWRX
FUIRTTHE RE R R
B3R 2R
ERHE

BMEED (A,
FEREFH

REkREEEY
(4,8 7 58
FOREREEEEY

ERSHHRERAE
EEVMNRE

FRAERAEEEY

12
21,24

22

22

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023
20234
RMB’000
AR¥ T

192,000
(197,835)

(25,574)
(22,850)
(18,235)

(5,231)

(9,627)

(87,352)

(20,680)

294,539

277,475

BmKRH—#o -

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARBFIT

210,818
262,530
(306,494)

(21,610)

360

(14,402)

129,861

209,344

80,855

4,340

294,539
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S OF B 35 3 3R MY &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F 12 A31H IEF &

1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Zibuyu Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 6 August 2018
as a limited liability company. The address of the
Company’s registered office is 3-212 Governors
Square, 23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue, P.O. Box 30746,
Seven Mile Beach, Grand Cayman, KY1-1203, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in sale of apparel products,
footwear products and other products, including
electronic devices and stationery and sporting goods.
The Company’s products are sourced in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and sold to customers in
locations including the United States (the “U.S.”),
Germany, France, Japan and other countries via
third-party e-commerce platforms and self-operated
online stores (“Operating Business”).

Up to 23 August 2023, the ultimate controlling
shareholders of the Group are Mr. Hua Bingru
(“Mr. Hua”) and Ms. Yu Feng. Ms. Yu Feng has no
longer been the ultimate controlling shareholder since
24 August 2023.

—REH

FAEEBEER ARG ((RARF]) R
2018F8 A6 HEM SRS ML
RAEBRRE] - ARBIFEMMPFER M
it /&3-212 Governors Square, 23
Lime Tree Bay Avenue, P.O. Box
30746, Seven Mile Beach, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1203, Cayman
Islands °

RARB—RIEEER A B R EH
NEl(FBIALER]) FEREH
ERHER EREMAEMER
(BEEFEELAXHEERAR) °
RARMERREBEPEARKLM
Bl ([FE))  WBBRE=FEHF
ERBERUMETEFNRERH
(TEE)) -Z2H- 2R BARE
ERHEE ([EEPER]) -

B 2202348 H23H ' AEEA &
IR R ABERIE A ([FEL
) RREZ L - 52023F8H24
i REAZLETHEARKRZERE
%o

17
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

1

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

On 11 November 2022, the Company completed its
global initial public offering (“IPO”) and its shares were
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
Company made an offering of 29,250,000 ordinary
shares at a price at Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$”) 7.86 per
share. The gross proceeds received by the Company
was approximately HK$229,905,000 (equivalent to
approximately Renminbi (“RMB”) 210,818,000), which
was detailed in Note 23. All redeemable convertible
preferred shares were converted into ordinary shares
upon completion of IPO on 11 November 2022, which
was detailed in Note 23.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in thousands of RMB (“RMB’000”) unless otherwise
stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on
27 March 2024.

—RES @

2022F11 A11H * ARARE=KE
FERARABEE(ERAME
) EROEBBHERSINE
PRAF(TBERAT]) ERETT - XA
AR ER7.86B THEKET
29,250,000% & i@ A% o AN A A1 #Y P
13 FXIE 48 BE 4 /5229,905,000/%5 7T
(XHAE N AR 210,818,0007T) -
SEIEHN W23 - FrE A EkE B
[B] 18 5 B 722022411 A11 8 T
BRARBERERASL B  &F
IBE AT FE23 ©

BrEEHRBEN  ZESHUBEREK
UIAREFITEY -

ZEAHMBHRREEZTEN2024
FIA27TAHLAEZEM o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OB R R M T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 BRERERSTBEZEE

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BREEE

2.1 Basis of preparation 2.1

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. IFRS Accounting Standards
comprise the following authoritative literature:

o IFRS Accounting Standards

° IAS Standards

° Interpretations developed by the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC
Interpretations) or its predecessor body, the
Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC
Interpretations)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis, except
for certain financial assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting
Standards requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

RNEBE FIH BRI IIBIER
BRI RS IRE ER S ER R E
BARIEDIEE22E Z B
TEHHE - BRI S R
ST BI B HE DA TR B SR

. BEBRHEHREEAEH
8

o EEEER %S

|
ZEBgfrnaE (BKR
MmERBZESR
B)RENSGEHRER
EefTNRE (FHR

>

BRIRAREHENETERE
ERAEI  AHMBRERE
REE L AR -

RIBBIFR B 75 s R & 5t 2
A EHE & TS R 5 R (E
ETEZRERE HEER
ERNERAEE S BORETT
R FIE - M= E A kE
MRS & T BHRE
& BERNBRR LA
WP M R4 EE -
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EXid ks Sk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

(@) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

The Group has applied the following
amendments for the first time for their
annual reporting period commencing
1 January 2023:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to Disclosure of

IAS 1 and Accounting

IFRS Practice Policies

Statement 2

Amendments to Definition of
IAS 8 Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to Deferred Tax related
IAS 12 to Assets and

Liabilities arising
from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to International Tax
IAS 12 Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

The amendments listed above did not have
any impact on the amounts recognized in
prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future
periods.

2 BRBEEERSTERZEZH

(&)

22 S RRREKEZEE

@

KEEFRA B FTERI R
BRAETE

KEBE D H2023F1 A1
BB FEE RS M
EXER A TERTA ¢

B %R R E L
HAER|
FA75:
Bl @ T2 S5 BED
BIZE15%  HE
N B R B
B EAE
AEBA
B2k
B3I
Re e SFHHEAY
R8s T&
(EHIEN
Rt BHE—R5
AIZE12 EENE
RIEFTAR ERAE
EENIE
FEFIE
Bl =t 2 CEER R UL
AlIZE12 WE
SRIBETAR  —
RV~

R

bl A& T AN $ 5 B HA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OB R R M T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 BRERERSTBEZEE
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (4)

(continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 22 B BXRRIFEZEE
disclosures (continued) (4&)

(b)

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted

The following new accounting standards,
amendments to accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that are
not mandatory for the annual reporting
period commencing from 1 January 2023
and have not been early adopted by the
Group. These standards, amendments or
interpretations are not expected to have a
material impact on the Group in the current
or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.

(b) [HARIERA R ER R a2
7

5B MM E I IER
2023F1 A1 HFE B F
[ R & HA A 98 ol AR KA
el g8
B ARZEY RER
SEREEHEMN -ZFTE
Al - {EFT Ak 2 e H

BRI sk R 2R A B A
TEHAEENAIER
RRRGELEEATE -

Effective for

accounting

periods beginning

Standards Key requirements on or after
RUTBES 2%

R3] FTERE BHETTHBEN

Amendments to IAS 1

B S5 ERE1SRIERT A

Amendments to IAS 1

EE & SRR E 1A T A

Amendments to IFRS 16

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

BEBESEARDIERD

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

MR AERNI R BE

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

1 January 2024

202441 A1H
1 January 2024

20241 A1H
1 January 2024

BFRE I E R FE165RERI A ERENNHEERE 20241 H1H
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier finance arrangements 1 January 2024
REFTERIETHR MERMER HERRE T 202441 A1H

EHEBF7HIEFT A
Amendments to IAS 21

Re T ERIFE 21 RS A
Amendments to IFRS 10 and

IAS 28

B B 75 ¥R 5 22 R £ 1057 R B ER

et ERIF285R BT K

Lack of Exchangeability

R A] R

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

REEFHABENAIHESED

EZBMNBERESEE

1 January 2025
20251 A1H
To be determined

=
T E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BOF B AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: foreign exchange risk, cash flow
and fair value interest rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. The Group does not use
any derivative financial instruments to hedge
certain risk exposures during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures. The Group entities
incur most of the inventory purchase in respect of
their functional currencies. Foreign exchange risk
arises from various currency exposures primarily
through proceeds received from customers and
shareholders, and payments to the suppliers that
are denominated in a currency other than the
Group’s entities’ functional currency. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily U.S.
dollars (“US$”) and HKS$.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

3

B ISR b BB
1 BBEREE

REEEBEHARZED
R INERR - BERE
RAnBENERE - EERR
Komsht Rk o REBEREES
ERRERFEZENSRTS
BB FEAIE - I KRB EE
EERNEENFRRAOELET
R 22 & o B £20234F 2022
FI2A31MHLEFE  AEH
W EFE BERITE R T AY
A TR B A e

S EE Jml

REBAEZHREE  BUAR
B[R & % i & A 6 SN
@ REBERRKEOFER
BREZENIREEY - TH
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SOt IS SRR M EE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # 2202312 A31H [ FE
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BH¥EKRERE@m
(continued)

3.1 BEREZE®

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Foreign exchange risk (continued) SN E Bl B ()
Exposure JE B 1 T

The Group’s major exposure to foreign currency REERBE RN EZINE
risk at the end of the reporting period, expressed FE A (AARBTFITERT)
in RMB’000, was as follows: LU

Us$ HK$ Other

Ep BT Hity
RMB’000
AR®ST R

RMB’000
ARET R

RMB’000
AREF

As at 31 December 2023 2023125 31H

Trade and other B 5 R EAEWFRIA
receivables

Cash and cash equivalents 4 RIREHEY

Trade and other payables & 5 & H {thfE (3R

128,458 4,615
158,192 5,069
(69,368) (2,063)

US$ HK$ Other
e BT Hith
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBTT ARBFT
As at 31 December 2022 42022%12H31H
Trade and other B 5 kMR RIE
receivables 172,563 34 7,363
Cash and cash equivalents R & RIR & ZEY 85,585 146,471 3,471
Trade and other payables Z 5 & E 1508 (93,470) (551) (4,207)
Borrowings RN (10,157) - -
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EXid ks Sk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
Foreign exchange risk (continued)
Exposure (continued)

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

During the years, the following foreign-exchange
related amounts were recognised in profit or loss:

Other gains, net H bz 558
Finance costs B 7% AKX 2K

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, if US$ and
HK$ had strengthened/weakened by 5% against
RMB with all other variables held constant, the
net loss/profit for the year would have been
RMB13,234,000 lower/higher or RMB15,165,000
higher/lower respectively, mainly as a result of net
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of
US$ and HK$ denominated cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables and
trade and other payables.

iR EE @

3.1 BI¥EREZE®

SME [ iz (48)

B i O ()

s
S

=
i
Pl
B
&

FERR V& 5

FAR- TIIEINEBBENEER
R RS

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT

13,512
(1,522)
11,990

M20234F K& 20224%12 A 31

B METEETLAREA
1B,/ B2 1E5% * M Fr A E ith &
ERETE - BIFEEEHEF
BRBEED IR AR
113,234,000 7T 3 1 o1,
AR #15,165,0007T © = ER
B ABREUET B THESD
HekReEFEY BHEE
U GRIAA N B 5 K E At
NFRIBRE K W BB
¥ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OB R R M T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BXERER@
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 BI¥RMEZE @

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank
deposits and borrowings. Borrowings obtained at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash
at bank with variable interest rates. Borrowings
obtained at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. During the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s
borrowings bore interest both at variable rates
and fixed rates.

Bank deposits carried at prevailing market
interest rate expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. The Group closely monitors
trend of interest rate and its impact on the
Group’s interest rate risk exposure to ensure it is
within an acceptable level. The Group currently
has not used any interest rate swap
arrangements but will consider hedging interest
rate risk should the need arise.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, if interest rate on borrowings had been
higher/lower by 50 basis points of current interest
rate, with other variables held constant, net loss/
profit for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, would have been approximately
RMB277,000 higher/lower or RMB454,000 lower/
higher, respectively.

HERBRALEFEEE

REBHMERER KRB RITT
KRBT o HRIZENF R EUSHY
BREIEERHRSRER
EEpg - RS W IRIFEF =R
FTERRITIE ST - L&
ENERENEREREER
HARENXRER - 822023
F 20229412 A31H I F
B AEE®ERERIRZE
MEREENEGE °

LAE BT 35 M R 5T B RYIRTTIF
RERAEERHRSTRENEX
Rl - AN [EE w L) BRI A &
EBUREBREEAZ X
RReEE  BERERNAE
XK¥ - BAY - NEBEWLEE
FHERAM R 2 - BA
FEGEEEIPAERER o

B £2023%F 2022412 A 31
HIEFE @ WERFEER/
BN E R FR50EES: - ME
tEERFTE - A|EZ2023
F%2022F 12 A31H IEFE
MERFIBFEE D R G
o0,/ 8 A 49 A B #277,0007T
SR 10 A R 454,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
its cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL”) and trade and other receivables. The
carrying amount of each class of the above
financial assets represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to the
corresponding class of financial assets.

@)

Credit risk of cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash

To manage this risk, cash deposits at banks
are mainly placed with state-owned and
reputable financial institutions in mainland
China and reputable international
institutions outside of mainland China. There
has been no recent history of default in
relation to these financial institutions. These
instruments are considered to have low
credit risk because they have a low risk of
default and the counterparty has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term. The identified
credit losses are immaterial.

3

iR EE @
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AEEERERE MREEHE
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3 BH¥EKRERE@m

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

®)

Credit risk of trade receivables

The Group has policies in place to ensure
that trade receivables with credit terms are
made to counterparties with an appropriate
credit history and management performs
ongoing credit evaluations of the
counterparties.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the

aging.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

©)

Credit risk of trade receivables (continued)

The Group considers the probability of
default upon initial recognition of asset and
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

° actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
customer’s ability to meet its
obligations;
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

®)

Credit risk of trade receivables (continued)

° actual or expected significant changes
in the operating results of customers;

° significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
customers, including changes in the
payment status.

Individually impaired trade receivables are
related to customers who are experiencing
unexpected economic difficulties. The
Group expects that the entire amounts of
the receivables will have difficulty to be
recovered and has recognized impairment
losses.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period of
each reporting period and probability of
default of counter parties on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the Gross
Domestic Product (GDP) and the growth
rate of e-commerce industry to be the most
relevant factor, and accordingly adjusted the
historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Crediit risk (continued)

©)

Credit risk of trade receivables (continued)

The Group accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for expected credit
losses on a timely basis. As there was no
significant change of the customer base,
historical credit loss rate of customers and
forward-looking information, the Group
adopted the same expected credit loss rate
during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

Gross carrying amount of & 5 B IERE

trade receivables FEte)
Expected loss rate TEHAEIE X
Loss allowance Er B E

B EEEE @

3.1 BERREE @
EEmE (&)

b) EZEKFIERNEER

5% ()

AEEEBRFEE
RIEMEEEBEREGY
HEERBAER -#ZE
20234 K 2022412 A
IMNELEFE BHRAEF
A BEEFEER
BERAEEE R E
EXREE ARAEHE
KAMBERMEREES

As at 31 December
M12A31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARETIT

139,858 176,792
(0.50%) (0.50%)

(699) (884)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(c

Credit risk of other receivables

For other receivables, management makes
periodic collective assessments as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience.
Impairment on other receivables is
measured as either 12-month expected
credit losses or lifetime expected credit loss,
depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit losses. The Group
believe that there is no material credit risk
inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance
of other receivables.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

()

Credit risk of other receivables (continuead)

Other receivables mainly comprise deposits,
receivable from third-party payment
platforms and others. The Group considers
the probability of default on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period. To
assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers available reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

° actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
third party’s ability to meet its
obligations;
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

(c)  Credit risk of other receivables (continued)

° actual or expected significant changes
in the operating results of the third

party;

° significant changes in the expected
performance and behavior of the third
party, including changes in the
payment status of the third party.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there
was no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group assessed
that the expected credit losses for these
receivables are not material through using
the 12-month expected losses method.

Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.
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EXid ks Sk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyzes the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the balance sheet date
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

Within
1 year
1R
RMB’000
AR®TR
As at 31 December R2023F12A31H
2023
Lease liabilities MEER
Trade and other B o RHEMER
payables (excluding HE(TBHE
refund liabilities, BHEE I
payroll and social Rt R H A fE
security and other tax ~ f#%18)
payables) 117,426
Borrowings EE: 166,818

309,160

3

B EEEE &)

3.1 BERREE @
TE R (E)

TERREEERBEREEZEAN
| HI E e FIEREFfE - AR EE
ME R A ERAERIE AN E
EITON - RPBEBENESER
BHRENRRRRESTE -

Between Between

1 and 2 and
PACE ) 5 years Total
122F 2E5F @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR AR%Tx

117,426
166,818

320,884




(continued)

SO IS MR MR
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{Z£2023%F12 A31H ItFE
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BXERERE @
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BIEREZE®
Liquidlity risk (continued) TEE 1R B ()
Between Between
Within 1and 2 and
1 year 2 years 5 years Total
18R 1526 2554 Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT AR®TRT ARETxn
As at 31 December M2022%512A31H
2022
Lease liabilities MEBRE 30,250 22,294 24,439 76,983
Trade and other BHREMER
payables (excluding (T BE
refund liabilties, BifEE 1&
payroll and social RAIR R B fE
security and other tax ~ [#{IA)
payables) 205,327 - 205,327
Borrowings EE 173,443 - 173,443
409,020 22,294 24,439 455,753
Capital management 3.2 BEXRER

3.2

2023 EHiE FAERAHRAT
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

AEBEBEARASHEREARSE
B ECEEESD - BB
BB R A E A RIS AR R A IR AR
IR 35 = E AN R
VUK B @A ©

A2 -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.2 Capital management (continued)

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the net debt to
equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as “net debt”
divided by “total equity”. Net debt is calculated as
borrowings, lease liabilities and redeemable
convertible preferred shares less cash and cash
equivalents. The net debt to equity ratios as at
31 December 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

3

Bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

Less: cash and cash equivalents

Net cash

Total equity
Net debt to equity ratio

FER R R

HW:BeRESE

BEREE @

3.2 BEXEE#®)

BTHRBRABREARRE - K
SERIBES BN TR
BB - AIRCRIREE AR
HEEENRDER

HITEREMAR—B - A&
ELAFEBERL R BERE
REX - ZLENHERER
DEREB IR @R - FE
BB ERER  HESR
1B K 7] B [0 AT 8B SR BROR &
Re MRSEEY - #{£2023
& N2022F12 A31H H) R &
L ENT

As at 31 December
M®12A31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFTT

161,990 167,797
31,386 71,798

(277,475) (294,539)

(84,099) (54,944)

483,738 787,321
N/A N/A
T A i A
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3 H¥EKRERE @

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

(@) Fair value hierarchy

Financial instruments carried at fair value or
where fair value was disclosed can be
categorized by levels of the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. The inputs are categorized into three
levels within a fair value hierarchy as

follows:

(i)

(il

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices)
(Level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data
(that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(@) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following table presents the Group’s
assets that are measured at fair value as at

3 H¥ERERE @

3.3 DAREMRFT @
(a) AREERE)

T&RE5R2023F12 A
S1TEAEBE AR EG

31 December 2023. EBNEE -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-1 et E=H st
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT AR®TT ARETT AR®TR
As at 31 December 2023 12023512 A31H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BRRBEFAR
nNEREE
— Unlisted equity - LM
investment RE 4,958 4,958

As at 31 December 2023, no liabilities were
measured at fair value.

As at 31 December 2022, no assets or
liabilities were measured at fair value.

The Group manages the valuation of level 3
instruments for financial reporting purpose
on a case by case basis. At least once every
reporting year, the Group would assess the
fair value of the Group’s level 3 instruments
by using valuation techniques.

There were no transfers between level 1, 2
and 3 during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

M2023FE12 8318  #]
EBERALBETE -

M2022%F12 831 H - #]
BEESBBRAAE

e

AEERTHHRE RO
REAEBBREES=
MTAWNGKE RE—
BEFE AREHED
SRAMERMEES
“RTENRAEBEET
Al — IR

# £20234F & 2022F 12
A31BItFE§—
Z R =4z A E g o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMBEBRERE W@

(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AREMRT @

(b) EERALERAEEGE

(b) Valuation techniques used to determine fair

values

Specific valuation techniques used to value
financial instruments include:

° Quoted market prices or dealer quotes
for similar instruments; and

° Other techniques, such as discounted
cash flow analysis, are used to
determine fair value for the remaining
financial instruments.

The finance manager of the Group performs
valuation on these level 3 instruments for
financial reporting purposes. On an annual
basis, the team adopts various valuation
techniques to determine the fair value of the
Group’s level 3 instrument.

The level 3 instrument of the Group is
unlisted equity investment. In August 2023,
the Group made investment in a private
company with the amount of US$700,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB4,958,000).
The sole purpose of the private company is
acquisition, holding and disposition of shares
or other equity-linked securities in the
Shanghai Tymo Electronic Technology Co.,
Ltd. As this instrument was not traded in an
active market as at 31 December 2023, its
fair value has been determined using net
asset value method. The fair value changes
of the instrument are immaterial due to the
short period and low expected return rate.
Accordingly, the sensitivity to changes in
unobservable inputs is not material.
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4

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next year are discussed below.

(@) Net realizable value of inventories

Net realizable value of inventory is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The Group assesses the net realizable value of
the inventories as well as the required amount of
write-down of inventory provision at each balance
sheet date, which involves significant judgment
on determination of the estimated residual value
of the inventory based on the Group’s projections
of future sales quantities, estimated future selling
prices and selling expenses, with reference to the
following factors, including historical sales data,
historical trend of sales quantities and selling
prices, product life cycle, pricing strategy,
budgeted selling and promotion expenses, as well
as actual sales quantities subsequent to the year
end. The Group performs regular check on the
physical conditions of inventories and assesses
possible write-down for any damaged inventories
at each balance sheet date.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

()

Net realizable value of inventories
(continued)

These key estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of
selling products of similar nature, which are
reassessed at each balance sheet date as they
could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer taste and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycle.

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in a few
jurisdictions. Judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current
income tax and deferred income tax provisions in
the periods in which such determinations are
made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are
recognized as management considers that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary differences
or tax losses can be utilized. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate,
such differences will impact the recognition of
deferred income tax assets and taxation in the
periods in which such estimate is changed.
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation
to refund some or all of the consideration
received (or receivable) from a customer and is
measured at the amount the Group ultimately
expects it will have to return to the customer. The
Group continuously updates its estimates based
on historical sales return rate and the refund
liabilities are adjusted accordingly. Estimates of
expected returns are sensitive to changes in
circumstances and the Group’s past experience
regarding returns may not be representative of
customers’ actual returns in the future.

Accrued payable to third-party
e-commerce platforms

At each year end, payable to third-party
e-commerce platforms are accrued by the Group.
These estimates are based on a number of
factors, including management’s knowledge of
platform policies, activities associated with
platforms, market conditions, etc.
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5 ZHEH

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

Description of segments and principal
activities

For management purposes, the Group is not
organized into business units based on their
products and only has one reportable operating
segment. Management monitors the operating
results of the Group’s operating segment as a
whole for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance
assessment.

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as
the executive directors of the Company.

Geographical information of customers

(a)

— North America — Je3EM
— Asia — oM
— Europe — BUM
— Others — HAth

TR EEXRBNH A

REEMS @ AEEYERE
HEMRMUEBEMMIAIE—
B ELEDH - EILEY
AEBEEDBNREEEHE
TEEREE W’Eu”jéfm [
Ko R IR G HIR R

CEDENEMANERAEE
ERREEH NS 2R
Tgﬁﬁ B XBRERKE
BESRERKTHEEDH
WRE - WERRERBERA]
WITES o

Fm HA|

EFHBEHEH

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE

2023 2022

2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AREF T
2,799,813 2,949,292
106,503 13,941
64,046 91,331
29,930 11,767
3,000,292 3,066,331
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EXid ks Sk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Revenue during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022

Revenue from contract with customers within the
scope of IFRS 15 is as follows:

5

— Through third-party —RBFE=H
e-commerce platforms BEEFE

— Through self-operated online  — &3 5 & 48k
stores

— Others — HAth

The analysis of revenue from contract with
customers recognized over time and at a point in
time as required by IFRS 15 is set out below:

Timing of revenue recognition W A e SR B
— Point in time — rfE B

o EBER @)

(b) BE2023F K 2022F12

B31HILEEEHNRA

A BBR B 75 ¥ 5 Y RI 55 15557 88
AHEFPEHBAIT

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETT

2,921,398 2,939,005

37,435 116,156
41,459 ERRRLL

3,000,292 3,066,331

BB R E R F 155748
E - BPAKNRAEREER &
By A B HERR VD AT SR A0 TS

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022

2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETT

3,000,292 3,066,331
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oHER@

(c) Contract liabilities

(c) EHNAE

As at 31 December
MW12A31H

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETT

Contract liabilities

The following table shows how much of the
revenue recognized in the current reporting

o)
Wt

et 9,928

r

TRETRARE AR
WAFREREENSNRERR

period relates to carried-forward contract WS -

liabilities.

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREF T

Revenue recognized that was
included in the balance of
contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year

RETFARKNEE
FEERE 2 FERR I

29,524
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(d) Unsatisfied performance obligations

(e)

The following table shows the unsatisfied
performance obligations resulting from contracts
with customers:

Expected to be recognized within & Hi —F RN HER

one year

Information about major customers

No individual customer’s revenue exceeds 10%
of the Group’s total revenue during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognized when control of products is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those
products.

The following is a description of the accounting
policy for the principal revenue stream of the
Group.

-
i.’:\.‘l:

SER @)

(d) RETHBENRK

(e)

TREBIAFEPAKELNR
BT B AR -

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETFIT
32,289
FHEFTEEFNER
H £20234F K2022F12 A 31

HIEFE @ WEEREF WA
BiEAEBRIAR10% °

PN

P A QW ATLE fn 4% 5 1
HRREPRER  HE2BR
BRASRE ARSI ZFER
A RE U ER B S4B

AT AR EEE B R ATORE
&I -
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5 oHER@

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Sales of products

The Group sells its products to customers over
third-party e-commerce platforms and
self-operated online stores. Revenue from
contracts with customers is recognized when
control of the products is transferred to
customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those products and
delivery to the customers.

Revenue from the sale of products is recognized
at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on the
receipt of products by customers.

For products that are expected to be returned,
instead of revenue, a refund liability is
recognized. A right-of-return asset (and the
corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also
recognized for the right to recover products from
a customer.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer products to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

(f)

WARER &)
HEEm

AEEBRBE=FEFTEK
BEMBRAEPHERLEM
BEP A QAT E f 45 5 1
HRREPRER HE2BR
BRASEE AR Z FE M
2 F &P A U R

=

HEEmMMRALEEER I
RER G TP R EE L g
R —RETEPWEIE SR
57\_'{ °

HRFEE AR M E M - FHET
BE (MIFRA) KRR - f&
WOR B RS (A B 35 & AR Y
HEFHE)MERETF KD
E mm RORE R T DARERR,

BHRERAREE R (K
EU) FEPEEMEREFPE
REmAER
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

6 OTHER INCOME

6 HMmWA

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

Interest income
Government grants (a)
Others

(@ Government grants provided to the Group mainly
related to financial subsidies received from the
local governments in the PRC. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies

relating to these grants.

7 OTHER GAINS, NET

B WA
B #4 B (a)
Hh

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
1,080

11,463

615

13,158

(@ AEEERHEMNBGMHEE
3 KA rp B 3 5 U U2 6 B
B RA o %551l BY 30 B R A AK
MRS RSB FE -

7 EHtiam

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

Net foreign exchange gains

Net gains/(losses) on disposal of
right-of-use assets

Net losses on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Others

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ TR AREFTT

PE W e F 58 13,512

HEFAEEEN

Wz, (B5R) F8 (21)
HEDE - BERXK

B E 18 RE 27)

Hb 22

13,486
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

8 EXPENSES BY NATURE 8 HBHEEITHRAX

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR®ET T
Freight and insurance cost B & MR KA 830,492 880,459
Cost of inventories sold (Note 19) EERERAK
(M5E19) 576,379 552,020
Commission to e-commerce platforms & &% 513,353 520,745
Marketing and advertising expenses &4 R E SR X 418,098 458,665
Provision for inventories FERE 387,814 54,768
Employee benefits (Note 11) EERNE
(M¥5E11) 215,534 167,816
Other platform charges HEMFEa®E 181,176 185,996
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTRAREERE
(Note 15) (FF5E15) 25,000 22,490
Labour outsourcing expenses BN 23,174 13,659
Legal and professional fees FEERBEER 9,488 8,491
Office expenses AR 8,855 8,920
Depreciation of property, plant and VI~ BB KRBT
equipment (Note 14) & (M5z14) 6,143 4,631
Information technology (“IT”) server = S8 (N1T))
charges AR E A 5,600 3,359
Auditor’s remuneration 2% SRR B 3,684 2,836
Amortization of intangible assets EmEEEE
(Note 16) (MFE16) 1,968 1,191
Lease expenses (Note 15) MERX (M3E15) 461 997
Legal settlement EENES 252 542
Listing expenses EWRX - 24,979
Other expenses HMFAx 47,544 33,963
Total cost of sales, selling expenses ~ SHEMA « HEFH X
and distribution costs and general K7 SRS e — 4%
and administrative expenses KiTB A 2% 3,255,015 2,946,527
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

8 EXPENSES BY NATURE (continued) 8

The Group incurred expenses amounted to a total of
approximately RMB33,314,000 and RMB19,880,000
related to research and development of new IT
systems for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, respectively. Such expenses mainly comprise
remuneration paid to certain staff, rental paid to IT
server and amortization of certain software, which have
been included in the above Employee benefits, IT
server charges and Amortization of intangible assets,

respectively.
9 FINANCE COSTS 9

Interest expenses on bank RITEROFEMXZ
borrowings

Interest expenses for lease liabilities A& & FHF| B 5 X
(Note 15) (M$5E15)

Net foreign exchange losses on RITIE R 2 B HE1R
bank borrowings HER

Others Hh,

Finance costs B 7% B X

EHEE I @

H 20234 K2022%12831H 1+
FE AEEELLAWEMTRA
EHENAIREINNDARLK
33,314,0007T X A K #19,880,000
Lo ZERTTEBEENETE
IHEHHN ERTRARSEHES R
aETE MmN EEoRlst AL
MEERF - ITRRSEANRER
BEEH -

B 35 R AR

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARET T

11,135

3,011

1,522
203

15,871
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2023 FEeE FAERARRDA

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

10 FTEFHBEX

The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income represents:

Current income tax
Deferred income tax (Note 27)

Income tax expense

BIEAFR 1SR
EIEPTISHE (M eE27)

FrS TR

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the
jurisdictions in which the entity operates.

(@) Cayman Islands profits tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands and is exempted from payment of the

Cayman Islands income tax.

(b) British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) profits tax

The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the
BVI are exempted from BVI income tax, as they

are incorporated under the International Business

Companies Act of the BVI.

REFFEmE SRR NRATEHR
RS

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFIT
19,541

(3,045)

16,496

a) BAISEENESN

(

ARG BIRIEREREQARE
(19615 FEIF LR - LixE
kg AR EHSFMAKL
WERRBRAR  AJREH
MESBSSH -

(b) REEAAFENEN

ZAUNCIREESY: F 4Py Fa
P L RO B BB 2 7] R #A S A A 5
BRBARBEEMEN - JHER
HiRBRBHRR SRR
ERBLREMAL ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE2023F12 A31BH ILFE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(c)

Hong Kong profits tax

The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in
Hong Kong are subject to Hong Kong profits tax
at a rate of 8.25% on assessable profits up to
HK$2,000,000 and 16.5% on any part of
assessable profits over HK$2,000,000 for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
subject to PRC CIT which is calculated based on
the applicable tax rate of 25% on the assessable
profits of the subsidiaries in accordance with PRC
tax laws and regulations, except for disclosed
below.

Zhejiang Zibuyu E-commerce Co., Ltd. and
Hangzhou Xingzezhi Internet Technology Co.,
Ltd., subsidiaries of the Company, had been
recognized as the High New Tech Enterprises in
2021 and 2023, respectively. According to the tax
incentives of the Corporate Income Tax Law of
the People’s Republic of China (the “CIT Law”) for
High New Tech Enterprises, these companies are
subject to a reduced corporate income tax rate of
15% for three years commencing from the first
year when these entities were recognized as the
High New Tech Enterprises.

(c)

10 S HBEXX @

HRNEH

#H =20234F 2022412 A 31
BIEFE  ARREEEEM
X 37 &9 Y /8 & 7]2,000,000,%8
TR AT B FE R B AR %
8.25% T KM E B HFEH -
if12,000,0007% 7T LA = B (£ {A]
JERT A EEB 5 1216.5% Tt K
BB BFEH -

BTSN ([
FriE®il)

KRR BB~ RZAS
ARBIREMEN - HIREF
BB HOE R MR AR LK B 2 A
B FE R B B4 25 % 3 F T K
AE X EERRI -

ARPMBARIFIEE
FEBERARRAMITAIE
BEBERAER AT DRI 2021
F R 2023 F R IE A M
B - RiIFHEARKME D
EEBUAE ([REMEBIAE]
HEtENHRKRES
% E N A BINRE = FT
EEHFRA=FARIRI5%
MRHANDREM -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(d)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

(continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, several subsidiaries in PRC were qualified
as small and micro enterprises under the PRC CIT
regime, which enjoyed a corporate income tax
rate of 20%. For the year ended 31 December
2023, annual taxable income shall be computed
at a reduced rate of 25% (2022: 12.5% or 25%)
for these subsidiaries.

PRC withholding income tax

According to the CIT Law, starting from
1 January 2008, a 10% withholding tax will be
levied on the immediate holding companies
established outside the PRC when their PRC
subsidiaries declare dividends out of their profits
earned after 1 January 2008. A lower withholding
tax rate of 5% may be applied if there is a tax
treaty arrangement between the PRC and the
jurisdiction of the foreign immediate holding
companies, including those incorporated in Hong
Kong.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no dividend withholding tax for PRC
companies was provided as the directors have
confirmed that the Group does not expect those
subsidiaries to distribute the retained earnings as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 in the
foreseeable future. Unremitted earnings on which
deferred income tax liabilities have not been
recognized totalled RMB335,023,000 and
RMB316,072,000 as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.

(d)

10 FIERiEZ @

FEITEMEH (1%
FEH D@

B £20234F 2022412 A 31
HIEFE  BREFBETEMS
MEE  ERENERHBEA
RIFF & /N RV 1 S A R -
ZHE20% M EFTBHHE o
H 22023128318 It F
B B/ MR EFEEN
5 A7 15 88 2 R 12 25% (2022
F 1 12.5%5%25%) 5T & -

REFEHH

RIBREZEEHE - 520084
1A18E - EEFRBBEINKAL
MEEZERARNFENEA
AL E2008F1A1H 212 &
SOFMEPEIRR SR - 55
B A BB 10% 8 FE 0
i o tnRA B EHNE B 1T AR
AE(BREBBFIMAILY
REWAEEE CRERT
MU EZ B - Bl Al gE @ A
5% R EXTENBILE o

B £20234F ;2022412 A 31
HIEFE BESFCRRLEE
FEHZENB AR TEERTE
BB R K o B R2023F &
2022F 12 A31HANREB &
A i L B A AR IR AR
B IBHIF - 20234 ;22022
F12A31H ' RERELEFT
SHaENRELBNDRA
A R #335,023,0007T & A R
#316,072,0007T °
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CRLE e R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10 FREBIFE X
() Numerical reconciliation of income tax () FASHB XML ER

expense

The difference between the actual income tax REMHEERERTHGRHE
expense charged to the consolidated statement B P45 25 77 >z BB 3 BR P 1S AL Al
of comprehensive income and the amounts which &8, M EEBIRITR MG
would result from applying the enacted tax rates EANSHE BN EESEERN
to loss/profit before income tax can be reconciled Nk

as follows:

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT

(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETSHIRT (&518),/

I (247,211) 127,190

Tax calculated at tax rates REWE A

applicable to (losses)/profits of (E18),/FHiE A

the respective subsidiaries R ERTIE (38,797) 25,208
Preferential tax of certain ETFHE A RN K

subsidiaries BE (2,023) (5,019)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR

purposes ) 186
Super deductions for research and 1 2% & &) hist

development expenditures (i) HIER (i) (5,276) (4,469)
Income not subject to tax HAHHOBKA (2,072) (1,070)
Temporary differences for which no 7 ## 52 IE T 7 18 & &

deferred tax asset was HE R

recognised —
Tax losses for which no deferred R HERIELEFHEE E

tax asset was recognised B 18 & 18 -
Reversal of previously recognised ¥ [6] 7 Aij #E 52 fY IR T

deferred income tax asset FTiSTEE —
Others Hftb 1,660
Income tax expense FriS B> 16,496
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(f)

(9)

Numerical reconciliation of income tax
expense (continued)

(i)  Super deductions for research and
development expenditures

According to the relevant laws and
regulations promulgated by the State Tax
Bureau of the People’s Republic of China
that was effective from 2008 onwards,
enterprises engaging in research and
development activities are entitled to claim
up to 175% or 200% of their research and
development expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining their
assessable profits for that year (“Super
Deduction”). The Group has made its best
estimate for the Super Deduction to be
claimed for the Group’s entities in
ascertaining their assessable profits during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

OECD Pillar Two model rules

The Group mainly operates internationally. It is
within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two model
rules. As of the reporting date, there is no public
announcement in the main operating countries.

Since the Pillar Two legislation was not effective
at the reporting date, the Group has no related
current tax exposure. The Group applies the
exception to recognising and disclosing
information about deferred tax assets and
liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes, as
provided in the amendments to IAS 12 issued in
May 2028.

(f)

10 FIERiEZ @

B XN BEH R
(#&)

() HREHL A

BIEFEAREMEE
ZAMBAREMRNB
2008 4F #E 4 Z 49 48 B %
BER WEBHEBEES
M¥EETHERY
FERN BEEZXIRE
ZEEMBRERERE
£ EARTMBRAXS)
#1175% 5 200% AN 51 $1
Br (TANEFHABR]) - A&
BEEpREERAER
20234 22022412 A
SIHILFEERTHRE
By DS A= oI
FHNBRE N AT o

KRBT IEER

AEETEGE2HEE L
GBI HE A EREE
PREB KL BEEMEMASE -

A S = A B TE SRS B RS
RAER - RSB #4578 Al
HAR 7% [ B o R 15202345 A
BB R ERIFE 12555
RIAIRE - AEBEERME
BEBIYE_AEHZELER
BHEERABEBENESFRERG
HME S o
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10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(g) OECD Pillar Two model rules (continued)

In addition, since the Pillar Two legislation in the
jurisdictions that the Group operates in was not
enacted or substantively enacted as at the
reporting date, and due to the uncertainty of the
announcement of the legislation and the
complexities in applying the legislation and
calculating GloBE income, the Group is in the
process of assessing its exposure to the Pillar
Two legislation for when it comes into effect.

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Wages, salaries and bonuses

Contributions to pension plan,
medical insurance and other
social insurance (a)

Housing fund

TE - #Fe kit
BREE - BE
R REMLE
RE2 5K (a)
FEAES

(9)

215,534

10 S HBEXX @

REMABINE = MEER
()

AN BREEREAE - &
SEKEMEN R EERE
BHIEEMEEM T A
Bl - IMEANERRENTHETE
1 LA K FE A RZE B R AT E 2 3K
RILEBEFTEREREE - K
S B IEERE ST AMI AR
Ry B9 [BL B o

11 EEEANE

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREFIT
190,223 150,785
19,970 13,237
5,341 3,794

167,816
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11 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(@) Pension costs-defined contribution

plans

The employees of the Group in the PRC are
members of a state-managed pension obligations
operated by the PRC government. The Group is
required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs as determined by respective local
government authority to the pension obligations
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefits
scheme is to make the specified contributions
under the scheme.

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group included 1 and nil director
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The emoluments of directors are
reflected in the analysis presented in Note 34.
Details of the emoluments of the remaining
highest paid non-director individuals during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as
follows:

11 BEERFAE @
(@) BARERE — RERRE

st

AEENTEES HRPEK
FEENBEREERARE S
MR8 o NEBBIZ ST
FFEBP e TE R AR E B
DR RS ET B RAE B
@R o A& B R ANEF S
JERME BB ERIEZAE
TR E S5 -

B £2023%F 2022412 A 31
ALEFE AEBERAE&aH
MALDRBE1IRRERE
= o EEH MM T4 DT
FES R T HRaHMIEES
A TR E £20234F 20224F
122A3MBLEFENMESF1E
U

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE

211

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Wages, salaries and bonuses IE - #Hae kil 5,986
Contributions to pension plan, BRHREEE - EFEAQ
housing fund, medical Be - BERRE
insurance and other social Hht 2 @F 3R

benefits 418

6,404
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11 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued) 11 EEGFNE @

(@) Pension costs-defined contribution
plans (continued)

The emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals except for the director, whose
emoluments have been disclosed in Note 34, fell
within the following bands:

(a) BHRERKR —RERF
8 ()

HEE(EMED RERKE
34)5N AEEREFMA L
MENFATEE :

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224

Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T A T —
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 0%
1,500,000/ 7T 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 70 &
2,000,0003% 7T 3
5
12 DIVIDENDS 12 RE

The Board does not recommend a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$0.05 per
share, representing total amount of HK$25,000,000,
equivalent to approximately RMB21,885,000).

EESTERREHZE2023F12A4
318 IEFE KRR B (20224 :
Ei%0.05/% JT 4258 325,000,000
BT HEE R A R 21,885,000
JT) °



2023FE¥HE FAREBERAFRAA 213

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

13 LOSS/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

Basic loss/earnings per share

The basic loss/earnings per share is calculated by
dividing the loss/profit attributable to
shareholders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the respective periods. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares used for such purpose
has been retrospectively adjusted for the effect of
the share subdivision completed on
16 September 2022 whereby each ordinary share
was subdivided into 200 ordinary shares and the
capitalisation issue of 57,950,000 shares
completed upon listing, which are deemed to
have been in issue since 1 January 2022 (Note
23).

On 11 November 2022, the Company issued
29,250,000 ordinary shares through IPO and the
redeemable convertible preferred shares were
converted to 12,800,000 ordinary shares.

13 EREE B
(@ BREXRERE EF

BREAEER BFIZRAAA]
B FE(R B 1R FIERR LA S B
M ERTERRNETIH
FTE o Bt B AN TR
kg FHEEE RBER2022F9
H16 8 7T IR @ #F 48 (&
It - TR E @R D I R22008%
TEiR) K EmiETKE R
2% 757,950,000 4% & 17 (18 &
F2022F1 A1HE3T) ¥
LErTIE TR (F15E23) ©

#2022F11 A11H » K2 7
BBERXRRABEE T
29,250,000 % & i@ A% + A f& [0
0 RELERE IR A
12,800,000 A% & i % ©
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CRLE e R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

13 LOSS/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(a)

Basic loss/earnings per share (continued)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares
have been adjusted to reflect the shares
repurchased under the share award scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
nil).

13 EREE B @

@ BEREXREE B @

TR INEFHEE AEUR
ML 2202312 A31H I F
SRR AR (0 BB &1 &1 8 =] A9 A%
13 (2022%F : &) o

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224

(Loss)/Profit attributable to the 7N AIAX R fE1S
shareholders of the Company (B8 FH
(RMB’000) (AR¥FTT)

Weighted average number of BT T RARAY g

ordinary shares in issue ('000) (TR

Basic (loss)/earnings per share ~ &M EAK (E5E),/

(express in RMB per share) BH (LAF %

ARBITZ75)

Diluted loss/earnings per share

Diluted loss/earnings per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic loss/earnings
per share to take into account the after income
tax effect of interest and other financing costs
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares,
and the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
potentially dilutive ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, diluted loss/
earnings per share presented is the same as the
basic loss/earnings per share as there was no
potentially dilutive ordinary share outstanding.

(265,786) 110,694

499,748 463,710

0.24

(b) EREBBEESR BF

ShEEER BIRBFE
BREARER BT AN
% STARBIEEE T BAAR
88 O 1) S N EL A B B AR AN O BR
PSR E  UWREMRBE
s L aREERNBERT
P TRESNE BV b+ 1
g

R20234F 2022412 A 31
H - AR EFITEINYER
HELER - W2y e
HEEER BAEGREKNE
B/ BF AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CRE R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% - BERRZ®E

Office
Electronic equipment Leasehold
equipment and others  improvements Total
BEYRE BOREBEREM HEWEXRE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR

Year ended 31 December 2023 £ £2023%F12A31H

LFE

Opening net book amount FOREFE 7,184 3,609 13,595
Additions RE 871 1,872 5,014
Disposals & (1,421) - (1,707)
Depreciation (Note 8) e (M158) (1,868) (2,760) (6,143)
Net book amount REFE 4,766 2,721 10,759
As at 31 December 2023 M2023F 128318

Cost % 7,016 7,176 5,440 20,232
Accumulated depreciation ZEtinE (3,744) (3,010) (2,719) (9,473)

Net book amount REFE 3,272 4,766 2,721 10,759
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CRLE e R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 V¥ - BERRZE @

(continued)

Office
Electronic equipment Leasehold
equipment and others  improvements Total
BTRE MRRBERAML HEWEEE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022%F12A31H

LEE
Opening net book amount FNREFE 2,258 6,094 757 9,109
Additions NE 2,075 2,960 4,125 9,160
Disposals HE (26) 17) - 49)
Depreciation (Note 8) & (fizxs) (1,505) (1,853) (1,273) (4,631)
Net book amount REFE 2,802 7,184 3,609 13,595
As at 31 December 2022 20225128318
Cost A 7,450 10,867 6,081 24,398
Accumulated depreciation ZEATE (4,648) (3,683) (2,472) (10,803)
Net book amount REFE 2,802 7,184 3,609 13,595
Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and REBNYE BERRETER
equipment has been recognized as follows: R
Year ended 31 December
BZE12AMBLEE
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tx ARETT
General and administrative expenses ~ — & & 1T R 2 3,755
Selling expenses and distribution HERS RO HK AR
costs 876

4,631
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 LEASES

(@ Amounts recognized in the consolidated

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position
shows the following amounts relating to leases:

15 #HE
(a) RNEGHBMRRREBERN

IR

ABETBRRETIRATA M
AR A -

As at 31 December
M12A31H

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFTT

Right-of-use assets
Warehouse

Office

Dormitory

Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current

EREEE
RE
E/NE

BE

HESE
E
FER#

59,548
11,653
103

71,304

28,136
43,662

71,798
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EXid ks Sk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

15 LEASES (continued) 15 #HE@w

(@ Amounts recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position (continued)

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were
RMB8,638,000 and RMB54,157,000,

respectively.

Depreciation charge of FEREEEREER
right-of-use assets

Warehouse BE

Office WAE

Dormitory Be

Interest expenses (included in ~ F| 8. F % (5t AR 7%

finance costs) PXAR)
Expenses relating to short- HEHHEER AR
term leases (included in (GTAfTEHRS)

administrative expenses)

The total cash outflow for leases during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were
RMB28,851,000 and RMB25,618,000
respectively.

(a)

REFBHEMRRNRERH
FIE (&)

B £2023%F 2022412 A31
HIEFERBNEREEES
B & A B #8,638,0007T & A
R #54,157,0007C °

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFTT

16,729
5,658
103

22,490

3,011

997

B £2023%F [ 2022F 12 A31
HIEFE  HERSRHRRE
o R A AR #28,851,0007T &
AR #25618,0007T °
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SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

16 BEE

Software
BH
RMB’000
AR¥T

As at 1 January 2023
Cost
Accumulated amortization

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2023
Opening net book amount
Additions

Amortization charge (Note 8)

Net book amount

As at 31 December 2023
Cost
Accumulated amortization

Net book amount

R2023%F1A1H
PRAR
REt

BRMEFER

B22023F12A31BILLEE
FYIREFEE

NE

#HBER (MEs)

R ER

72023128 31H
[N
BT

F IEF ER

5,232
(2,443)

2,789

2,789
1,462
(1,968)

2,283

6,694
(4,411)

2,283
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CRLE e R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

Amortization of the intangible assets has been

recognized as follows:

General and administrative expenses

— MR R AT A 2

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16 BEEE @
Software
IS
RMB’000
ARET T
As at 1 January 2022 20221 H81H
Cost BN 1,947
Accumulated amortization REtE N (1,252)
Net book amount BRMEFRE 695
Year ended 31 December 2022 BZE2022F12A31A L EE
Opening net book amount FYREFER 695
Additions NE 3,285
Amortization charge (Note 8) #iHE A (Mi5s) (1,191)
Net book amount BREFE 2,789
As at 31 December 2022 M2022F12H31H
Cost BN 5,232
Accumulated amortization RET# Y (2,443)
Net book amount BREFE 2,789

BB EBHEERN T

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFTT

1,191
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CRE R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

17 NON-CURRENT PREPAYMENTS AND 17 ERBFTESFEREMERK

OTHER RECEIVABLES FRIE
As at 31 December
MW12831H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
Deposits B 4,805
Prepayment for purchase of BEME BEX
property, plant and equipment RETEN FIE 133
Prepayment for intangible assets B EEMNENKIEA 83
5,021
18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 18 RERETHWERIA
CATEGORY
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARET T AREFIT
Financial assets at fair value BRAREFT AERD
through profit or loss TREE 3.3 -

Financial assets at amortized REBN AT EN S

cost: BEEE
Trade receivables B 5 R RIE 20 139,159 175,908
Other receivables (excluding H b & W SRIB

value-added tax (B ETE

recoverables, deposits for HEIEH - R

share repurchase, income EE%Ee -« AT

tax recoverable) EEEY)) 14,843 18,396
Restricted cash XRHIRE 22 2,416 8,373
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY 22 277,475 294,539

433,893 497,216

438,851 497,216
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EXid ks Sk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (continued)

18 REFESTHNE/MTE @

As at 31 December
MW12831H

2023 2022

20234 20224

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
{hEzs AR¥ T AREFTT

Financial liabilities at amortized
cost:

Trade and other payables
excluding non-financial
liabilities

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

19 INVENTORIES

Finished goods
Less: provision

BRI ER
TEBE:
E 5 N E bR
B (e ¥E
emasd) 117,426 205,327
BN 29 161,990 167,797
HEBRE 15 31,386 71,798
310,802 444,922
19 F&
As at 31 December
M12831H
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETIT
AN 512,427 815,565
o B (112,979) (60,896)

399,448 754,669
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SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

19 INVENTORIES (continued)

The cost of inventories recognized as expenses and
included in cost of sales amounted to
RMB576,379,000 and RMB552,020,000 for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Write-downs of inventories to net realizable value
recognized as expenses and included in cost of sales
amounted to RMB387,814,000 and RMB54,768,000 for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Costs of purchased inventories are
determined on the weighted average basis. Net
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 2 5 WA
Less: provision for impairment B R ERE

19 BZ& @)

#H £20234F 202241283108 1+
FE - BRAMAI I AHEKAR
WMEEKRAEXDNBARE
576,379,000 & A R ¥
552,020,000 °

H £20234F 2022412 A31H Ik
FE WRARIWE AHEEKAE
WEEREZTEEFESRAA
R #387,814,000 7T & A R &
54,768,000 °

TFER KR B n] # IR E MR E H &
K& - 7 BB E AR T
VEREFE - A ERFEENEE
EREPOGE EERMGE TX
RN Rt st b B ERANGTE o

20 B 5 EWRIE

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
139,858 176,792
(699) (884)
139,159 175,908

223
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SO BRI
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #; %2023 12 H31H It F[E
20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 20 ESZRRWRAE @
The majority of the Group’s receivables are with credit REBER KD B FKIBREEH
term approximately from 10 days to 180 days. As at A B10KE180K © R2023F &
31 December 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis of the 2022F 12 A31H * &S RWFIBZ
trade receivables, based on the recognition date, was ERAHNERROTOT
as follows:
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTT
Less than 3 months L3 1E A 121,676 169,763
3 months to 6 months 31 A =61E A 11,075 4,626
6 months to 12 months 6f& A =121 A 6,963 2,090
More than 1 year 15 A £ 144 313
139,858 176,792
The movements in provision for impairment of trade B SRR BRERENESER
receivables are as follows: W
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HALEE
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
At the beginning of the year T 4] 884 599
Provisions for trade receivables B 5 W RIB R 901 4,272
Written off as uncollectible 4755 U8 (0] T 4% 85 (1,086) (3,987)

At the end of the year RER 699 884
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CRE R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 20 B EWRIE @)

For the trade receivables, the Group has assessed the HREZERWHIE  NEERAZE
expected credit losses by considering historical default RBELEAE  BFTRRATE ST
rates, existing market conditions and forward-looking BERAGHETEHEEEE - REBT
information. Based on the assessment, the creation fiy - R E A FEYGRIB R E A R D
and reversal for impaired receivables have been ERFACREENREERF
included in the net impairment losses on financial B o EEITN g W B U RIAR - &
assets. Amounts charged to allowance account are ABERA WA -

written off when there is no expectation of receiving
the receivables.

The carrying amounts excluding provision of the AEEMNE S RIGKIENRE 2
Group’s trade receivables were denominated in the (MEIERE) DA T EHETE -

following currencies:

As at 31 December
M12A31H

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETT

us$ ETT 123,573 159,650
RMB AR 12,247 9,856
European Dollar (“EUR”) BT 1,741 3,167
Great Britain Pound (“GBP”) HEE 1,060 2,511
Canadian Dollar (“CAD”) ot 1,195
Brazilian Real (“BRL”) ERE:RR 1
Japanese Yen (“JPY?) H 1
Others HAt 411

139,858 176,792
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SOt SR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £2023%F12A31 8 [ FE

21 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 21 ENFEREAMAEREE
RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December
M12H31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT

Receivables from payment platforms & 7 F & 318 11,622
Prepayments to suppliers and A e P 2 S B 2 A

platforms AT I8 5,457
Deposits for share repurchase KRihEEZES -
Other deposits HEihize 1,705
Income tax recoverable AR EFT S -
Value-added tax recoverable A IR 966
Export tax refundable JE U AR A K 117
Others HAh 147

20,014

The carrying amounts of other receivables approximate HEWRIBENERAEREARE
their fair values. A -

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22 BERBEEEBYRZRE
RESTRICTED CASH Be

As at 31 December
M12A831H

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETIT

Cash at bank RITFER 279,891 302,912
Less: restricted cash (a) B XREIIR 2 () (2,416) (8,373)

Cash and cash equivalents RekBESEEY 277,475 294,539




22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

RESTRICTED CASH (continued)

(@) Restricted cash

The breakdown of restricted cash by nature as at
31 December 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

Restricted usage for salary EARINEHS

payment only

Guarantee for online store TABE B REEE R

credit card facilities IR

Temporarily-locked account (i) & & 85 7 B& 7 (i)
Deposits for locking exchange $HE E X8 &

As at 31 December 2022, the bank account
was temporarily locked because its
information was not timely updated. The
bank account was unlocked in January
2023 and has been in normal use thereafter.

22 BERBEEEVRZRT

84T &,
(@ ZRERE

R20234F 2022412 A31H
RMEE B )R H13H 2 A 4
e

As at 31 December
M12A31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTT

852
7,400
121

8,373

() 7P2022F12H31H - iR
THRPEER R MEE
T A G RF 85 E o #R1T
Bk B 2 7202341 A fi#
BREHTE - LR BB IE
A
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
RESTRICTED CASH (continued)

(b) Cash at bank are denominated in

22 RERBEESEEYRZRF
b8 AC §)

(b) HLRIERETENRITE

Eh
TA

As at 31 December
M12A31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETT

US$
RMB
HK$
EUR
CAD
GBP
JPY

X7t
AR
BT
BXTT
i
R
H &l

158,192 85,585
81,166 67,385
35,464 146,471
3,972 1,763
707 19
390 1,688

— 1

279,891 302,912




2023F EHE FAEEKHBRALA 229
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

23 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 23 BRAR K7 EE

Number of Number of
ordinary preferred
Authorised: shares shares
EE HERHE BEKREE
As at 1 January and K2023F1 A1B &
31 December 2023 12H31H 2,000,000,000
Number of Number of
ordinary preferred
Authorised: shares shares
ETE ERREE BEREE
As at 1 January 2022 202241 A1H 4,936,000 64,000
Share subdivision (a) % 17 #7 4 (a) 982,264,000 12,736,000
Increase in authorised share A TE AR ZANIE HN(a)
capital (a) 987,200,000 12,800,000
Conversion of preferred shares to B/t i& 8210 & E @M% (d)
ordinary shares (d) 25,600,000 (25,600,000)
As at 31 December 2022 2022F12 A31H 2,000,000,000 —

Amount
&8
Number of Equivalent
ordinary nominal value
shares of ordinary Share
Issued: issued share premium Total
ERTERER EEREE
BRI 8B HE RAEE #ct

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARWTR ARETR

As at 1 January 2023 7202351 A18 500,000,000 1,603,477 1,603,651
Dividends distribution to MR E DR
shareholders (21,885) (21,885)

As at 31 December 2023 7202312 A31A 500,000,000 1,581,592 1,581,766
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BOF B AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

23 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 23 BRZAK IR 7 %E @

(continued)
Amount
Number of Equivalent
ordinary  nominal value
shares of ordinary Share
Issued: issued share premium Total
BETERR  ERKRSE
BT s HiE i (E @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR
As at 1 January 2022 720221 718 2,000,000 138 1,299,862 1,300,000
Share subdivision (a) i1 7 4 (a) 398,000,000 - - -
Capitalisation issuance (b) BARILET(D) 57,950,000 21 1) -
Conversion of preferred shares to 8 75 i 14 A 18 i (d)
ordinary shares (d) 12,800,000 5 105,201 105,206
Issuance of ordinary shares from  #17T& X AFEER
initial public offering (c) L@k () 29,250,000 10 198,435 198,445

As at 31 December 2022 72022512 A31H 500,000,000

As at 1 January 2022, the authorized and issued share
capital was with par value of US$0.01 each.

(@ On 16 September 2022, each issued and
unissued share of a par value of US$0.01 in the
authorised shares of the Company divided into
200 shares of a par value of US$0.00005 each.
On the same day, the authorized share capital of
the Company was further increased to
US$100,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares
with a par value of US$0.00005 each, consisting
of (i) 1,974,400,000 ordinary shares of a par value
of US$0.00005 each; and (i) 25,600,000 preferred
shares of a par value of US$0.00005 each.

174 1,603,477 1,603,651

MR2022F1 A1H  AERB BT
KEFIKMEEOCOIZETT -

(@ 20229F9AR16H ' "ARVEAE
B EREEOIETLNE
BT RAREITRMD DK A200
P& 5 A% TE {E.0.00005 3 JT HY A%
e BB NRABVEERAE
— 4 1# %100,000E T © 9 A
2,000,000,000 % & % @ &
0.00005% JT Wl 1 - B #&(i)
1,974,400,0000% & i m &
0.000053& 7T #) & 38 I% + & (i)
25,600,0000% & & @ (&
0.000053E ST E S X ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

23 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 23 BRZAK IR 7% E @)

(continued)

Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholders of
the Company passed on 13 October 2022,
subject to the share premium account of the
Company having sufficient balance, or otherwise
being credited as a result of the issue of offer
shares pursuant to the global offering, the
directors were authorized to allot and issue a total
of 57,950,000 shares credited as fully paid at par
value to the holders of shares whose names
appear on the register of members of the
Company at the close of business on the
business day immediately preceding the listing
date (or as they may direct) in proportion to their
respective shareholdings (save that no
shareholder shall be entitled to be allotted or
issued any fraction of a share) by way of
capitalisation of the sum of US$2,897.5
(equivalent to approximately RMB21,000)
standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company.

On 11 November 2022, the Company completed
its IPO of 29,250,000 ordinary shares at HK$7.86
per share and listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The
issuance of 29,250,000 ordinary shares, net of
underwriting commission and other issuance
cost, led to an increase of share capital and share
premium by RMB10,000 and RMB198,435,000,
respectively.

(b)

BRI N A IR R R 2022410
RA13RBBAARR AR
AN REREETISEH -
L BTIRBEREERITRE
RO MEIGERE  ESER
EEBEARRTIRMD RERE
BR%82,897.5% T (IHE R A
R #21,00070) TR E X -
EE FmHB—EEEAH
R R A RS (SRR SR
ENIEERIE WNGIE S A
RERIZEES B R HlZ
mER®RZEITAEH
57,950,000 % A BR 51| /E&LE /9
B 1 (M R R 0 e 7 P 3 ol 2%
TERZERG)

R2022F11 8118 » KA A 7]
TERBRAREE  LERK
n7.86%8 L B 1% % 17
29,250,000% FiBAx - W EH
BEMEXSMBRARIERL
e MR EEME R EMET
AK 7N 1%+ 3£7729,250,000 % &
AR AR AR R AR 195 B 2 5138
mAE®10,000T & AR
198,435,0007T °
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23 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

23 BAK KRB RE @

(continued)

(d) Upon completion of the IPO, all authorised and
issued preferred shares were converted into
ordinary shares by re-designation and
reclassification of every preferred share in issue
as an ordinary share on a one for one basis. As a
result, the financial liabilities for redeemable
preferred shares were derecognised and
recorded as share capital and share premium
with the amount of RMB5,000 and
RMB105,201,000, respectively. The Group
recognized fair value changes of redeemable
preferred shares amounted to RMB885,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

24 SHARES HELD FOR EMPLOYEE SHARE

SCHEME

The Group has adopted share award scheme (the
“Scheme”), effective from 15 September 2023 (the
“Adoption Date”). The Scheme is established to
recognise the contributions of the eligible persons and
motivate them to strive for the future development and
expansion of the Group. The Scheme will initially be
valid and effective for the period commencing on the
Adoption Date and ending on the business day
immediately prior to the 10th anniversary of the
Adoption Date. Pursuant to the Scheme, the award
shares will be satisfied by existing shares to be
acquired by a trustee (the “Trustee”) on the market.
The total number of the award shares underlying all
grants made pursuant to the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Group as at the
Adoption Date.

d) BRARBEETHE  BREK
EBITEAREFIEERERN
PEREBER  FIBEERE
BITEERN—H— s
BMAELBER - Bt - ATERE
RS EB EFL BRI
2RI A A R #5,000 2 AR
#105,201,0007T A B 1] 1 i
R 5 (8 - B £2022F
12A31MB LG E  AEE®
RAJBERIEERAAEEZFSHA
R #885,0007T °

24 BERDESEANREG

RNEBEHMA D B FT & (%5
2/]) - B1R2023F9A15H ([ #
HEDEM - ZiTEIEERAIEE
BATHEREEBEEHAEE
HEBEERIERIERS N - %iTEl
VB REME BB =R E 8
FTRFZA—EEXEB IEEHE
BRRER - BEBZTE - ZFEA
(IZFEADBRMIZWERERHN
AT HEREN IR o BIRZET B
RIFT A S2ED AR A B0 SR ED AR (0 R BT
SHRBASENEMRHE TR
KHEI10%



25

2023 FEeE FAERARRDA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

24 SHARES HELD FOR EMPLOYEE SHARE 24 EER#GiTEEENRKRHG

SCHEME (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
has set up a trust specially for the management of the
Scheme and through the trust, a total of 3,446,500
shares of the Group have been purchased by the
Trustee at a cost of approximately HK$17,449,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB15,912,000). No
shares have been granted during the year ended
31 December 2023.

OTHER RESERVES

(&)

B E2023F12A318 LFE - &
SEAEREZEEMRILET
BBAZETLT XFEANRY
17,449,000/ T (HHE RO AR K
15,912,00070) WK A E RS EE
$£3,446,5000% i% 17 ° & £2023F
12A31BILFE @ BHER D E AR

,T/'\ °

25 Hitf#E
Statutory Capital

reserve reserve Total
EIERE Bk et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETRT ARBTET

As at 1 January 2023 2023F1 H1H
Appropriation to statutory & &= A F 1
reserves

As at 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 H31H

As at 1 January 2022 2022F1 A1 H
Appropriation to statutory & &= A F [ 18
reserves

(1,306,250) (1,268,012)

197

(1,306,250) (1,267,815)

36,731 (1,306,250) (1,269,519)

1,507 - 1,507

As at 31 December 2022 R2022%F12 531 H

38,238  (1,306,250)  (1,268,012)
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HZE2023F12 A31BH ILFE

25 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

(a)

Statutory surplus reserves

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
shall make appropriations from after-tax profit to
non-distributable reserve funds as determined by
the boards of directors of the relevant PRC
subsidiaries.

In accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Articles of Association
of the companies incorporated in the PRC now
comprising the Group (the “PRC Subsidiaries”), it
is required to appropriate 10% of the annual
statutory net profits of the PRC Subsidiaries, after
offsetting any prior years’ losses as determined
under the PRC accounting standards, to the
statutory reserves fund before distributing the net
profit. When the balance of the statutory reserves
fund reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
PRC Subsidiaries, any further appropriation is at
the discretion of shareholders. The statutory
reserves fund can be used to offset prior years’
losses, if any, and may be converted into share
capital by issuing new shares to shareholders in
proportion to their existing shareholding, provided
that the remaining balance of the statutory
reserves fund after such issue is not less than
25% of registered capital.

25 Hhi#E @

(a)

EEBEREE

RIBEFBENMEREARER - K
NEETEHMBARARR
‘A ESEREETEMER
RESEETMN AR
BE -

BIEF BB BERERARK
SERRE T AR R EMA
ME AR (FEMBAFL A
A ERZAA - R EMEA R
AR I R R AT S R F S
EEMEFRE REREPE
S ENETNEMNBEEEE
EEE) ZI0%E AT HE
T BAERBRERERP
Bl B~ 7] iE & AR 8950% -
BRRAUBITRAERLEES R
EARIE - EEFEES A AE
HEIEBTFENEE(WE) -
WA B A A R IR IR B R
LE BB AT R R D 8 B AN
BEBETENEERESH
BNSLORIFMEARR25% ©
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25 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

(b) Capital reserve

Capital reserve mainly represents (i) the
aggregate paid-in capital of the subsidiaries
acquired, offset by investment costs in
subsidiaries of the Company during the
reorganization completed in the year ended
31 December 2018; and (ii) RMB6,250,000
consideration paid by the Group to the
shareholders for acquiring the entire net assets of
Wuzaixing (BVI) Limited (“Wuzaixing BVI”,
formerly known as Xingzezhi (BVI) Limited) and its
subsidiaries as such Wuzaixing BVI has been
consolidated into the Group on the basis of
business combination under common control.

26 RETAINED EARNINGS

25 HitfRE @
(b) BEXRFEE

BEARREBEZRNDWENS
NAEINEBERENBRE  HEHE
201812 A31H I FE =K
MEAARAQ R B AR
BRCAFTIREE » (i) AN RE
Ui B Wuzaixing (BVI) Limited
(BEETRBERRES]
Al ¥ Xingzezhi (BVI) Limited)
MEKB AR EEEEFER
BREIZINTHOHEHEARE
6,250,0007T * R A A E LT
HBER RS R EIEG
THEEAHEEMFARE
°

26 REER

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31ALEE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR®EFTT

At the beginning of the year NG 451,682 342,495
Net (loss)/profit for the year FE (BB /FEFE

— Attributable to shareholders — RNAFIRFRIELL

of the Company (265,786) 110,694

Appropriation to statutory reserves B =4 F [ (197) (1,507)

At the end of the year 451,682

RER 185,699
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £2023%F12A31 8 [ FE
27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 27 EEREMH
The analysis of net deferred income tax assets and BEMSHEERELEHBHRARE
deferred income tax liabilities is as follows: RO
As at 31 December
M12H831H
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARETF T
Deferred income tax assets: BIEFTISREE -
to be recovered within 12 months 121 A Ak E 18,945
to be recovered after more than REBiB121E A&
12 months g (8] 8,162
27,107
Deferred income tax liabilities: EILEFTSHRAE -
to be settled within 12 months R12EARNEE (4,858)
to be settled after more than 12 RiEBB121E A&
months wE (7,753)
(12,611)
Deferred tax assets — net BERIBEEFE 14,496
The movement of the deferred income tax account is BRIEFTSHREERMNES)FRUT
as follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AREETIT
At the beginning of the year T 4] 14,496 11,451
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss  (¥18), 5t A8z (14,496) 3,045

At the end of the year RE R 14,496
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27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and
liabilities during the year, without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances within the
same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Allowance for
impairment of

Deferred income tax assets:

As at 1 January 2023
Charged to profit or loss

As at 31 December 2023

As at 1 January 2022
(Charged)/credited to
profit or loss

As at 31 December 2022

27 EEFBH @

EXFMEHEERBENFAZD
(P&t R A SHAE R R EAE R A )
REER) T

trade
receivables
Accrued and inventory Lease Accrued
payroll provision liabilities Taxlosses  expenses Total
B R EYRE
RERER
EitIE RERE HEEE HEFE RAREAR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TE AREBTE ARETT ARETT ARETFR
BEMBHEE
20231 A1H 1,417 10,194 13,277 2,219
EI=EsE (1,417) (10,194) (13,277) (2,219)
4202312 4318
7202241 H1H 3,778 6,173 6,039 1,190 8 17,188
(M8)/ A%
(2,361) 4,021 7,238 1,029 )] 9,919
R2022F12 A31H 1,417 10,194 13,277 2,219 - 27,107
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27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 27 BEFRBH @

Right-of-use
assets Total
FEREEE et
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTT ARBTT

Deferred income tax liabilities: BEFRSHAE -
As at 1 January 2023 20231 A1H (12,611) (12,611)
Credited to profit or loss FFAER 12,611 12,611
As at 31 December 2023 72023F12 431 H
As at 1 January 2022 20221 A1 H (5,737) (5,737)
Charged to profit or loss meBs (6,874) (6,874)
As at 31 December 2022 12022F12 431 H (12,611) (12,611)
As at 31 December 2023, the expiration of tax losses R2023F12A31H  RERIELE
carried forward for which deferred income tax assets is FRETE EmAENIEEERN 2
not recognized is as follows: (ERCl
Tax losses expiring within 1 year AR EIHR 2 B I8 & 18 1,008
Tax losses expiring between 1-2 years A1 Z2F A E|Hi > Fi1EE 18 -
Tax losses expiring between 2-3 years ~ MR2ZE3F A E|Hf 2 T IEE 1B 69
Tax losses expiring between 3-4 years  MA3ZE4F AN E|Hi > Fi1HE 18 3,227
Tax losses expiring between 4-5 years ~ R4ZE5F A E|Hf 2 T IEE 18 18,559
Tax losses without expiration mEEIR 2 M IBEE 241,667

264,530
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As at 31 December 2023, unrecognized temporary

differences are as follows:

27 EEFBH @

MN2023F12 310 ' KEREE
ZEIR

As at

31 December
2023
72023F12831H
RMB’000
AR®T T

Temporary difference for which no

deferred tax asset was recognized:
— Allowance for impairment of trade
receivables and inventory provision

— Accrued payroll
— Lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

AERELCHBEEENERE

% -

— BHRWFRRERE R

Trade payables

Refund liabilities

Payroll and social security

Accrued payables to third-party
e-commerce platforms

Other tax payables

Payable for listing expenses

Interest payables

Other payables

GFE#RE 113,678
— [EEtLE 12,795
—HEaBRERESE

(1,664)

124,809

28 ESRHMENKIE
As at 31 December
MW12A31H

2023 2022

2023 F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE TR AREETF T

=) NG 85,957 150,896
JEEtafs 49,147 51,112
EN TEMEERESR 38,406 40,706

ENE=FERFE

FRIE 21,325 31,693

H b EGF I8 1,360 1,508
BN ETAX 453 9,711
e H) B 69 239
H {th & 5008 9,622 12,788

298,653

206,339
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28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis
of the trade payables based on transaction date was as

28 ESRHMEMNRE@®

M20234F 2022512 A31H
%%HME&X%E%%ﬁm%ﬁ

follows: W
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTT
Within 3 months 3E AN 148,646
Between 3 months and 1 year A E1F 2,138
Between 1 year and 2 years 1FE2F 112

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables
approximate their fair values.

29 BORROWINGS

150,896

%&/Hmrﬁ KIH H R E {E B
Aﬁ:fﬁ*ﬁ

29 B

As at 31 December
M12A831H

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETIT

Current E B

Bank borrowings — Unsecured IRITHER — BmER

161,990 167,797
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29 BORROWINGS (continued)

(@)

(b)

The weighted average effective interest rates
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 were as follows:

29 &R

(@)

Bank borrowings RITER

The fair values of the borrowings of the Group are
approximate to their carrying amounts, since
either the interest rates of those borrowings are
close to current market rates or the borrowings
are of a short-term nature.

The analysis of the carrying amounts of the
Group’s borrowings by currency was as follows:

RMB
us$

AR
ETT

161,990

B £ 20234 2022412 A 31
B 1EFE &Y i 715 B A X
W

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE

2022
20224
5.01%
AREBEFRNAABEEERT
BRE  EZEERNFEE
HTIRTT S F) 2K o) 18 708 58 B
M o
AEBERIZEEEDHERR
BEoHmT :
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT T AREF T
161,990 157,640
— 10,157

167,797

24
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30 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(@) Cash generated from operation

30 BERER

(a) RERBRE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Depreciation of property, plant, and
equipment

Amortization of intangible asset

Losses on disposal of property, plant
and equipment

(Gains)/losses on disposal of right-of-
use assets

Fair value changes of redeemable
convertible preferred shares

Interest expenses

Interest income

Net impairment losses on financial
assets

Write-down of inventories

Net foreign exchange losses

Operating profit before changes in
working capital

Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash

Increase in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in trade
receivables

Decrease in prepayment and other
receivables

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other
payables

Decrease in contract liabilities

Cash generated from operations

2023
20234
RMB’000
AR®F
BRETSFLRT (B1E),

M (247,211)
MATIHEAE
FPHEEENE 25,000
L E Y &

e 6,143
EmEESE 1,968
HEWE  BEX

BIENEE 565
HEFREEEN

(Uezk) 518 (130)
A] B [0] A 85 A (8 S %

N EEE —
FERAX 9,457
KB YA (5,276)
T REEREEE

HEE 901
FERE 387,814
& 5 B85 (2,532)
EEECEFAN

I DE 176,699
EEELEE
ZRRFIER B R A,

(3 hm) 5,957
FEEM (32,593)
g SR RIER D,

(&) 35,848
BRI REMmE

W SR IR > 4,391
B 5 NhEMENFKIA

(), /18 (88,162)
EHEaERD (2,125)

KEMSRE 100,015

2022
20224
RMB’000
AREETFIT
127,190
22,490

4,631
1,191

27
21
(885)
14,349
(1,080)

4,272
54,768

(2,115)

224,859

(7,473)
(145,114)

(60,954)
60,854

62,550

(19,722)

115,000
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30 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 30 BERER @
(b) Net debt reconciliation (b) B FHEHK

Bank Redeemable
borrowings  convertible
Lease and interest preferred

liabilities payable shares Total
RITERR TEEIEER
HERE RS BER #st

RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETRE ARBTT ARBTR ARBTI

Net debt as at 1 January 2023 R2023F1 410K

E%FR 71,798 168,036 239,834
Cash flows BeReE (28,390) (12,646) (41,036)
New leases Mg 8,638 = 8,638
Early termination of lease MAERAILLE (23,362) - (23,362)
Amortization of borrowing costs ~ f& FRAk Rk 8 2,816 9,457
Effects of exchange rate changes [ERZHFE (114) 28 (86)

Net debt as at 31 December 2023 72023F12 A31HH)
B FHE 162,059 193,445

Net debt as at 1 January 2022 20221 1B K

E%FR 39,841 210,531 106,091 356,463
Cash flows RBeng (24,621) (55,355) - (79,976)
New leases mHE 54,157 - - 54,157
Early termination of lease MERALLE (587) - - (587)
Amortization of borrowing costs {8 FRAk ARk 54 3,011 11,338 - 14,349
Fair value changes AREED - - (885) (885)
Conversion to ordinary shares BHBLAR - - (105,206) (105,206)
Effects of exchange rate changes [EXZH 2 @) 1,522 - 1,519

Net debt as at 31 December 2022 72022512 A31 B H)
ERFE 71,798 168,036 - 239,834
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31

32

COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no
significant capital commitment.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to
control, jointly control or exert significant influence over
the other party in holding power over the investee;
exposure or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the
investor’s returns. Parties are also considered to be
related if they are subject to common control or joint
control. Related parties may be individuals or other
entities.

(@) Transactions with related parties
There are no significant transactions with related
parties for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

(b) Balances with related parties

There are no significant balances with related
parties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

31

32

EEEE
EXRAHER

R2023F ;2022512 A31H » &
EEWESRERNEKAEIE -

RBL RS

BABE 7 IE A RE IR - HRIEHISK
EHREHRBAERNGEHHT
NEAZE  A2EREHR
) 5% 755 T A 2 m] & () S /0 [ e o
M BBERNEHREHARITER
BOAMEEREELRESENA
* o W SR — 2B S K RHEH] - TF
WAR SRR TS - BE T ] S E A

HAEE -

(@ BEEERS

H £20234F 202212 A 31
BIFFE - B A I BT
BEARG -

(b) EEEFEET Y& &R
H £ 2023%F K&2022F12 A31

B BEARE T I E AL



2023 EHE FREEAERAT
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SOt R
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #;%2023%12 A31H [t F[E
32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 BAMAIRZ
(continued)
(c) Key management compensation (c) FEEEEFMH
Key management includes directors (executive FEEBEERRASEES
and non-executive) and the senior management (MITRIEBMIT RERER
of the Group. The compensation paid or payable c pE BRSBTS BN E
to key management for employee services is EEEENTMAT :

shown below:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET ARBFT

Wages, salaries and bonuses T & * ¥& MIEAL 4,252
Contributions to pension plan, REik&5rE - FEATHE

housing fund, medical ® - BERREREM

insurance and other social e R

benefits 641

4,893

245
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33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

33 RXAFHBEMRREKEREE
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE #E

The statement of financial position of the
Company was approved by the Board of
Directors of the Company on 27 March 2024 and

was signed on its behalf by:

(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) ARDTBHMBKEMRRE
Company
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMlB’OOO
AR®T T ARBFT
ASSETS EE
Non-current asset FREEE
Investment in subsidiaries R B A RNIRE 1,300,000 1,300,000
Prepayments and other receivables FEAT 308 R E A E Uk RO 235,753 104,121
Right-of-use assets EREEE 49 -
Total non-current assets IRBEERE 1,535,802 1,404,121
Current asset RBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE A 508 & E At U R OB 15,379 59,216
Cash and cash equivalents BehREEED 19,402 150,118
Total current assets FEBEELE 34,781 209,334
Total assets mEE 1,570,583 1,613,455
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities FREBEME
Lease liabilities HEaE -
Total non-current liabilities FREBEBERE -
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 RE M ERFRIE 8,396
Current income tax liabilities BHAFRS T & (& -
Lease liabilities HEAE —
Total current liabilities FEBEAEE 8,396
Total liabilities wmas 8,396
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company AT RERELER
Share capital [N 174
Share premium f& (7% B 1,581,592 1,603,477
Shares held for employee share scheme EERGEEFAEHRD (15,912) -
(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings (REHEE) RE&BF (104) 1,408
Total equity B 1,565,750 1,605,059
Total equity and liabilities ERREERE 1,570,583 1,613,455

KNP AR KRBAARRNEE
EEH2024F3 27 HHL £
HTIATRAZE

Hua Bingru Wang Weiping
EZRW EEF
Director Director
EE EE
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33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 33 AAQARBMBERRERHE

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 2B @
COMPANY (continued)
(b) Reserve movements of the Company (b) 27 B f#ESE

(Accumulated

losses)/

Other retained
reserves earnings Total

(REtEB),/
Hitof % REEF #at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR®TT AR®TTE

Balance at 1 January 2023

Loss for the year

Balance at 31 December 2023 722023412 A31HH)

72023F1 A1HH
e 1,408
FEEE (1,512)

AR

Balance at 1 January 2022 A2022F1 A18HK
e -
Profit for the year FENHE -

(4,096)

5,504

Balance at 31 December 2022 22022412 A31HH)
e -

1,408
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CRLE e R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 34 EEFEANRER
DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EBERFETHAEZ
emoluments it BN
For the year ended 31 December 2023: B E2023F12A31BILLFE:
Social
security costs,
housing
benefits and
Discretionary employee
Name Salaries bonuses welfare
HREAX
EERAR
4 e ¢ g4 EEEA @zt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TR AR®TR ARETR AR®T:R

Chairman: I
Hua Bingru ERM

(Chief Executive Officer) (THE%,)
Executive directors: HTES:
Xu Shijian (YAER

(Chief Financial Officer) (i) (BREBE))
Dong Zhenguo ERirEl
Wang Weiping T
Wang Shijian (i) FE8()
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Hua Hui B

Independent non-executive BIYFHUTEE !

directors:

Yu Kefei (i EEE{)

Shen Tianfeng (ii) VL 2(i)

Lau Kin Shing Charles (i 212 B i)

()  Mr. Wang Shijian and Mr. Xu Shijian tendered () EFBIEERGFARTLER
their resignation as executive directors of the REFEFEARRGNITE
Company with effect from 3 November 2023. £ B2023%F 11 H3H

R o

(i)  Mr. Yu Kefei, Mr. Shen Tianfeng and Dr. Lau Kin (i) EIRIAREAE  LHEEAR
Shing Charles were appointed as independent 2R B LA ETH A EIER
non-executive directors with effect on the Listing FRBIUIENITES o

Date.



34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF

DIRECTORS (continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s

emoluments (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022:

2023 FEeE FAERARRDA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OB R R M T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

34 EEFENEERS @

@ EERFETHAEZ

M ()

HZE2022F 12 A31HILEE :

Social
security costs,
housing
benefits and
Discretionary employee
Name Fees Salaries bonuses welfare Total
HRFX -
FEREHR
e e e [ =pr EEEF st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFTT ARETRT ARBTT AREFR
Chairman: IE:
Hua Bingru ZERM
(Chief Executive Officer) (TRRE%) - 580 45 76 701
Executive directors: yTES:
Xu Shijian BAX
(Chief Financial Officer) (EEMEER) - 598 41 87 726
Dong Zhenguo Eel - 415 28 85 528
Wang Shijian B - 350 24 84 458
Wang Weiping AET - 320 19 82 421
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Hua Hui B ] 17 - - - 17
Independent non-executive BIUFHTES:
directors:
Yu Kefei AR 70 - - - 70
Shen Tianfeng k= 70 - - - 70
Lau Kin Shing Charles Ellednd 70 - - - 70
227 2,263 157 414 3,061
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

(b)

Directors’ retirement and termination
benefits

None of the directors of the Company received
any retirement benefits or termination benefits in
respect of their services to the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Consideration provided to third parties
for making available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employers
of the directors for making available the services
of them as a director of the Company during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate
by and connected entities with such
directors

There are no other loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings entered into between the Group and the
directors and in favour of the directors, or body
corporate controlled by or entities connected with
any of the directors during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

There are no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year/period or at any
time during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

34 EEFEMNEER @

(b)

EERARRERER

ARREEMEREERE
20234 ;202212 A31H IE
FE RIS B A AR 75U X
TR KR F SR BER AR A o

REAESRBM N T
E=ZHHHE

#H Z=20234F 2022412 A 31
HIEFE  BERARAES
RHEERBRAESIEETX
ERER -

LEE s EEMESEA
EEFEEEEAZEA
MEM BERREMR
Z N EEER

# £20234F 2022412 A 31
HIEFE AEEHEESHE
RN AE RS REMESITES
B EANE SR MEEF M
ENEEAXm ANHEMAE
K EEFREMRZ S -

EENRZ » ZBHEY
MEXERS

R F B R 5 B £2023F &
202212 A31H IEFEME
IR AR R ERT L
HAEBEXEBEEMAARE
EEENEERAEERAERN
BARS REHEREHX -



35 SUBSIDIARIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had direct and

indirect interest in the following subsidiaries:

2023 FEeE FAERARRDA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CRE R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

35 KB E]

BX

Percentage of attributable

H E2023%F12831H ' AR Al &
WTHBARF#HAE BEZE K EEE

Principal activities and
place of operation

TEEBREENY

Type of Country/Place and equity interest to
Company name legal entity  date of incorporation Paid-in capital the Company
EMRIER %
AAEE EAERER RAH Egas FORBERRESH
2023 2022
20235 20224
Zibuyu BVI Limited Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands US$1 100%
company 21 August 2018
Zibuyu BVI Limited BRATA KELARES (e 100%
2018%8H217
Zibuyu International Limited Limited liability Hong Kong HK$100,000 100%
company 19 September
2016
FAEERBRAR BRAT Bk 100,000 7T 100%
201659A197
Hong Kong Zijin Limited Limited liability Hong Kong - 100%
company 26 November 2018
EAEFHERAR BRAT BE - 100%
2018411261
Wuzaixing (BVI) Limited (c) Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands US$1 100%
company 16 October 2018
Wuzaixing (BVI) Limited (c) BRAH REERRES e 100%
20184104164
Zhejiang Zibuyu E-commerce Limited liability The PRC RMB30,000,000 100%
Co., Ltd. company 20 April 2011
MIFT EEFHBBRAR BRAT HE AR%30,000,0007T 100%
201164 A208
Hangzhou Shangzhi Network Limited liability The PRC - 100%
Technology Co., Ltd. (a) company 20 November 2018
M ERBERRAR LA () BRRA HE - 100%
2018411 A20H
Hangzhou Zibuyu Supply Chain Limited liability The PRC RMB10,000,000 100%
Management Co., Ltd. company 29 August 2017
MMFIERERERARAT  BRAR hE AR 10,000,0007C 100%

201748A29A

Investment holding, in the British
Virgin Islands

REER  REBABRES

Operation of online stores on
third-party e-commerce
platforms, procurement and
sales of products, in Hong
Kong

FoHERTAMEEE KB
RERBE REE

Investment holding, in Hong
Kong

RERR  NEE

Investment holding, in the British
Virgin Islands

RAZR REABSBARESE

Technical support and operation
of website, in the PRC
BT s RABIES i

Investment holding, in the PRC

REER  NPE

Warehousing, freight forwarding,
supply chain management
services, design and R&D, in
the PRC

BE - HE HEREERE
RET R R
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EXid ks Sk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

35 SL”BEH[N[UR|ES;ﬂxmﬂhuaﬂ

35 KB R @)

Type of Country/Place and
Company name legal entity date of incorporation Paid-in capital
ERRIER %
DEER EABRREY RAH BaER
Guangzhou Zibuyu Supply Chain  Limited liability The PRC RMB3,000,000
Service Co., Ltd. company 16 October 2017
EMFAELEERBERLR  ARRA HE AR 3,000,0007C
20174107168
Anhui Yueyu Supply Chain Limited liability The PRC N/A
Management Co., Ltd. (b) company 8 April 2019
ZRHENEHERERERAA D) FRARA HE TER
201954 A8H
Huzhou Zibuyu Supply Chain Limited liability The PRC RMB10,000,000
Management Co., Ltd. company 10 December 2020
BNFIEHERERERAR  FRAA HE AE%10,000,00070
20204128108
Hangzhou Chengyusi Network Limited liability The PRC RMB500,000
Technology Co., Ltd. company 23 May 2018
MME R BRER AR BRRA HE AR %500,00070
201845H237
Hangzhou Junbugi Network Limited liability The PRC RMB1,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd. company 25 August 2017
MMEFERERBEERRF BRRA HE AE%1,000,0007C
201758250
Xingzezhi HK Limited Limited liability Hong Kong HK$100,000
company 1 November 2018
THERBERAH BRAT B 100,000 70
2018411 A18
Hangzhou Xingzezhi Internet Limited liability The PRC RMB1,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd. company 20 November 2018
MMTRIERARRER AT BRAR HE AR 1,000,0007T

20184114208

Percentage of attributable

equity interest to
the Company

FRREERERD L

2023
20234

2022
2022

Principal activities and
place of operation

TEERREENE

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Warehousing, freight forwarding,
supply chain management
services, design and R&D, in
the PRC

Bl 5B HEEEERRYE-
Ref R A E

Warehousing, freight forwarding,
supply chain management
services, design and R&D, in
the PRC

AR g8 HEEEERY-
RETRHE R

Warehousing, freight forwarding,
supply chain management
services, design and R&D, in
the PRC

R 58 REREERY-
REF R R E

Technical support and operation
of website, in the PRC

B RAUEE R

Technical support and operation
of website, in the PRC
B R@uhES R

Operation of online stores on
self-operated online stores,
procurement and sales of
products, in Hong Kong

BEBUNELEES RERE
mIE NER

Technical support and operation
of website, in the PRC

B RAUES RPE
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CRE R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

35 MERAT @

35 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Percentage of attributable

Principal activities and
place of operation

TERBREENY

Type of Country/Place and equity interest to
Company name legal entity date of incorporation Paid-in capital the Company
EMAIEAR %
AAER TARBER RAH Rgas FORBERRASYL
2023 2022
2023F 2022F
Dongguan Zibuyu Supply Chain -~ Limited liability The PRC RMB3,000,000 100%
Management Co., Ltd. company 27 April 2021
REFIAMEEERERLR  BRAF e AR 3,000,0007T 100%
2021464 R278
Shenzhen Zibuyu E-commerce Limited liability The PRC RMB1,000,000 100%
Co., Ltd. company 22 December 2021
RINFAEEFEBERAA BRRA HE AE%1,000,0007T 100%
2021124228
Guangzhou Xingzezhi Internet Limited liability The PRC RMB1,000,000 100%
Technology Co., Ltd. company 28 July 2021
BT EMERABRAR BRA i AR 1,000,00070 100%
2021467H28R
Hangzhou Xingzezhi E-commerce  Limited liability The PRC - 100%
Co., Ltd. company 16 March 2022
MM ZEEFREBERAR BRAT HE - 100%
202253 A16H
Xiamen Zibuyu E-commerce Co.,  Limited liability The PRC RMB600,000 100%
Ltd. company 17 May 2022
EMFIEEFEBERAR BRA i AR 600,000 100%
2022465R178
GAGOO INC (c) Limited liability The United States of US$150,000 N/A
company America
08 June 2023
GAGOO INC () BRAT E3E 150,000 T TEA
202356 A8H
Wuzaixing GmbH (c) Limited liability The Federal Republic Euro25,000 N/A
company of Germany
4 December 2023
Wuzaixing GmbH (c) BRAT BETH AL 25,000E1 7 TEA

2023512 A4A

Warehousing, freight forwarding,
supply chain management
services, design and R&D, in
the PRC

AR 9B HEBEERRY-
Re RAE A E

Technical support and operation
of website, in the PRC

B RguEs nhE

Technical support and operation
of website, in the PRC
R RBULEL WA

Technical support and operation
of website, in the PRC
B RguEs nhE

Technical support and operation
of website, in the PRC
Ry RBUES WP

Procurement and sales of
products, in the United
States of America

FEREREE REE

Operation of online stores on
third-party e-commerce
platforms, procurement and
sales of products, in
Germany

EZREWTAMEES KB
RERHE  NER
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HZE2023F12 A31BH ILFE

35 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

36

37

(@)

As at 31 December 2023, there are 424
companies, with no assets and liabilities, paid-up
capital and business operation, established solely
for the purpose of registration of seller stores on
e-commerce platforms. These companies are
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company.

In order to optimize the Group’s business and
shareholding structure, the Group deregistered
Anhui Yueyu Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

In order to develop offline sales business in the
United States and expand the European market,
the Group registered GAGOO INC and Wuzaixing
GmbH during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The English names of certain subsidiaries referred to
above represent the best effort made by management
of the Company to directly translate the Chinese
names as they have not registered any official English
names.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There were no significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: nil).

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Other than disclosed elsewhere in this report, there
was no significant subsequent event after
31 December 2023.

35 BT @

36

37

(@)

R2023F12HA31 8 ' H424
HAABEERBE  BEER
BEAR - MERRERLE K
VHERERZERTEERT
BLEEMERNE - ZERF
BEARFTNEEZENEBAR
T e

RENASEERNERLRESE
- NEBERE E2023F12
A1 B IEFEFHEERENE
HEREERERAA °

RABERETHEXEKILIE
F BN T 35 - Bk 2£2023F 12
A31BIEFE  NEBEFM
GAGOO INC Kk Wuzaixing
GmbH -

EXFaETHBRRZEXE
BHARREEREERABNE
BEZERRN P X AHETH
BE BARSARBEEMR
XA -

HAREE

N2023FE12 8310 @ L E K5
RBE (20225128310 : &) -

HREE

BAREEMEAHAEEEIN R
202312 A31H#Z  BIE(EAEX
HRf8 £ I8 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OB R R M T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HbngeEEM ST BURE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES =

38.1 Subsidiaries 38.1 f{ & 2 7

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity where
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealized gains/losses on transactions between
group companies are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

BOofAR

(R INCIEERN SIE L7 R ope ]2
MFTEERE - WAKEE RS
HEEEHEMZAENERIF
ZERNAZRHRAFENE
BENZEENENITEZS
Cl#edE  MANKEHZER
BEZEGIE - B ARNEE
HEBBEAKEEAE2HA
PEARR - RIZHIELRLEE B A
{F 1A HARK -

RAEIAR S - R EE QT
BRSNS b
WEH - FRIFRA R B BURFTE
BEEARETR - WELQF
VERTERE L ZERA
EREANSERABOERRK—
B o
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 Hn e E EM 5T BERE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES E (@)

(continued)

38.2 Business combination 38.2 t¥ESHf

Merger accounting for business combination
involving businesses under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements items of the combining
business in which the common control
combination occurs as if it had been combined
from the date when the combining business first
came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining business are
consolidated using the existing book values from
the controlling party’s perspective. No amount is
recognized in respect of goodwill or bargain
purchase gain at the time of common control
combination.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive
income includes the results of the combining
business from the earliest date presented or since
the date when the combining business first came
under the common control, where this is a shorter
period.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated
financial statements are presented as if the
business had been combined at the beginning of
the previous reporting period or when it first came
under common control, whichever is shorter.
These activities were combined with all
intra-group balances and transactions eliminated
within the Group.

BRI IZEFFEF R EFEE O
HY & GEE a1 %

BHVBHRRBEEL LR
B e s A XN B RE
HE - BZEER AR
EERZEBTEHE BES
aBftARK -

MEEBAME  AHEENE
EFETRAREREES G
ASR o BEHER A HKRHE S & 6
B ) P 2 SR B IR B N an FERR
THE e

EHEmRERE/REHEE
BRF2IAREKAEH D
EERENLRZES T2 B H
AR (ABIRRE %) 2 5KH4E -

ZIEHFHERR LB R
RREEBHDN £ —RE D
R B IR B R E I (A
REERE)AH -ZFAY
HPTA BN R R BEAEREAR
SERNHENRFEHAR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OB R R M T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HbngeEEM ST BURE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES = @)

(continued)

38.3 {E B Bt 3% &

38.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at
cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of the
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in the
subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary
in the year the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

N PGk e = i dn a5
BEARR - KABREEEER
KB - RAFIRE KK IE
WA BREER B R RS
ABR e

e $52 & 1A B I8 2 A P AR O X
BHEBMBARNKRET RS
JE ) 22 Y et 4R 2R sl X M8 Y B
BHRERPABRENKREER
BREHRNFEE (BRER
B)NEHMBHERRPOKRE
B BREEZFRE SRR
o A RMBARIREE
TTRUERIS -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 Hn e E EM 5T BERE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES E @)
(continued)
38.4 Foreign currencies 38.4 S

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). Since all of the assets of the Group
are located in the PRC, the consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at year-end
exchange rates are generally recognized in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on a net basis within “Other gains, net”.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, within
“Finance costs”. All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a net
basis within “Other gains, net”.

TEER 2 &

||P \

REBEEE R MR
TH B A ‘E B2EMENE
BRBARBENEE((YEE
BEE- EEE<$§%IE’UFFVE
BEAMNTEEAR  #a 5
MBBERAAREZS] - AR
LDV RN G SN S
E258% -

X5 R4

INEER BIEAL 58 B BB R
BERMEEEYR - #EEHERS
RASNESTHENEKEERA
BIRFHEE R B E B AE
Hsm R EE —RIRFEELE
REHFEEBRERPHIEMD
Was FEE IR -

B S SRABRA H) SNE Y 25 K% B 1R
Aot 2 m R [ BB
ARIBTR o P E A HME U 55
MEEEBRRRPEAHEE
Wgs APy [ H b a3 %8 | A
PAFRESITR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OB R R M T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HbngeEEM ST BURE

TEEHAARDA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2w

(continued)

38.4 Foreign currencies (continued) 38.4 INE ()
Transactions and balances (continued) XERAZER (&)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on
assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-monetary
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognized in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss
and translation differences on non-monetary
assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are
recognized in other comprehensive income.

38.5 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognized as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the
asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a
separate asset is derecognized when replaced.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
the profit or loss during the year in which they are
incurred.

BASERTE W ASNEFHER
FEKMEBRAAAERETE
BRERBE - R A EHIK
MEENBENREZEE
RRAERER—EBDHIR o
HZZD CFEBMEERARE
(ﬁﬂiﬁﬁfﬁ{ﬁ?r)\?%ﬁéﬁﬁﬂﬁ
i) MR EZRAERS EPE%E
AR ERERN D
3Ef¢%§|$éfiz(ﬁﬂ“*ﬁ7%¢ﬁﬂ
/LTE.#)\E@EEHQ =0k

&) % %%EE‘JEﬁi\miﬁ
Yo 25 i FE R

385 Y% BERRE

FTBEME - BB RREGAE
Se R AR AT & MR E B R
B ELRABRERBERER
BERELMNMAX

BBKAEEHEZEERAN
RREE R 23 E—Jﬁﬁ/ﬁ)\$’i
B B %I E AT R E
(S a*)\éﬁﬂ'\]ﬁ%ﬁfﬁﬁ
BRAE—BBILEE(NE
R) - ERBILIEEARMNME
fA]EB 7 B R T (B P M B R 4%
IETERR o PrE HAb & RIRE
RAREXEFEANEERER
1t °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
38.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Electronic equipment 3 years
Office equipment and  3-10 years

others
Leasehold 3 years, or over lease
improvements term, whichever is

the shorter

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognized within “Other gains, net” in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

38 HnlgeEEM T BUERE
2@

3B85WE - BMERRE @)

M - WEREBEEOITE TR
HbF el ERFHUAERED
REKRAZFIREBETE - 5F
BT

BTt 3F
WREREN 3E10F

H At
HEWF S3F B
K (&G H

BAEE)

AR B E R (8
NEEERERARTER
A T IABE -

W& EREES R EGE AT
WEleER - B ERRE(E BRI
I E A

HE M e K BRI TS R E
RHEMNEZEET  YRAH
EE R [ E U a5 ]
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(continued)

38.6 Intangible assets 386 BILEE
Software B

Acquired software is initially capitalized on the
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software. Costs associated with
maintaining computer software programmes are
recognized as an expense as incurred. Software
is stated at historical cost less accumulated
amortization and impairment losses, if any.
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost over their estimated
useful lives of 2 to 5 years.

The amortization period and amortization method
of intangible assets are reviewed at each
reporting period. The effects of any revision are
recognized as profit or loss when the changes
arise.

38.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortization or
depreciation are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for
the amount by which the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are
largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets. Non-financial
assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at the end
of each reporting period.
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(continued)

38.8 Financial assets 388 ERMEE
38.8.1 Classification 388178

The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at
fair value through profit or loss, and

° those to be measured at amortized
cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or
loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in debt instruments, this will
depend on the business model in which the
investment is held. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES -3¢ )
(continued)
38.8 Financial assets (continued) 388 ELREE @)
38.8.2 Recognition and derecognition 3882 EARKIER
Regular way purchases and sales of EHRBEEMHEN SR

financial assets are recognized on
trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognized when the
rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

38.8.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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(continued)

38.8 Financial assets (continued)

38.8.3 Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are two measurement categories into
which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

Amortized cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortized
cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognized directly in
profit or loss and presented in “Other
gains, net” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HbngeEEM ST BURE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES ¢ )
(continued)
38.8 Financial assets (continued) B8 EMEE @
38.8.3 Measurement (continued) 38.8.3;5TE (&)
Debt instruments (continued) EBETAE)
e  FVPL: Assets that do not meet the o WA RMEF AIE
criteria for amortized cost or financial W AEFANER
assets at fair value through other RARETENEEK

comprehensive income are measured
at fair value through profit or loss. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that
is subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss and is not part of
a hedging relationship is recognized in
profit or loss and presented net in
“Other gains, net” in the period in
which it arises.

38.8.4 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking
basis the expected credit losses associated
with its assets carried at amortized cost.
The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk. Note 3
details how the Group determines whether
there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognized from initial recognition of the
receivables.
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(continued)

3BOHEHEERMTHE

38.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the consolidated balance
sheets when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset the recognized amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent
on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or
the counterparty.

38.10 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from
platforms or customers for merchandise sold or
services rendered in the ordinary course of
business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognized
initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment. The
Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective of collecting the contractual cash flows
and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortized cost using the effective interest
method. See Note 20 for further information
about the Group’s accounting for trade
receivables and Note 3.1 for a description of the
Group’s impairment policies.
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(continued)

38.11 Cash and cash equivalents 3811 RERREEEN

For the purpose of presentation in the
consolidated cash flow statements, cash and
cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand
deposits held at banks, and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities
of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

38.12 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company issued shares at a premium,
whether for cash or otherwise, a sum equal to the
aggregate amount of the value of the premiums
over share capital shall be classified as share
premium.

38.13 Borrowings

Borrowings are presented as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the
end of the reporting period, in which case they
are presented as non-current liabilities.
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(continued) (Continued)

38.13 Borrowings (Continued) 3813 ER (&)

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value
(net of transaction costs) and subsequently
carried at amortized cost. Any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognized in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are derecognized when the obligation
is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between carrying amount and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognized in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the borrowings denominated in foreign currencies
are recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on a net basis within
“Finance costs”.

38.14 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset
are capitalized during the period of time that is
required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale.
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(continued) (Continued)
38.14 Borrowing costs (Continued) 38.14 fEAA (&)

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

38.15 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay
for goods or services that have been acquired in
the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognized initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest
method.

38.16 Redeemable convertible preferred

shares

Redeemable convertible preferred shares issued
by the Company are redeemable upon
occurrence of certain future events. These
instruments can also be converted into ordinary
shares of the Company automatically upon
occurrence of an IPO of the Company as detailed
in Note 23.
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(continued)

38.16 Redeemable convertible preferred 3816 TRE TERELR @

shares (continued)

The Group designated the preferred shares as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss. They are initially recognized at fair value.
Any directly attributable transaction costs are
recognized as finance costs in profit or loss. All
fair value changes except for those relating to the
Company’s own credit risk are recognized in
profit or loss. The component of fair value
changes relating to the Company’s own credit
risk is recognized in other comprehensive income
(“OCI”). Amounts recorded in OCI related to
credit risk are not subject to recycling in profit or
loss, but are transferred to retained earnings
when realized. Fair value changes relating to
market risk are recognized in profit or loss.

The preferred shares were classified as current
liability. The preferred shares holders can demand
the Company to redeem the preferred shares
within 12 months upon occurrence of certain
future events.
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(continued)

38.17 Current and deferred income tax 38.17 B RELFTEH

The income tax expense for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet dates in the
countries where the Company’s subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to
be paid to the tax authorities.
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(continued)

38.17 Current and deferred income tax 38.17 M RELFEH @)

(continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is
realized or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilize those temporary differences
and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognized for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the Company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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(continued)

38.17 Current and deferred income tax 3817 MR ELFTEH (@

(continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and liabilities and when the
deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are
offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognized in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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(continued)
38.18 Employee benefits 38.18 (EE&EA

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick
leave that are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service
are recognized in respect of employees’ services
up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are
presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the balance sheet.

Pension obligations

Full-time employees in the PRC are covered by
various government-sponsored defined
contribution pension plans under which the
employees are entitled to a monthly pension
based on certain formulas. The relevant
government agencies are responsible for the
pension liability to these retired employees. The
Group contributes on a monthly basis to these
pension plans. Under these plans, the Group has
no further payment obligation for post-retirement
benefits beyond the contributions made.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as
incurred and contributions paid to the
defined-contribution pension plans for an
employee are not available to reduce the Group’s
future obligations to such defined contribution
pension plans even if the employee leaves.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HbngeEEM ST BURE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 (@)

(continued)

38.18 Employee benefits (continued) 38.18 (EEREF @)
Pension obligations (continued) B2 EF (HF)

Housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to
participate in various government-supervised
housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurance plan. The Group contributes on a
monthly basis to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of the employees,
subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability in
respect of these funds is limited to the
contributions payable in each year. Contributions
to the housing funds, medical insurances and
other social insurances are expensed as incurred.

38.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount can be reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognized for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

EEQET - BEARRMEM
e R

AEBTEEEAEMAR
RRENZREEAES &8
BRERMEME SRS -
AEBRBEEIEN —TEL
{7 (T HBBE—E LR ) & AR
FERSHR - AEEYHZFE
MR BENEZFERMNIMH
RRE - HEFAES  BE
IRER AN E A4 & ORER ) R TE
EERERI-

38.19 B f5

EAKBRBEEMHMAR L
AREERSEEEERT - RA
EREHRERABTEME
kBB EATR 8
FERR M - RREEBBEBLT
PRI -

MEZEBUEL  RETE
BRI ERALSFE LRI A RE
M eERERZALHE
Al o BMERER — B ERER AR
SE I —EE B AN E R
MR AT B AR R - DR TR
e e
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 Hn e E EM 5T BERE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES E @)

(continued)

38.19 Provisions (continued) 38.19 &5 (@)
Provisions are measured at the present value of BEURBINXREZRENEE
the expenditures expected to be required to settle st ZEEAN ST HAIRE
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects FTE  ZNERME RIS Y
current market assessments of the time value of BERRREEEIRZETEER
money and the risks specific to the obligation. Y AT Ay o B Ry PR A9 7 38 i 4
The increase in the provision due to passage of M B EERAFEMAS -

time is recognized as interest expense.

38.20 Interest income 38.20 FIR A
Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is BARBEFABENERERE
included in the net fair value gains/(losses) on WABBAGTFAZEEENR
these assets. Any other interest income is REWE(BER) FE - 0
included in other income. HA N B HAGT AEMIA o
Interest income is recognized on a T'JQH&)\?%FH?W%?U$5H§H%
time-proportion basis using the effective interest [ Eb BIE 1T 1 7R
method.
38.21 Earnings per share 38.21 BREA
(a) Basic earnings per share (a HBREXEF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by BREXRBNMENATH
dividing: At &E
e the profit attributable to shareholders o  ARNAIREEMF
of the Company, excluding any costs (BRI
of servicing equity other than ordinary HNZ R AR AR )
shares
e by the weighted average number of s KBRUBMEFEANED
ordinary shares outstanding during the BT EBIRAINE
financial year, adjusted for bonus TG E - WIE
elements in ordinary shares issued FABRETERRK
during the year and excluding treasury HAL IR A = AT
shares. B(TBEEER

) o
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HbngeEEM ST BURE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES E (@)

(continued) (Continued)

38.21 Earnings per share (Continued) 38.21 BREM @

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the
figures used in the determination of basic
earnings per share to take into account:

° the after-income tax effect of interest
and other financing costs associated
with dilutive potential ordinary shares,
and

° the weighted average number of
additional ordinary shares that would
have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

38.22 Leases

The Group mainly leases office, warehouse and
dormitory as lessee. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions.

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.
Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

(b) FREEEF

ERESERNFALTE
TR EARZ N TR #

s HEGEEELBK
HE B R E A
B TERCAR B BR P 1S
MEFE Rk

s KEMBEBEEHEYE
B EEREIER
T PTEITRINE
B IER -

38.22 HE

REE T EERABAEER
NE - RENES - HEKK
TERER - U B2 EENR
B 1R R B AR A o

HERNHEEEAHAKERE
HE RERDERAEEENRE
HRE SEHENRIER
BENMPFBRA - MBKRAR
HEMAB BN - E5H
A B EEREE M AE B A R R ¥ —
B EREEEREEAEM
FHFBER (ABEERE)
NEBERTEITE ©
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BOF B AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued) (Continued)
38.22 Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives
receivable

° variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate

° amounts expected to be payable by the
lessee under residual value guarantees

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising that option.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liability

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease
incentives received

o any initial direct costs, and

° restoration costs.

38 HnlgeEEM T BUERE
2@

38.22 HE(#)

HEEANEENBERAE
HELETVIATE - HERE
BT IHEENRAFRE

s RBEEMNNRE(BFELE
FENFREE) - R
Wi & 22

¢« EREBSLEHTS
RN 5

o FIsREMEFERETHA
HHATEHI A 5K

e BEEEENTEE

AR =AM AR A IR
ERITRZERERE &

EREEERRKRAGE &
FRARBIEIATIER

HEABVIATESH

e HKHEHRMAKZA
AW EERNFKE - 1
B U2 e TH & 22 R

o EMIMEERA K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #%£2023F12 31 H IEF &

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HbngeEEM ST BURE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES E (@)

(continued) (Continued)

TEEHAARDA

38.22 Leases (Continued) 38.22 HE(#)

The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can
be determined, or the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

° uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third-party financing was
received

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk
for leases held by the Group, which does
not have recent third-party financing, and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease,
e.g., term, country, currency and security.

Payments associated with short-term leases and
all leases of low-value assets are recognized on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less without a purchase option.
Low-value assets comprise small items of IT
equipment.

ERREEREEAEAFH
SHEEHR AREERE) LE
ORI EIE -

HENFERHEHETRSHF
T (INRAN R A ARETE ) A
R B A I8 S B BN HRETTRE
IH o

RETEREBRAE K&
EE

o ERERFABARNRE
BMES AR
BE{EH B AR G
W85 = 5 A DR
BIGEHED

e FREFZE BEAMRAR
SEFFBEEHENEE
R (ZRBEE =R
B)ARERERAE K

e HHHEHTHTEHA
Pl EIRR ~ B -
EIKE o

B HBEENRMEREESE
ERERBENNRIEESER
ERERAMY - MHIHAER
MEHA121E A AR B I &
BEREENEE - KEBESE
EBE/NEITERE -

279



280

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # %2023 12 A31HIEF &

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 Hn e E EM 5T BERE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES E @)
(continued)
38.23 Government grants 38.23 B # B

Grants from the government are recognized at
their fair value where there is a reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognized as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value
is credited to other non-current liabilities account
and is released to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the expected useful life of the relevant
assets.

The recognition period of government grants is
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.

38.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s
shareholders is recognized as a liability in the
Group’s and the Company’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved
by the Company’s directors or shareholders,
where applicable.

fied B 5 & T2 R 38 UG #88 B AT LA
WA ETEMA M E
- BB IR A~ EE
FFS ° B —IRFX AR A

- B2 B B ERE(E Y
Wlﬁiﬁiﬂf‘ﬁlﬁﬁ% iﬁzﬁﬁm
AU e

WA EEERR  HAARE
REARMIERBAGER A&
HEEEMNTRHAERFHA
NEAERCABR -

B B A e 2 B S B R o
W R TE  EE
BT IR o

38.24 RE 2k

[ 7R R B B R AE H M BB
& EREERRREZHK
R (H#E M) fENHRE - AR
R B R AN X B B 75 R o T
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DEFINITIONS

B

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires,
the following expressions shall have the following meanings.

“2024 Annual General
Meeting”
[2024FRFFF K e |

“Alitti”

[ Alitti ]

“Aloe Tower”

[ Aloe Tower |

“Also Jun”

[ Also Jun |

“Anhui Yueyu”

ELGE

“Annual General Meeting(s)”

[RBFAE

2023FE¥HE FAREBERAFRAA

RAEHA - RXESBHEIN - T
FEHUTRE

the annual general meeting for the year ended 31 December 2023
of the Company to be convened on 13 May 2024
ARA K HR2024F5 13 H FTE £2023F12 A31H L FE AKX
RBFRE

Alitti Limited, a BVI business company incorporated under the laws
of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Dong
Zhenguo (Z X ), our executive Director

Alitti Limited * —f702018F8 A31 B IRIEZ L B4 R AL 5 A2
RN ABER SRR ARARMANRTESFERE LA S
BHE

Aloe Tower Limited, a BVI business company incorporated under
the laws of the BVI on 10 March 2021 and one of our Pre-IPO
Investors

Aloe Tower Limited * —fE/42021F3 A 10 B RIERBHB R S5
FEEMK N AEBER SRR RARMNE R AREER
wKEEZ—

Also Jun Limited, a BVI business company incorporated under the
laws of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Wang
Weiping (£ &), our executive Director

Also Jun Limited + —fE/A2018F8 A31 HIRIE LBl m A 512
AMK IR EBER RS R AR MBRMNRITESTA T
2 EBHE

Anhui Yueyu Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (Z & 1% s { &
HEIBAER A A]), alimited liability company established in the PRC
on 8 April 2019 and a subsidiary of our Company
TRHEANBHERBTEBRAAF - —EMN2019F4 A8H - H B
NHEBERARRAARRNTIHME A A

the annual general meeting(s) of the Company

RRABOBRRBF KRS

281
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“Anqging Zibuyu”

[REF T

“Articles” or “Articles of

Association”

[ABRI ) Sk M E AR AR

“associate(s)”

RN

“Audit Committee”

[EZZE=

“Board” or “Board of
Directors”

[EFE]

“Business Day” or
“business day”

[=%A ]

“BVI”

[REEARES]

“China” or “PRC”

[ E]

“close associate(s)”

[ETBMEA

Anging Zibuyu Network Technology Co., Ltd. (Z B T T B A48 BH%
AR A A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 24
April 2018 and a subsidiary of our Company
TEFTEBPBERABRALE - —ER20185F4 24 BEH BIK L
WER AR RAARARIHME AR

the articles of association of our Company (as amended from time
to time)
RAFNAEBERZAA (EEFEET)

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BB LKA T ZFERE

the audit committee of the Board

EEeBE TWEZEZED
our board of Directors
BMMESS

a day on which banks in Hong Kong are generally open for normal
banking business to the public and which is not a Saturday,
Sunday, or public holiday in Hong Kong
BEARRITRAPIRATRHEBEEFRITEBNEF(NEEE8X
EHBEREBERRBE)

the British Virgin Islands
RBERRES

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this Annual
Report and for geographical reference only, do not apply to Hong
Kong, Macau and Taiwan

hEARAME  pLAFHM = LMERWEHRLATN S - TRES
% RFIR A

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

B LR R T 3% A r 8 &



“Companies Ordinance”

“Company” or “our
Company”

VNI ANCTE

“connected person(s)”

[EEAL]

“connected transaction(s)”

[BER S ]

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ R AR

“Corporate Governance
Code”
[ ERFA

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Dongguan Zibuyu”

[RZT T

2023FE¥HE FAREBERAFRAA 283

DEFINITIONS
B

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to
time

BEEDE622E( AR TRHEE] AN EMARE
20

Zibuyu Group Limited (F R E&HE [RA ), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
on 6 August 2018
FREEABRLNA - —HER2018F8 A6HNHAS B S ML
HWEER R HR A A

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BB EWRBIE T 2R ERE

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

BB LR R T 3% w r &

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and,
unless the context otherwise requires, refers to Mr. Hua, Ms. Yu,
Hone Ru, Wiloru Holdings, Gfxtmyun, Hyufeng and TMY ONE

EALTRABTZANRE BRIEXESAME TREESL
4 ~ sk Z £ * Hone Ru * Wiloru Holdings * Gfxtmyun * Hyufeng &

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules
AR AIMESRCIEM B EE ST A

director(s) of our Company

ARREFKEPEA—RES

Dongguan Zibuyu Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (R5e T T35
it fE§2 B 12 B R A 7)), a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 27 April 2021 and a subsidiary of our Company
REFIEBHEREEERAT - —HR2021F4A27BEHEK
VHERAR RARAGIHME AR



284

ZIBUYU GROUP LIMITED  Annual Report 2023

DEFINITIONS
B

“GBP”
[526% |

“Gfxtmyun”

[ Gfxtmyun |

“Global Offering”
[EBREE]

LT3

“Group”, “our Group”,

“We”, or uusn

[ | sk [ # A

“Guangzhou Xingzezhi

[EMNITRIZ ]

“Guangzhou Zibuyu”

[EMF 55

Great Britain pound, the lawful currency of the United Kingdom
RE AT RS

Gfxtmyun Limited, a BVI business company incorporated under the
laws of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Hua,
one of our Controlling Shareholders

Gfxtmyun Limited * —E/R2018F8 A1 AR EEBHEB RS-
FEEMKUNABER SRR RARMANERRR 2 —5
TETERER

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering
FEEAHABENREREE

our Company and our subsidiaries from time to time or, where the
context so requires, in respect of the period before our Company
became the holding company of our present subsidiaries, the
business operated by such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as
the case may be)

RAF RPN B AR - 3 (FXEME) AR TR A
WREEMEARNERARAZHE  BZEMEARISEHA S AR
(BFBERME) KL ER

Guangzhou Xingzezhi Network Technology Co., Ltd. (B/N7TEI =48
SR B R /A R)), a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 28 July 2021 and a subsidiary of our Company
BMITRIZ @A BR AT - —HR20215F7 A28 A B 2
WERARRARRRNME QT

Guangzhou Zibuyu Supply Chain Service Co., Ltd. (/M F B4 &
# AR 7% B PR A 7)), a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 16 October 2017 and a subsidiary of our Company

BMF I BHEERBAERIF - —MKR2017F10 816 B EH
A BR AR R ARARIRIME A A



“Hangzhou Chengyusi”

[H N B B

“Hangzhou Junbugi”

[H M E 25

“Hangzhou Shangzhi”

[0 £

“Hangzhou Shuzhi”

[0 B |

“Hangzhou Xingzezhi

[T RIZE

“Hangzhou Xingzezhi
E-Commerce”

[T R = E 75

2023FE¥HE FAREBERAFRAA

DEFINITIONS
B

Hangzhou Chengyusi Network Technology Co., Ltd. (/M A7 B 48
4% B B BR A 7)), formerly known as Hangzhou Yueyu Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (f1)N 1} & 48 EHE B R 2 7)), a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 23 May 2018 and a subsidiary
of our Company

MMNBCR BB R B R AR (RIBMM IR EEERRBRAF]) -

—MR2018F5 23R EFBIK UM AR AR KR AR FNMEA
Al

Hangzhou Junbugi Network Technology Co., Ltd. (171l & T 22 494%
£l 5 B BR A Al), formerly known as Hangzhou Damaimiao
Consulting Co., Ltd. (71 1] B ¥ 0 3% 58 A R 2 7)) and Hangzhou
Damaimiao Network Technology Co., Ltd. (L)1 B B B4k Bl 5 A
R 22 A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 25
August 2017 and a subsidiary of our Company

MINE P Es @A RHE AR A R (BB B2 4 AR A PR A 5 A
MEEBEIE BRI AR AR) - —HER2017F8 5258 £ B L
WERAR R AARATRKNE AR

Hangzhou Shangzhi Network Technology Co., Ltd. ({7 /1 I Z1494%
B AR A 7)), a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 20 November 2018 and a subsidiary of our Company

TN ERBERR AR AR - —H20185F11 H20 B £ Bl 2
WERAR RAARARRME AR

Hangzhou Shuzhi Technology Co., Ltd.* (it & &R AR A7), a
limited liability company established in the PRC
MMBEBEREBERAR  —KEFEKIIHNEREEAF

Hangzhou Xingzezhi Network Technology Co., Ltd. ({17 BI = 48
4R A PR A A), a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 20 November 2018 and a subsidiary of our Company
MMNITRIZW@ERRER DR - —HR2018511 H20 R EH BIAK
VHBRRRRARRRINME R T

Hangzhou Xingzezhi E-Commerce Co., Ltd. (In/N1TEI 2 E FE5H
& 2 7)), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 16
March 2022 and a subsidiary of our Company
MMNITRIZEFREABAR AR - —Ep02022F3 416 B £+ BB Z
WERAR RAERATRIKNE AR
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“Hangzhou Zibuyu”

[FINF 155

“Hefei Zibuyu”

(B IET R

“HK$” or “HKD” or
“Hong Kong Dollars”
[T

“Hone Ru”

[Hone Ru

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
[ &%

“Hong Kong Share Registrar”
[HEROBF &Lk ]

“Huzhou Zibuyu”

[ F A~ 55

Hangzhou Zibuyu Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. () -F 155
e §2 E 12 A PR A 7)), a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 29 August 2017 and a subsidiary of our Company

MM FAEHREREEEFRAR - —ER2017F8 29 B £+ BIAK
MEERR R RARRAHME R T

Hefei Zibuyu Network Technology Co., Ltd. (& B F B4R R A
R 2 7l), formerly known as Hefei Zibuyu Supply Chain
Management Co., Ltd. (& B F 5 HEHE 2 AR A 7)), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on 23 August 2017 and a
subsidiary of our Company which was deregistered on 21 August
2019

BIEFIEEGERXARIA (MR F TEHEEEEARA
Al) - —ER201748 A23 B EF BB R A R R AR A FH)
i@ AA - M2019F8 H21 B HERC

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong
ERETEE AT LB

Hone Ru Enterprise Limited, a BVI business company incorporated
under the laws of the BVI on 7 January 2020, the holding vehicle
set up by Cantrust (Far East) Limited for the administration of Hone
Ru Trust, one of our Controlling Shareholders

Hone Ru Enterprise Limited * —fE722020F 1 A7 HiRIE A B HER R
MHEAETMEIMEBER RS AR - Cantrust (Far East)
Limited 72 & ¥2Hone Ru Trusti % 32 B91Z g A 7] B &3 P A E iR AR
RZ—

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
B E B RIITIR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
BEFRBLHELBRAA

Huzhou Zibuyu Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (81 F &
JiE §8 & 12 A R A 7)), a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 10 December 2020 and a subsidiary of our Company

WM F A EREEERARLQF - —HEKN2020F12 8108 EH
BB BR AR RARAGRIKE A A



“Hyufeng”

[Hyufeng |

“Independent Third
Party(ies)”

o A —

[ =7 ]

“Informatization Construction
and Development
Contract”

[MERbERBEAR]
“Listing”

[ ]

“Listing Committee”

[EHRE

Jmo
i3S

= |

“Listing Date”

[EmEE]

“Listing Rules

[ 8]

¥

FREEHAARDA

DEFINITIONS
B

2023F E &

Hyufeng Limited, a BVI business company incorporated under the
laws of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and wholly owned by Ms. Yu,
one of our Controlling Shareholders

Hyufeng Limited © —RE1/420188 A31 B IR IE KB REL B A2
AMKZHNEBER RS EA T LAEMNERRR 2 —R&
T2EHER

an individual or a company which, to the best of our Director’s
knowledge, information, and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, is not a connected person of our Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules

BEFEE—VEBEREMRM  FENERE  WIFARRIBE
AL (BEA WA THRE) OERA LSRR

the informatization construction and development contract dated 8
January 2024 entered into between Zhejiang Zibuyu and Hangzhou
Shuzhi

WL F B EA N AR 202451 A8HEI L MfE BILERAES

B

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board
BAP R EMR £

the listing sub-committee of the board of directors of the Stock
Exchange
BMIXAEEEE N LLMm)EEZES

11 November 2022, the date on which the Shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange and from which dealings in the Shares are
permitted to commence on the Stock Exchange

PR TRBE A BT BT MDA R B X PR e EEH) B - /20224
11 H11H8

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time
(BEEBMaRXSHMBERARZEZF EMARBDEARER - MkA
Hh 5 X E %)
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“Main Board”

2

“Model Code”
[1Z4E<F A |

“Ningbo Ruyu”

[EIR N ER

“Nomination Committee”

[fRRZEeg

“OEM”

[OEM]

“Offer Share(s)”
[ 3 & 17

“Prospectus”

[HERER]

“Remuneration Committee”

[FNEZE e

“Reorganization”

[E4]

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the
Stock Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel
with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

BRFEENZEFR M (T EEHETS) - BN MGEM
HEZW1TEE

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

LR R SXCIFAE LM HITAZEFETEFXZHNIELETA]

Ningbo Ruyu Investment Co., Ltd. (22 ) N2 1& & B R A7), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 20 April 2017
which is held by Mr. Hua and Ms. Yu as to 80% and 20%,
respectively
ERBRIREBR AR - —HR2017F4 208 EH EK 8B R
AR AERERRL T RIFFE80% 20%

the nomination committee of the Board

ExeR%LEBe

original equipment manufacturer, a company that manufactures a
product in accordance with its customer’s designs which ultimately
will be branded by its customer for sale

RIARBELER  REEPRFAREERNAR  MERKKHAHR
FEFRRRHE

the Hong Kong Public Offer Shares and the International Offer
Shares

FRNRBERD MEREERD

the prospectus of the Company dated 31 October 2022
AAR A B A2022F10 A31 A BRER

the remuneration committee of the Board
ExeyMEEY

the reorganization arrangements undergone by our Group in
preparation for the Listing as described in the section headed
“History, Reorganization and Corporate Structure”

WMIESE - BEERARIRE] -GN FEELAEH ETMETH
BAETH



“Reporting Period”
Eig-ill

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
AR

“Sanctioned Person”

[ZHIE AL

“SFC”

[FEw |

“SFO” or “Securities and
Futures Ordinance”

B R 1

“Share Award Scheme
(Existing Shares)”

[Rx {0 22 RhaT 8 CRB D)

“Share Award Scheme
(New Shares)”

(Rt 22 By =t &) (R () ]

“Share(s)”

[Btn |

“Shareholder(s)”
[ P& 3R

TEEHAARDA

DEFINITIONS
B

2023F E &

the year ended 31 December 2023
BZE2023F12A31HIEFE

the lawful currency of the PRC

FEIEEEM AR

certain person(s) and identity(ies) listed on OFAC’s Specially
Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List or other restricted
parties lists maintained by the U.S., EU, UN or Australia
FIASNE B EEGIHAEHN TR EERMEHEABBTENED
ATRER - skhEE - B - BA BSORMNE R E M RHIA
T5E

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

EEESFLMEEHEREZE S

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented, or otherwise modified
from time to time

EBEDFESN EE S MEGRD (K ARE
)

A1 FFEEAE M R

the share award scheme adopted by the Company on
15 September 2023, funded by existing Shares only
RATFR20235F9 A 15 B IR R I D 2R At &l - (AR B IR XA

the share award scheme of the Company approved by the
shareholders and adopted on 1 December 2023, which is funded
by the issuance of new Shares only

AR RS R B I A 2023412 A1 B IR B AR (5 52BN =T &1 - {214
BITHIR M B 5 A

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with nominal
value of US$0.01 each before share subdivision and with nominal
value of US$0.00005 each after share subdivision
RARRAFHE B RO FAR - SRS EERCOIE
7T AR R A1 - B AR {7 E 18 40.00005 3 7T

holder(s) of the Shares
BIDFEAE A
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Bx

“Shenzhen Zibuyu”

[RYIT A58

“Stock Exchange”

[ B 32 P

“subsidiary(ies)”

il PNGIN

“substantial shareholder”

[EZRR]

“TMY ONE”

o
e
]
it

“TMY THREE”

o
2
i
1]

“TMY TWO”

_|
]
3
i
ml

| E—

“U.K.” or “United Kingdom”

N

Shenzhen Zibuyu Electronic Commerce Co., Ltd. (£ F B E T
158 R A 7)), a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 22 December 2021 and a subsidiary of our Company
RINFABEFEBERLE - —HR2021F12 A22 8 £ B
YHABERRAR  BRARINHE R A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERMERXSBRRATR

has the meaning ascribed thereto under section 15 of the
Companies Ordinance
BB RGO FE 15K T 22 A8 R &

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

B LR R T 3% A r &

TONGMINGYUN ONE LIMITED, a BVI business company
incorporated under the laws of the BVI on 10 September 2018 and
wholly owned by Mr. Hua, one of our Controlling Shareholders
TONGMINGYUN ONE LIMITED @ —fE A 2018F9 A10H iR Ik & &
AR EAETEMN LN RBERARBESHRRAA - BARMAMNE
BRIRRz —ERETERR

TONGMINGYUN THREE LIMITED, a BVI business company
incorporated under the laws of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and
owned by certain employees and consultant of our Group
TONGMINGYUN THREE LIMITED + —[# /201848 A31 H iR & &
BHEBARESAETMA N ABERRHFESHELR  HAEE
aTEER—ZERER

TONGMINGYUN TWO LIMITED, a BVI business company
incorporated under the laws of the BVI on 10 September 2018 and
owned by certain senior management and consultant of our Group
TONGMINGYUN TWO LIMITED © —fE/A 20189 H10H IR B & &
AR EAETIMN LN RBERARBEESHRRA  AAREEE
TaRERBAER—GBERER

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland
AAPFEE KA Z RS £ B



“U.S.” or “United States”

S

“US$”, “USD” or “U.S.
dollars”

EZ

“Virtual Particle”

[ Virtual Particle ]

“Wuzaixing BVI”

[(BETRBEBRES

“Xiamen Zibuyu”

[EFF 5]

“Xingzezhi Cayman”

ERESE=4

2023FE¥HE FAREBERAFRAA

DEFINITIONS
B

the United States of America, its territories, possessions, and all
areas subject to its jurisdiction

ENBRERE HEL BHWEIHAZEENMAE
United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EEREEEBET

Virtual Particle Limited, a BVI business company incorporated
under the laws of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and wholly owned by
Ms. Hua Hui (22 £), the sister of Mr. Hua

Virtual Particle Limited © — 70201848 A 31 B iR & & & 4t @ = ¥
ESEARAMKYNABERREESRRAFILAELEANBKESR
L+2EHAB

Wuzaixing (BVI) Limited (formerly known as Xingzezhi (BVI) Limited
and Chellysun (BVI) Limited), a BVI business company incorporated
under the laws of the BVI on 16 October 2018 and a subsidiary of
our Company

Wuzaixing (BVI) Limited (A7 #&Xingzezhi (BVI) Limited & Chellysun
(BVI) Limited) * —fE /2018 F10 16 IR E EBHB R A 8 A2
AMARZHRBEBAREESEERRALRAERRRNHER R

Xiamen Zibuyu Electronic Commerce Co., Ltd. (EFI F T :EE 7@
%A PR A 7)), a limited liability company established in the PRC on
17 May 2022 and a subsidiary of our Company
EfFAEEFABARAR - —Bp20229F5 417 BEF BRI
WERAR - BARFIHMEAA

Xingzezhi (Cayman) Limited (formerly known as Chellysun Limited),
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
on 26 September 2018 and the former shareholder of Wuzaixing
BVI

Xingzezhi (Cayman) Limited (54 Chellysun Limited) + —f&72018
FOH26HEMSHSHEMKINERATMNATEITRBHERR
HEMRIRE
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Bx

“Xingzezhi HK”

“Xringirl”

[ Xringirl J

“Zhejiang Zibuyu”

L+ T8

“Zibuyu BVI”

[FRARBEARES

“Zibuyu HK”

[FREES

“%”
[% ]

Xingzezhi HK Limited (77 8] &£ & /8 B [R 2 7]) (formerly known as
Chellysun HK Limited), a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability on 1 November 2018 and a subsidiary of our
Company

TRIZE B AR A (ATfEChellysun HK Limited) - —E 720184
A1 BETBTMAR LA AR QR R RARRHME R R

Xringirl Limited, a BVI business company incorporated under the
laws of the BVI on 31 August 2018 and owned by Mr. Wang and
Ms. Rao Xingxing (# £ £), the spouse of Mr. Wang, as to 74.36%
and 25.64%, respectively

Xringirl Limited © —f&/42018F8 A31 AR E A B R R At S /A E T
MK RBERARFER R AR AT AEREREL T (T
HERELBR) 9 BB 74.36% K 25.64% ) 1 71

Zhejiang Zibuyu Electronic Commerce Co., Ltd. (ML F T :EE T/
7% B R A 7)), formerly known as Hangzhou Zibuyu Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (fi-F 24848 B B R A 7)) and Hangzhou
Zibuyu Trading Co., Ltd. (M F B E 5 B R A 7)), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on 20 April 2011 and a
subsidiary of our Company

I FAEBEFREABERLDR (RIBMNFABEZREER AR
KMNFAEESBRAR) - —HR201154 5208 £ B
WER AR RAARANGIHME AR

ZIBUYU BVI LIMITED, a BVI business company incorporated under
the laws of the BVI on 21 August 2018 and a subsidiary of our
Company

ZIBUYU BVI LIMITED + —fE/22018F8 A21 AR B R BHER RELS
FRAMKUNABERARESHEARRRRATNMNERF

ZIBUYU INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (F BB R AR, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 19
September 2016 and a subsidiary of our Company
FREBEEEERAE - —HR2016F9A19R EF BT MK NE
R AR RN B8 E A A

per cent

Bk



